## **GREEN PAPER**

## **Career Transition Points:**

# Exploring the challenges and opportunities of career transitions and mental health and wellbeing

Developed by Elizabeth Clancy, Chloe Ferguson, Tess Collins, Craig Hyde-Smith, Eleanor De Ath Miller, Bri Hayllar, Vanessa Miles, Rachael Palmer, Georgina Giltrap, and Sarah Cotton, of Transitioning Well for and supported by the National Workplace Initiative (National Mental Health Commission (NMHC)).



## Contents

Executive summary	5
Acknowledgements	7
Purpose and objectives of this document	8
What are transitions in the workplace?	8
General organisational strategies to support transition	10
1: Entering the workforce and young workers transitions	12
About this transition	12
Risks and mental health and wellbeing challenges	
The potential impacts at team and organisation levels	13
Strategies and opportunities to support successful transition	14
Organisation level strategies	14
Individual level strategies	
Societal or structural strategies	
Gaps in the literature	15
2: Transitions to leadership and management	16
About this transition	16
Risks and mental health and wellbeing challenges	16
The potential impacts at team and organisation levels	17
Strategies and opportunities to support successful transition	17
Organisation level strategies	17
Individual level strategies	18
Gaps in the literature	19
3: Transitions associated with parent and caring responsibilities	20
About these transitions	20
Risks and mental health and wellbeing challenges	20
Parenting care	20
Other forms of family care	22
The potential impacts at team and organisation levels	23
Strategies and opportunities to support successful transition	23
Organisation level strategies	23
Individual level strategies	25
Gaps in the literature	25
4: Redundancy and career change transitions (both involuntary and self-directed)	26
About these transitions	26
Involuntary job losses (redundancy and job displacement)	26

Self-directed career changes	26
Risks and mental health and wellbeing challenges	27
Strategies and opportunities to support successful	transition28
Organisation level strategies	28
Individual level strategies	30
Gaps in the literature	30
5: Health-related changes	32
About these transitions	32
Cancer	
About these transitions	32
Strategies and opportunities to support success	ful transition33
Menopause	35
About this transition	35
Strategies and opportunities to support success	ful transition36
Gaps in the literature	38
Gender transitions and affirmation	38
About these transitions	38
Strategies and opportunities to support success	ful transition39
Gaps in the literature	41
6: Relocation transitions	42
About this transition	42
Risks and mental health and wellbeing challenges	42
The potential impacts at individual, team and or	ganisation levels44
Strategies and opportunities to support successful	transition45
Organisation level strategies	45
Individual level strategies	47
Gaps in the literature	47
7: Crises and career shocks	48
About these transitions	48
Risks and mental health and wellbeing challenges	49
The potential impacts at team and organisation	levels49
Strategies and opportunities to support successful	transition
Organisation level strategies	49
Individual level strategies	50
Gaps in the literature	50
8: Late career and transition to retirement	52

About this transition	52
Risks and mental health and wellbeing challenges	53
The potential impacts at team and organisation levels	54
Strategies to support successful transition	54
Organisation level strategies	54
Individual level strategies	56
Gaps in the literature	56
Conclusions and recommendations	57
References	50

#### **Executive summary**

This green paper sets out the evidence for the mental health and wellbeing impacts of a range of common career transition points across the lifespan, including:

- 1. entering the workforce and young workers transitions
- 2. transitions to leadership and management
- 3. transitions associated with family and caring responsibilities
- 4. redundancy and career change transitions (both involuntary and self-directed)
- 5. health-related changes
- 6. relocation transitions
- 7. career shocks and unanticipated events (e.g., bereavement or divorce)
- 8. late career and transitions to retirement.

Good work is important for physical and mental health and wellbeing. However, when individuals experience a change or transition, whether within work roles or in their lives outside paid work, this transition can disrupt their sense of normality, and potentially lead to deterioration in their mental health and wellbeing. Such disruption to their role, relationships, routines and assumptions about the world requires a period of adaptation.

Work and life transitions are a natural and normal part of the career journey, and must be actively considered in organisational planning. While organisations and individuals may not have control over the timing or nature of some transitions, most are still likely to occur in most workplaces. Proactive planning enables organisations to have resources in place for when such transitions arise. This can include providing greater access to information, alongside practical, emotional and social support. Managers and supervisors, as well as workers and colleagues, have critical roles in locally implementing policies and connecting individuals with support.

While this paper draws on the available evidence for recommended strategies, there are significant gaps in the literature, particularly with regard to organisational strategies. Investment in applied research and evaluation that reviews the effectiveness of system-level interventions is a significant area for future work. Additionally, intersectionality is currently poorly reflected in the existing organisational literature regarding transitions. In particular, considering the complexities experienced by individuals with multiple minority identities is important to promote more diverse and equitable organisations, which reflect the Australian population.

The evidence also demonstrates that despite the identified challenges, transitions are a unique opportunity for organisations and managers to proactively support workers and create a mentally healthy workplace, in addition to collegial and peer support, and personal self-care strategies. This paper focuses on organisational-level strategies over individual-level interventions where possible.

Organisational strategies to support workers experiencing all forms of transition include the following:

- Understand the demographics of your organisation. Understanding your organisation's unique demographics enables identification of the relevant career transitions for your workforce, for example, transitions linked to age, life stage and family situation.
- Take a person-centred approach. Placing the individual at the centre of decisions impacting them ensures they can communicate their needs, establish desired boundaries and make

- changes at their own pace. Ask, do not assume. Everyone's experience and personal circumstances are unique.
- Normalise experiences of change and transition. We all experience various seasons in our
  working lives and will undergo at least some of these transitions. Acknowledgement helps
  workers feel that their experiences are normal, and that they may have a range of responses. It
  also encourages access to support.
- **Enable flexible work arrangements**. By supporting and maximising opportunities for flexible work arrangements, individuals are empowered to make decisions that are best for them in work and life.
- Tailor approaches for individuals and teams by local managers or supervisors. This includes maximising personal autonomy in how to meet work requirements, reviewing the demands of work and ensuring individuals are informed about, and empowered to access, relevant supports.
- **Be inclusive.** Be intentional in organisational practices that include, rather than exclude, team members experiencing changes. For example, avoid meeting times that may be challenging for those with caring roles or health conditions and adopt language that destigmatises changes.
- **Create a learning culture.** Promote and support a learning culture, celebrating learning as an ongoing process, rather than idealising perfection.
- **Provide supportive management**. This includes managing with sensitivity to the different needs of staff, providing clarity in work direction and creating an environment where reasonable work demands are balanced with autonomy and support.
- **Provide a range of supports.** This includes practical, emotional and social support, and access to relevant procedures and processes:
  - Practical information can be tailored to individual transitions. This could be presented as a change pack, tip sheets and/or links, and resources to support those navigating change.
     It is important to ensure resources cater for all staff, including those in operational and office-based roles.
  - Emotional support includes access to wellbeing programs, coaching and Employee Assistance Programs (EAPs) from professional providers. It can also include specialist transition support and clear referral pathways for those who are struggling personally. Access to career coaching, training and resources can also help individuals self-manage their own career journeys. However, in some cases, workers are reluctant to access EAPs, potentially due to concerns about limits to confidentiality, or stigma attached to helpseeking, hence a range of other strategies is important.
  - Social support offers connection and advice in times of need and helps reframe identity. Peer-support groups can be established in the workplace, (e.g., parent groups, new leadership circles). Mentorship and buddy systems can also be valuable ways to facilitate social support.
  - Access to relevant procedures and processes including workplace entitlements for specific transitions should be easy and open. Individuals contemplating change may feel uncomfortable having to announce this to their manager to seek information. They should be able to access information about entitlement and support independently.

## Acknowledgements

Thanks to the following experts, who contributed to relevant sections of this document.

- Prof. Nancy Schlossberg and Stephanie Kay, TransitionWorks
- Thea O'Connor, Menopause at Work
- Sabina Read, Psychologist
- Dr Jim Bright, Bright and Associates
- Aimee Jellett and Bibi Kahveci, Seek
- Wendy Jenkins, Ready Resilience
- Shannon Threlfall-Clarke, VTHC
- Grainne O'Loughlin, Karitane
- Andrew Keay, Aged Care Planners
- Mark Leopold, Superfriend
- Lucas Finch, Xero
- Wesley Chapman, PEER
- Dr David Anthony, Mantle.

## Purpose and objectives of this document

Good work is good for us, and the health benefits of good work are well documented. A Consensus Statement on the Health Benefits of Good Work, developed by the Australasian Faculty of Occupational and Environmental Medicine (AFOEM) of the Royal Australasian College of Physicians (RACP), and endorsed by 283 Australian medical, business, union and statutory bodies, states:<sup>1</sup>

Good work is engaging, fair, respectful and balances job demand, autonomy and job security. Good work accepts the importance of culture and traditional beliefs. It is characterised by safe and healthy work practices and it strikes a balance between the interests of individuals, employers and society. It requires effective change management, clear and realistic performance indicators, matches the work to the individual and uses transparent productivity metrics.

Additionally, long-term work absence, work disability and unemployment generally have a negative impact on health and wellbeing. As individuals move through their working lives, they can encounter a range of transitions, both personally and professionally. Whether desired or otherwise, such transitions can cause significant disruption to work and present risks to physical and mental health and wellbeing. As noted by the International Labour Organization<sup>2</sup>, investment in transitions is a critical aspect to address the future of work.

Workplaces play an important role in protecting and promoting work—life wellbeing, by acknowledging the issues around the whole person and supporting people to manage work and life demands through both recognised and sometimes hidden transition journeys. Proactively supporting individuals through these career transitions can not only protect and promote people's mental health and wellbeing, but it can also increase productivity and engagement levels, enrich organisational culture, attract and retain talent and mitigate workplace risk.

This green paper summarises the available evidence on the mental health and wellbeing impacts of common career transition points across the lifespan and potential organisational strategies that can reduce these risks. Where possible, we focused on recent Australian, peer-reviewed evidence about the impacts of these transitions and identified organisational and management level strategies that employers and organisations can implement to support their workers. We also noted relevant gaps in the literature and opportunities for future research.

## What are transitions in the workplace?

Before considering individual and specific transitions, it is important to consider what we mean by transitions in the workplace. *Transitions* are events that result in changes or disruptions in an individual's role, responsibilities, routines and assumptions.<sup>3</sup> While *change* relates to external pressures, the event or situation that takes place, transition refers to the internal psychological process that individuals undergo to come to terms with the new situation.<sup>4</sup> According to Bridges<sup>5</sup>, a transition involves 3 major states: letting go of the old situation and associated knowledge (i.e., current state), moving through an adaptation that involves disorientation and adjustment (i.e., transition state) and launching a new beginning (i.e., future state). Merriam<sup>6</sup> refers to 4 main types of life transitions, as recognised in this paper:

Anticipated events are planned, normative and expected within cultures and progress in a
relatively predictable fashion. Such transitions include joining the workforce, partnering and
parenting, and retirement.

- **Unanticipated events** are not normalised within peer groups or associated with a typical age. They can be either positive (e.g., acquiring an unexpected windfall) or negative (e.g., health challenges or bereavement).
- **Non-events related to transitions** are events that were expected but do not occur, and which require changes to one's sense of the likely future (e.g., infertility, lack of promotion).
- **Sleeper transitions** develop gradually, perhaps with imperceptible change, but which culminate in more significant changes (e.g., gradual career shifts or shifts in personal priorities and career interests).

In all cases, changes occur within both an individual and broader context. This includes:

- an individual's appraisal of the transition and their coping strategies
- access to resources and supports to adapt to and reshape identity arising from transition
- the impact of other factors within the individual's immediate and broader circle.

An individual's ability to cope with a transition can depend on many factors, such as socioeconomic status, family and community networks as well as workplace support. To help provide a useful framework to better understand these factors, Schlossberg's Transition theory identifies 4 major sets of factors that can influence a person's ability to cope with a transition: Situation, Self, Support and Strategies, known as the 4 Ss:

- **Situation** refers to the characteristics of the event or non-event.
- **Self** involves personal and demographic characteristics.
- **Support** involves the personal network around the individual.
- Strategies involve the individual's existing coping responses.

As workplaces seek to support the many varied career transitions, it is important to consider these factors as well as the organisational strategies discussed above.<sup>3, 7</sup>

Successful adaptation to change involves learning new behaviours and approaches, changing perceptions and expectations, and becoming accustomed to the new state. Typically, this success is influenced by the desirability of the transition, an individual's level of control over the transition, the timeframe or duration of the transition, an individual's level of preparation, and access to relevant resources and support. Some of these factors are individual, and many transitions themselves are outside the control of employers. Nevertheless, workers bring their whole self to the workplace, including experiences of transition. This presents opportunities for organisations to support individuals as they navigate life transitions, promoting and supporting their mental health and wellbeing.

This paper considers 8 common career transitions that can occur across the career lifespan:

- 1. entering the workforce and young workers transitions
- 2. transitions to leadership and management
- 3. transitions associated with family and caring responsibilities
- 4. redundancy and career change transitions (both involuntary and self-directed)
- 5. health-related changes
- 6. relocation transitions
- 7. career shocks and unanticipated events (e.g., bereavement or divorce)
- 8. late career and transitions to retirement.

For each transition, this paper summarises what is known about the transition, including who it impacts, the prevalence in Australia (where data is available), and evidence about the potential

impact on individual mental health and wellbeing, as well as information about the impacts on teams and organisations (where data is available). We also focus on the potential evidence-based strategies that employers can use to support workers to address these changes.

#### General organisational strategies to support transition

While every transition is different and unique and will be addressed in this document, some organisational strategies are broadly recommended for all transitions. Consistent with the *Blueprint* for Mentally Healthy Workplaces<sup>8</sup>, and its key principles to Protect, Respond and Promote, organisations implementing the following approaches will promote staff mental health and wellbeing and mitigate risks associated with transition:

- Understand the demographics of your organisation. Understanding your organisation's unique demographics enables identification of the relevant career transitions for your workforce, for example, transitions linked to age, life stage and family situation.
- Take a person-centred approach. Placing the individual at the centre of decisions impacting
  them ensures they can communicate their needs, establish desired boundaries and make
  changes at their own pace. Ask, don't assume. Everyone's experience and personal
  circumstances are unique.
- Normalise experiences of change and transition. We all go through various changes in our
  working lives, and will experience at least some of the career transitions outlined above.
  Normalising these experiences as part of the career lifecycle can help remove stigma associated
  with transition, and help individuals accept the range of responses they may experience. This can
  also help to facilitate adaptation and encourage support seeking when it is needed.
- Enable flexible work arrangements. This empowers individuals to make decisions about how
  they work. Organisations can endorse a results-oriented, rather than face-time oriented culture,
  embrace diversity of experiences, design work to maximise boundary control according to
  personal preferences<sup>9, 10</sup> and implement systems that support cross-functionality for shared roles
  and back-ups.
- Tailor approaches for individuals and teams by local managers or supervisors. This includes
  maximising personal autonomy in methods used to meet work requirements, reviewing the
  demands of work and ensuring individuals are informed about, and empowered to access
  relevant supports.
- Be inclusive. Intentionally designing organisational practices that include, rather than exclude, team members helps to mitigate the risks to mental health and wellbeing that are associated with transition. This could include avoiding meeting times that may be challenging for those with caring roles or health conditions, supporting remote working where possible, and adopting language that destigmatises changes.
- **Build a learning culture.** A learning culture that acknowledges errors and mistakes, and celebrates learning as an ongoing process, rather than idealising perfection, can allow individuals to try out new approaches and roles, and support them to adapt to changes.
- **Provide supportive management.** Managers play a significant role in supporting individuals through change. Supportive management includes managing with sensitivity to the different needs of staff, providing clarity in work direction and creating an environment where reasonable work demands are balanced with autonomy and support.
- **Provide a range of supports.** This includes practical, emotional and social support, and access to relevant procedures and processes:

- Practical information can be tailored to individual transitions. This could be presented as a change pack, tip sheets and/or links, and resources to support those navigating change.
   It is important to ensure resources cater for all staff, including those in operational and office-based roles.
- Emotional support includes access to wellbeing programs, coaching and Employee Assistance Programs (EAPs) from professional providers. It can also include specialist transition support and clear referral pathways for those who are struggling personally. Access to career coaching, training and resources can also help individuals self-manage their own career journeys. However, in some cases, workers are reluctant to access EAPs, potentially due to concerns about limits to confidentiality, or stigma attached to helpseeking, hence a range of other strategies is important.
- Social support offers connection and advice in times of need and helps reframe identity. Peer-support groups can be established in the workplace, (e.g., parent groups, new leadership circles). Mentorship and buddy systems can also be valuable ways to facilitate social support.
- Access to relevant procedures and processes including workplace entitlements for specific transitions should be easy and open. Individuals contemplating change may feel uncomfortable having to announce this to their manager to seek information. They should be able to access information about entitlement and support independently.

## 1: Entering the workforce and young workers transitions

#### About this transition

People aged 30 years or younger represent a substantial proportion of Australia's working population.<sup>11</sup> These young workers largely fall into 4 different categories, with unique mental health and wellbeing vulnerabilities:

- Casual 'first job' workers. These workers are typically employed in casual roles with low
  workplace influence, often while studying. They may feel little investment in the workplace,
  seeing it as a source of income and a 'survival job', but not a major focus of their identity.<sup>12</sup> They
  usually have low workplace power and control, putting them at risk of psychological harm,
  especially when employment is insecure.<sup>13, 14</sup>
- Apprentices and trainees. These workers have particular vulnerabilities, given the bonded nature of apprenticeships and power disparities in these arrangements.<sup>15</sup> Many report a sense of disposability and poor working conditions, including long hours, physically demanding work, low wages and poor supervision. Those on working visas (e.g., the 417 Working Holiday Visa program) may be even more vulnerable due to power disparities, age and language barriers.<sup>16</sup>
- Graduates and those commencing full time career roles. As workers move into more permanent and vocationally aligned roles, they can experience both positive emotions of pride and achievement. But they can also experience some distress, feelings of overwhelm and under preparednesse.g., <sup>17, 18</sup> with increased pressure to perform in their chosen field. Some new workers may feel pressure to take on available roles, even if poorly aligned to their interests and skills<sup>19</sup> or commensurate with their own or others' expectations.
- **Side hustles.** This may include gig type work and entrepreneurial activities that are incomegenerating work performed alongside full-time jobs. Side hustles are more common as the gig economy provides opportunities for workers to undertake supplementary work, but they can add to workers' overall demands.<sup>20</sup>

#### Risks and mental health and wellbeing challenges

Research suggests 15% of young workers under 25 report high levels of psychological distress, with this figure doubling during the COVID-19 pandemic.<sup>21</sup> Notably, over 61% of young people under 35 years old are worried about their finances, job security and failure to meet their career goals.<sup>22</sup> Additionally, early adulthood can be a peak age for onset of many mental disorders—75% of people will experience their first mental illness by age 24.<sup>23</sup>

The school-to-work transition has been documented as a critical developmental point for young workers. They are more likely to experience a higher prevalence of job strain and unemployment than older workers.<sup>24</sup>

Workforce entry can negatively impact a young person's mental health and wellbeing as they experience pressures in their early career journey, such as:

• **Job strain.** For many young people, entering the workforce is a new experience, characterised by a series of short- term, unrelated, demanding, unstable, unsafe, stressful 'survival jobs'.<sup>25-27</sup> Young workers<sup>28</sup> are more likely to experience job strain (i.e., low-control jobs with high physical, emotional and time-related demands of work) and underemployment and insecure work (i.e., casual and temporary employment) than older workers.<sup>29-32</sup> This may have been further exacerbated by the economic repercussions of COVID-19. Industries with high concentrations of

young workers, such as hospitality, have been disproportionately affected by job losses, reductions in hours and uncertain business futures.<sup>33</sup> Local and international studies consistently find young people are more likely to change jobs than any other age group<sup>34, 35</sup> and are more educated than ever before,<sup>36</sup> but are the least employed and most underemployed,<sup>37</sup> and transitions to full-time work are taking longer.<sup>36</sup>

- Inadequate supervision and training. Young workers are particularly at risk in the workplace. They lack the skills, knowledge and awareness about workplace health and safety developed from experience in the workforce.<sup>38</sup> This is exacerbated by inadequate supervision and training, which Safe Work NSW<sup>39</sup> identified as a significant risk factor for occupational illness and injury in young workers.
- **Limited networks**. The increase in hybrid work arrangements is restricting development and maturity of professional networks for many young workers, compared with the incidental training opportunities provided in office environments. This needs to be considered more carefully for early career workers in the new world of work.<sup>40</sup>
- Competing life pressures. Many young people are also frequently undergoing other life changes as they move to independence, including relationship formation, graduations, new living arrangements and financial independence from family. <sup>41</sup> These moves to independence may result in distress, and help explain why common mental disorders (such as anxiety and depression) often occur in the first 3 decades of life. <sup>23, 42</sup>
- Workplace harms. Compared with older workers, young workers entering the workforce are at a higher risk of workplace-related harm.<sup>43-46</sup> This may be due to limited experience, awareness<sup>46</sup> and confidence recognising and reporting both physical and psychological hazards,<sup>47</sup> and feeling stressed, tired and overworked.<sup>47</sup>
- Workplace bullying and harassment. Young workers are vulnerable to workplace bullying and more likely to encounter unwanted sexual advances at work. This is especially evident for young female workers<sup>41, 48</sup> and those identifying as LGBTIQ+.<sup>49</sup>
- **Substance use.** Young workers, especially those with low educational attainment, low socioeconomic status and early experimentation with alcohol/drug use, are more likely to use alcohol or drugs at work. 50-52 This is more prevalent in male-dominated, 'blue-collar' industries such as construction, manufacturing, mining and agriculture, 53 or workplaces with high levels of work stress, long hours and easy access to alcohol in the workplace (e.g., hospitality and food service). 50, 54-56

These factors contribute to adverse employment experiences, which can increase the risk of depression and/or anxiety. However, early experiences at work can also be a protective factor for young people to develop resilience and the ability to adapt to challenges at work. As a result, supporting young workers as they enter the workforce can positively impact mental health and wellbeing in the long term.

#### The potential impacts at team and organisation levels

Research is lacking on the workplace impacts at team and organisational levels when young workers experience mental health and wellbeing challenges as they enter the workforce. <sup>43-46</sup> As highlighted above, young workers—especially those with low educational attainment, low socioeconomic status, and early experimentation with alcohol/drug use—are more likely than older workers to use alcohol or drugs at work, with effects at the worker, team and organisational levels. Further, young workers are vulnerable to workplace bullying, more likely to encounter unwanted sexual advances at work, and perceive greater inequity in their treatment at work compared with older workers—factors that also affect team dynamics and workplace culture.

In part, this limited evidence may be because young workers are often less securely attached to employers. They may leave workplaces that negatively affect their mental health and wellbeing, so are no longer seen as experiencing challenges. However, this loss of workforce talent and skills is worthy of attention, particularly given the investment in training and skills and the potential for long-term 'scars' of early unemployment on career prospects.<sup>57</sup> Further research is warranted to determine team and organisational impacts.

#### Strategies and opportunities to support successful transition

Potential strategies to support young workers entering the workforce are included below. They are presented as organisational, individual and structural strategies, for clarity.

#### Organisation level strategies

- Define, promote and provide high quality work for younger workers. High quality work refers to work that balances reasonable job demands, control and security, and balances effort and reward.<sup>58</sup> Promoting high quality work will protect and promote the wellbeing of young workers and may reduce the likelihood of mental health problems.<sup>11</sup> This can be achieved by reducing psychosocial job stressors, such as excessive workloads, lack of control and support, and job insecurity, and promoting the positive aspects of work.<sup>41</sup>
- **Develop a culture of supporting young workers via staff inductions** to welcome them into the organisation (e.g., a comprehensive 2-day induction). Induction helps set expectations within the organisation and support younger workers to establish their career goals, their professional identity and professional networks. Regular check-ins specifically around transition are important. Pairing younger workers with peers, experienced staff and mentors can be hugely impactful and a great way to facilitate check-ins.
- Provide inclusive leadership training and development that positively embraces the benefits of
  young workers and addresses unconscious bias. Manager training can also focus on actively
  reviewing career fit with young workers. Deliver training for younger workers to address the
  potential risks associated with a lack of experience. Training should be practical and meaningful,
  focusing on how to do their jobs with appropriate support and supervision as they develop skills.

#### Individual level strategies

- Invest in the mental health literacy of all workers (young and old) and their knowledge around health and safety protocols. When done well, training allows young workers to recognise how working conditions influence their mental health and wellbeing, advocate for their rights and fair treatment at work, proactively look after their mental health and wellbeing as well as that of their peers, increase their confidence in reporting incidents and build their knowledge about where and how to seek help if needed. Work Safe Victoria's new 'Umm' campaign for young workers is a good example.
- Train and educate young workers on health and safety protocols and procedures, particularly around psychological health and safety. Such training increases confidence in reporting incidents, and reduces negative workplace experiences and their mental health impacts. It is an investment by employers, 47 even if the workforce is transient, that can empower young workers to speak up about their experiences 28 and improve overall workplace culture.
- Provide access to career support. Publicising, normalising and supporting young workers to
  access career support through Employee Assistance Programs (EAPs), graduate programs or
  other services may help individuals clarify their personal goals and career direction. Encourage
  young workers to ask their supervisor about availability and access to the organisation's unique

- resources. These supports can help individuals through the various career transitions and assist in clarifying personal goals and career direction.
- **Reach out to allies.** Health and safety representatives (HSRs) are another resource in the workplace for younger workers. HSRs play a critical role in making workers safer at work and advocate for workers to ensure their views and concerns are heard.

#### Societal or structural strategies

- Because unemployment and unstable work is substantially higher in young workers than older,
   population level strategies to address youth unemployment are warranted.<sup>41</sup>
- A publicly funded career service could support young people to review their career choices.
   While many are exposed to career education in secondary schooling, those wishing to review, redirect or self-manage their careers may not have the resources to access such services privately.

#### Gaps in the literature

The strategies offered above are evidence based, but evidence on promoting mental health and wellbeing for young workers entering the workforce is limited. In particular, more research is needed to establish protective factors and organisational strategies that can contribute to young people's wellbeing and resilience at work and how this may vary across industry and employment contexts in Australia. This research should incorporate intersectional lenses, because unique factors may be present (e.g., individuals from different cultural and linguistic backgrounds, experiencing socioeconomic hardship, people with disabilities, those with neurodiversities such as Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity and Autism-Spectrum Disorders, and those identifying as LGBTIQA+). Applied research studies could evaluate specific programs to identify the most critical elements for success.

As noted earlier, evidence is lacking about team and organisational level workplace impacts when young workers entering the workforce experience mental health and wellbeing challenges.

## 2: Transitions to leadership and management

#### About this transition

Transitioning into management or leadership roles is very significant for some workers. It may be a conscious decision to 'step-up' or an unplanned transition arising from organisational changes. Either way, becoming a manager involves adjusting one's identity, with new challenges, changes and demands.<sup>60</sup>

Inherently, a leader's action (or inaction) significantly affects their team or organisation, for better or worse. There are established relationships between leader wellbeing and leadership behaviours, 61-63 team member performance and wellbeing, 64, 65 and overall leadership effectiveness. 66-68 However, despite the high stakes of management roles, leaders are typically underprepared for, and under-supported during, the transition to new leadership roles, with estimates that nearly half of leadership transitions fail. 69 Additionally, many new leaders rise to leadership roles based on technical proficiency, but are not provided with skills and training in leadership and management, which are separate skills. 70

#### Risks and mental health and wellbeing challenges

Transitions to management can affect mental health and wellbeing in various ways.

- Additional stress and supervisory responsibilities.<sup>71, 72</sup> In addition to personal tasks and activities, leaders also exert considerable energy and effort to support workers and broad organisational aims.<sup>73</sup> The relatively large scope of leaders' roles is often reflected in long working hours, heavy workloads, and continual change and uncertainty. These factors can contribute to burnout, with 54% of young leaders experiencing burnout.<sup>74</sup> Managerial anxiety over being held accountable can lead to micromanagement and many struggle with the tension between supporting staff and managing their performance.<sup>75</sup>
- Imposter syndrome. Imposter syndrome is prevalent in every industry and every profession. Not even high-achieving individuals and athletes are immune to imposter syndrome. Up to 82% of people will experience feeling like they have not earned what they have achieved and are a fraud at some point in their lives. <sup>76</sup> In the workplace, imposter syndrome typically results in lack of confidence, poor decision making, underperformance and if left unchecked it can affect an individual's mental health and wellbeing. <sup>76</sup>
- Changing identity. The transition to a new leadership role requires an identity shift. New leaders are likely to experience anxiety, conflict and threat connected to valued aspects of their identities.<sup>77</sup> These identity challenges are also more significant in the experiences of new leaders from minority and non-dominant groups.<sup>78</sup> Becoming comfortable with this identity change involves new leaders experimenting to determine their leadership style.
- Feeling like a novice again. New leaders who were in their previous position for a while may feel they mastered their responsibilities and deliverables. It can be disconcerting to feel like a novice again, particularly when the team is looking to the leader for all the answers. A leadership change often comes with a salary bump and higher stakes. So, the risk of failure is now financial, which can add pressure. Organisations can help by promoting a culture of ongoing learning where it is acceptable for new leaders to be continually learning and take a 'fail fast' approach.
- **Loneliness.** "Being in the team but not of the team, regardless of whether one sits in a separate office or open plan workspace." Around 91% of first-time managers have reported feeling

isolated, with 88% reflecting minimal face time with their teams exacerbated their burnout.<sup>80</sup> This relational transition **moving from 'mate' to 'manager'**, can be particularly challenging or isolating when friendships are close and personal information is shared.<sup>81,82</sup> And it can be complex for both parties. Egos and emotions can get in the way. Some peers may feel as though they deserved the promotion and be less than supportive. Other closer colleagues may assume they will now receive special treatment or be less inclined to follow processes. They may not feel like they can share the challenges and frustrations they once had when their peers shared the same responsibilities. Without this peer support, some new leaders may experience mental health issues or avoid seeking help out of fear they will be perceived as not being up to the job.

Stigma. This includes internalised self-stigma, or social stigma, experienced by leaders who are
diagnosed with a mental illness. Generally, leaders are expected to display strength and
resilience; any indication that they do not may be perceived as role incongruent and
problematic.<sup>83</sup> Research on bias against leaders experiencing psychological distress finds
depression-related stigma may be an additional complication.<sup>83-85</sup>

#### The potential impacts at team and organisation levels

If transitions to leadership cause individuals' psychological distress and dysfunction, it can have significant flow-on effects on their teams and organisations, eroding wellbeing and performance more broadly. Currently, literature focuses on the role of managers and supervisors in supporting their staff wellbeing.<sup>67</sup> There is minimal literature on how transitioning into leadership impacts the individual's own wellbeing. Further, limited research has addressed the potential impacts of the leaders' mental health and wellbeing challenges on team and organisational functioning or on the mental health and wellbeing of managers and supervisors themselves.<sup>83</sup>

Importantly, the impact of leaders' mental health and wellbeing on leadership behaviours may lead to reduced personal resources and increased stress. Even low levels of psychological distress can reduce desired leadership behaviours and increase problematic supervision which affects workers. For example, managerial anxiety about being held accountable can lead to micromanagement and struggle with the tension between supporting staff and managing their performance. Additionally, changes resulting from poor mental health, such as sleep disturbance and increased alcohol usage, can impact a leader's behaviour. These changes contribute to stigma against the leader; it is perceived as unacceptable when leaders experience mental illness, which further burdens those leaders.<sup>83</sup>

#### Strategies and opportunities to support successful transition

Leadership transition supports include organisational and individual approaches.

#### Organisation level strategies

- Start training before formal leadership roles start. Organisations can offer formal and informal training in leadership and management skills to help emerging and new leaders develop and refine their skills. This training can cover topics such as understanding their own management style; building trust; and managing increased responsibility and demands, such as providing a safe workplace including managing disclosures of psychological distress and mental illness. Further, it is important to view leadership as a practice that benefits from ongoing support and development.
- **Develop policies and processes for 'in boarding'.** Promoting from within has many benefits, but often organisations skip important processes that a new hire receives. Some of these challenges include doing 2 roles at once; that is, the transition is delayed while handing over their previous workload. Internal hires often hit the ground running without time for learning or to assess their

leadership style. The new leader also has to contend with 'baggage' or preconceived notions from existing workers.

- Provide coaching and mentoring. Providing access to external objective feedback and confidential coaching can help new leaders challenge assumptions and build understanding. One-on-one feedback and advice can be invaluable in developing perspective. <sup>60</sup> This is particularly important in management teams that exhibit a sense of competition and a lack of trust between individuals. Coaching also helps new leaders manage increased responsibilities and juggle other demands. Similarly, mentoring with an experienced internal leader can help new leaders develop greater organisation-specific situational awareness.
- Clarify workplace procedures and processes. For many new managers, negotiating the procedural requirements of roles is overwhelming, and some aspects of their role may occur infrequently. Clear materials that spell out advised processes, and where to seek help may be useful, particularly for less common scenarios.
- Establish peer networks. Leadership communities such as peer networking and 'promotion cohorts' (for medium and large organisations) allows new leaders to build new connections, discuss challenges and develop skills in a supportive environment.
- Promote a learning culture. Create forums for managers and leaders to present their mistakes
  and failures. Organisations can promote a mentally healthy culture of ongoing learning where it
  is acceptable for new leaders to not know the answers to all questions and to admit mistakes.
  This can be more proactively encouraged by requiring new managers to focus on listening, rather
  than contributing, for a set period of time.

#### Individual level strategies

- Conduct one-on-one meetings. One-on-one meetings let leaders get to know team members, understand their roles and motivations, and personally communicate their new appointment.
   Leaders can ask team members to define their roles and listen carefully. Knowing where a team member adds value means a leader can better enlist that person's help. The team member also receives agency and autonomy over their work.
- **Set boundaries.** Many new leaders think they need to become a different person to lead well. Leaders can be themselves, but set firm boundaries. They can do this by being transparent, clearly defining roles and communicating their expectations. They may need to be clear about work–personal boundaries with team members who are friends.
- Ask for feedback. A leader does not have all the answers. A leader can ask for feedback to check the team is on board and to get their buy in. Importantly, the leader must be transparent and accountable for others to follow their lead.
- **Check in.** Regularly checking in with reports can help leaders adjust their management approach for different people and build close relationships.
- Practise self-care. New leaders need to protect their personal wellbeing, including being aware
  of early warning signs of distress, engaging with trusted mentors and confidences, prioritising
  sleep, setting boundaries, engaging in physical activity and good nutrition, and seeking help as
  required. Often, new leaders overwork to prove themselves; organisations can assist by
  communicating policies such as discouraging emailing after hours and on weekends.
- Leadership training and development. Individuals can prepare for leadership transitions by
  reflecting on their personal style and experiences, and intentionally developing their approach.
  Considerations include managing first impressions, aligning expectations, recognising and
  managing stress, seeking feedback, building effective relationships laterally and vertically, and
  managing expectations of previous peers.<sup>86</sup> New leaders also need to understand their business,

- industry and community. They can attain this knowledge via attendance at conferences, participation in business conversations, or return to study.
- Recognise the triple challenge. This notion can help reframe the transition to leadership.
   Coached or self-paced reflection can prompt individuals to consider which elements of their current roles and responsibilities should cease, be retained or added to as they move to new management levels.<sup>87</sup>

#### Gaps in the literature

Given the importance of leaders and managers, the lack of research about how transitioning and holding a leadership position impacts a person's wellbeing is surprising. 83, 88-91 There may be several reasons for this result. First, it may be because researchers and the broader community have high levels of compassion for workers, who experience greater job stress levels than managers or business owners; 92-94 as a consequence, leaders are often overlooked. 83 Second, leaders' wellbeing may not be a focus for others. Leaders may be perceived as stronger and therefore mentally healthier. As they move up the social hierarchy, they are presumed to experience less job stress, be more resilient and have access to more resources, 83 factors that are critical for mental health. A plethora of research, training and resources addresses the role of leaders in supporting the mental health and wellbeing of team members, especially in the COVID post-pandemic world. 95 However, Barling and Cloutier 3 contend "...we need to know more about the transitions into and out of leadership positions," and how they affect job incumbents' wellbeing.

In terms of interventions, almost no research systematically considers organisation-level strategies that positively affect leaders' mental health and wellbeing.<sup>83, 90</sup> This is a significant gap in our understanding of what interventions are effective for this group. The existing literature largely focuses on individual strategies, with minimal focus on work design. Research could focus on intersectional stresses and mental health stigma faced by leaders who are less well represented, including women,<sup>96</sup> those from culturally and linguistically diverse communities<sup>97</sup> and leaders with disabilities, who are poorly represented but may experience additional intersectional barriers.<sup>98</sup> Additionally, given the existing and increasing responsibilities leaders carry, including promoting the wellbeing and performance of workers, it is critical to consider the emotional toll that can be exacted by engaging in high-quality leadership behaviours.

## 3: Transitions associated with parent and caring responsibilities

#### About these transitions

A carer is defined as anyone who cares, unpaid, for a family member or friend who cannot cope without their support due to illness, age, disability, a mental health problem or addiction.<sup>99</sup> Family care refers to unpaid informal care for individuals who are dependant, temporarily or permanently unable to function independently and/or in need of help with routine activities.<sup>100, 101</sup> Family care encompasses caring for children, grandchildren, children with additional needs <sup>102</sup> and caring beyond parenting (i.e., assisting family members because of a long-term health condition, disability or functional limitation<sup>103</sup>, such as elderly parents, spouses or partners<sup>104</sup>).

Carer ages range from young carers (up to 24 years)<sup>105</sup> to grandparents with primary care responsibilities for grandchildren. Common transition points for parents caring for children and ageing parents include parental leave, start of childcare, start of primary school, year 12, special needs, life changes, care of ageing parents and care of grandchildren.<sup>106</sup> Caring also incorporates the 'Sandwich Generation'—a carer with parenting responsibilities while also caring for elderly parents<sup>101</sup>—and more recently the 'Double Sandwich Generation'—individuals in their 60s caring for their grandchildren, allowing their own children to work while also supporting parents in their 90s.<sup>107</sup>

Official statistics suggest Australia has 2.65 million carers, representing 10.8% of all Australians. This figure is likely an underestimate; other sources suggest an estimated 2.8 million carers are employed in the Australian workforce. Papproximately 70% of Australian families had both parents in the workforce in 2021 (versus 64% in 2017). On average, men undertake more paid work than women, with fathers working an average of 75 hours a week: 46 hours spent on paid work, 16 hours on housework and 13 hours on child care. Comparatively, mothers work an average of 77 hours a week, comprised of 20 hours paid work, 30 hours household work and 27 hours of child care. Its

#### Risks and mental health and wellbeing challenges

While many people look forward to and are enriched by caring and parenting, this transition often comes with significant change. It can involve a loss of identity, meaning, relationships and structure, increasing the risk of psychological distress and mental health conditions.

#### Parenting care

The transition to parenthood is a major life transition characterised by significant change and associated stressors that can increase psychological distress, fatigue and isolation. Many expectant and new parents experience a mental health condition, 112, 113 with 20% of mothers and 10% of fathers experiencing anxiety or depression during pregnancy and the first year of parenting. 114 These results may be underestimated especially for fathers, who are less likely to report distress. 115 Beyond this, a higher prevalence of mental health conditions is associated with struggles to balance work and family commitments, 116 lack of sufficient leave and support after childbirth, 117 stressful life events, a history of substance abuse and exposure to previous trauma. 118 Some of the factors impacting mental health and wellbeing of working parents are outlined below.

- **The birth experience.** Infertility, use of IVF, pregnancy loss, terminations, stillbirths and serious illnesses associated with birth can have significant psychological impacts. 119-121
- Hormonal interactions and psychiatric responses involved in pregnancy and labour can increase
  the risks of new parents developing mental health conditions.<sup>122</sup> Challenges with feeding and

- settling, financial stress, relationships stress, deterioration in physical activity and broader social supports, and sleep deprivation further exacerbate distress. 120
- Perinatal discrimination. Pregnancy is currently the most common discrimination complaint in Australian workplaces.<sup>123</sup> Discrimination can have long-term adverse impacts on the psychological health of new and expectant parents. Discrimination influences help seeking behaviour. Many new parents do not seek help and accept distress as part of being a parent; 74% do not seek help until they are at crisis.<sup>124</sup>
- An unequal burden. Women not only shoulder the burden of domestic work in caring, but also carry the 'mental load' or 'admin' associated with family life. In a 2021 Global Deloitte study of 5,000 women in 10 countries, including Australia, 77% of women interviewed said their workload had increased since the COVID-19 crisis began and 66% said they bear the greatest responsibility for family household management and chores. This result was associated with a decline in female participation in the global workforce, with 23% of working women considering leaving the workforce, and 57% planning to leave their current employer in the next 2 years. This presents more challenges for women, who can lose 'power' when taking time out of the workforce or working part-time. Women are also at an increased risk of domestic violence when pregnant or in the post-natal period, with 76% of Australian domestic violence victims experiencing violence while pregnant.
- Work-life interference remains a persistent challenge in Australia, particularly for women, mothers and other working carers. Parents and carers can have higher levels of absenteeism and presenteeism, and reduced work status. Time constraints mean parents may struggle to engage in workplace activities that build social and career networks, resulting in missed opportunities for advancement or promotion.
- Work-related factors can increase the risk of poor mental health for individuals already at
  greater risk for mental health distress. Such factors include low supervisory support, lack of job
  control and role clarity, and poor change management.
- COVID-19 pandemic restrictions and policies (particularly remote schooling) exacerbated mental distress, particularly for working parents.<sup>126</sup> Many working parents juggling COVID-19 restrictions, mental health issues and home schooling experienced 'pandemic parental burnout':<sup>127</sup> it is particularly pronounced for women and increasing with time.<sup>128</sup>

Research also indicates particular groups may be at a greater risk of experiencing mental health challenges in the perinatal period. For example, parents of children with disabilities and other high needs (e.g., mental health issues) report higher levels of emotional distress, likely arising from more substantive caregiving responsibilities. <sup>129, 130</sup> Additionally, sole parents, particularly mothers, have significantly worse mental health outcomes; <sup>131</sup> adoptive and foster caregivers also report higher levels of stress, <sup>132</sup> depression and anxiety. <sup>133</sup> There is significantly less research on the psychological and mental health of fathers, <sup>134, 135</sup> which is critical given noted changes in parenting roles and the potential stigma associated with men taking parental leave or accessing workplace flexibility. <sup>136, 137</sup>

The initial transition to parenthood is a huge shift, but additional changes are likely throughout parenthood:<sup>138</sup>

- Parents may have trouble accessing childcare services due to unaffordability, unavailability and illness rates in young children.
- Challenges when children start school include adjusting work schedules around shorter school hours, school holidays and childcare or school events and celebrations.

- Challenges as children grow include choosing schools, helping adolescents navigate hormonal
  and social pressures, supporting adolescents with increasing study demands and enabling them
  to attend social, work and school commitments.
- Parents support young adults to become autonomous and develop personal responsibility, as
  they move into further study and careers. Relationship breakdowns, and potential family
  violence, can affect obligations and expectations, with return to the home or cycling levels of
  independence and reliance.
- As children leave home, parents must adjust to the so-called 'empty nest' and reframe their expectations and routines. 139, 140

Changes in physical needs, logistics and the balance between personal, professional and family commitments continue through all these phases. Parents report feeling time poor,<sup>141</sup> and experience parenting stress as they negotiate these requirements,<sup>142</sup> but can also demonstrate familial resilience in the face of these pressures.<sup>143</sup> Parental depression and anxiety can negatively affect personal, family and child developmental outcomes in both genetic<sup>144</sup> and non-genetically related families,<sup>145</sup> and therefore, warrants serious attention.

#### Other forms of family care

Individuals who care for family members including elderly parents, siblings or spouses with chronic physical or mental illnesses experience greater levels of fatigue, psychological distress, anxiety and depression. 104, 146-150 Caregivers of partners, close family members (e.g., parent, sibling or child) and other family members contemplate suicide at a higher rate than the general population. 151 Primary stressors of caregiving (e.g., unwell family members, family members with cognitive disabilities and care duration) and secondary stressors (e.g., family conflict and financial stress) are associated with poor mental health outcomes. 148 Long-term carers caring for an elderly person or someone with a permanent disability or terminal illness often report feeling lonely or isolated, increasing the risk of psychological distress. 152 Caregivers may also report feeling out of control, trapped and helpless 153 and prioritising family needs over their own, 148 exacerbating mental health risks. Partners of spouses with chronic illness also report poor psychological health from lack of self-care and formal care support. 150

Caring responsibilities can negatively affect workforce participation and financial stability. Most family carers are of working age, but have lower workforce participation levels than non-carers. 154 New parents, older parents and carers of people with chronic conditions often leave the workforce or reduce their paid working hours after taking on caring responsibilities. 100, 154, 155

Approximately 22% of primary carers work full-time, compared with 43% for the general population. 109 Often, women with caring responsibilities work fewer hours than men. 100 Reduced employment and out-of-pocket caring costs have financial repercussions; approximately 160,900 primary carers and 53,000 non-primary carers in Australia are not paid for caring. Australian primary and non-primary carers lose an estimated \$11.4 billion and \$3.8 billion respectively. 109

Family carers in the workforce display higher levels of absenteeism, presenteeism and reduced work status related to caring responsibilities. Exhaustion and burnout are also common. Almost one-third of Australian primary family carers take time off at least weekly due to caring roles. Family carers balancing work and care obligations for their parents also report concentration problems and struggle to participate in social or career-enhancing activities at work, with potential financial or career penalties.

Importantly, caring responsibilities can have positive effects, including opportunities for work–family enrichment.<sup>160, 161</sup> Supporting carers can significantly benefit workers, allowing them to

participate fully at work in ways that match their values and reduce stress and anxiety. For the organisation, this kind of support can reduce absenteeism, improve staff retention, staff diversity, worker focus, productivity and performance, and generate reputational benefits of building and promoting a family friendly workplace.

#### The potential impacts at team and organisation levels

As noted above, family carers display high levels of absenteeism and presenteeism, which alongside increased turnover, increases economic costs for businesses. <sup>109, 156, 157</sup> A PwC report about perinatal mental health conditions in Australian workplaces attributes costs to productivity losses associated with presenteeism, absenteeism and turnover. <sup>112</sup> The mental health challenges of carers also cost organisations, with businesses facing high estimated annual costs of lost productivity if postnatal depression is not addressed (\$158 million for mothers and \$68 million for fathers with perinatal depression). <sup>162</sup> While research has examined the individual and organisational impacts of family caregiving, there is little research about how family and caring responsibilities affect teams. However, when working carers experience intense and unresolved work–family conflict (i.e., when the demands of work and family roles are incompatible), this can result in reduced job performance and team conflict. <sup>163</sup> Proactive strategies are critical to prevent friction or conflict, and a build-up of resentment.

Importantly, organisations that support family care responsibilities benefit from being seen as family friendly, which can help to attract and retain talent. 164, 165

## Strategies and opportunities to support successful transition

#### Organisation level strategies

Parents returning to work can face discrimination. Research from the Perinatal Workplace Wellbeing Program (PWWP) found returning women were demoted or had their roles changed while on leave, or experienced 'benevolent sexism'. <sup>166</sup> The study also found returning fathers experience discrimination and stigma when requesting flexible work arrangements. An employer support carers and parents in many ways.

Large organisations (i.e., those with over 100 staff, or a turnover of more than \$2 million) can demonstrate a commitment to supporting staff with family and caring responsibilities by being certified as a Family Friendly Workplace. <sup>167</sup> This process—which benchmarks organisations against the minimum National Work and Family standards and best practice—identifies areas of strength and recommends areas for improvement. Based on this report, an organisation can then develop and work through an endorsed work and family action plan, and be certified as a family-inclusive employer, which can be communicated to current and future staff, clients and the community.

Whether or not an organisation is seeking certification, a range of strategies can improve the mental health and wellbeing of working family carers, <sup>168-170</sup> improve staff retention, increase productivity and reduce organisational costs: <sup>168</sup>

• Encourage family flexible arrangements, including flexible use of family leave. Caregiving and family leave policies should promote flexible work arrangements (i.e., flex-time or telecommuting) and time off as required, consistent with obligations under the National Employment Standards.<sup>171</sup> For new parents, policies such as *Keep in Touch Days*, and breastfeeding support help to manage immediate care needs while remaining employed.<sup>172</sup> These actions can help carers feel they have over their work and care commitments, which promotes mental health.<sup>173</sup> Flexible arrangements can start before the worker becomes a parent or carer, and can include support for fathers and non-birth parents to take additional leave

before birth to support their partners. This is particularly relevant for pregnancy loss or when there are health complications.

- Provide access to job protected paid family leave, available equally to all parents and carers.
- Promote and champion flexible work arrangements in senior leadership roles, to help workers
  feel confident to request such arrangements and promote a culture of acceptance. This can
  offset concerns about lack of access or stigma.<sup>174, 175</sup>
- Visibly support and enable dads and non-birth partners to take longer periods of parental leave. Use senior leadership as role models and explicitly address concerns about taking leave, reassuring workers of opportunities for career growth and promotion.
- Recognise every journey to parenthood is unique and personal. Many people will not wish to disclose their situation.
- Automate and embed processes into systems (e.g., reminders for when someone is returning from extended leave).
- **Provide easy and independent access to policies and procedures,** so workers know what is available without having to ask. This helps to maintain confidentiality if workers do not wish to disclose their personal circumstances, such as trying to become pregnant or after a miscarriage.
- Equip leaders with family supportive supervisory behaviours. Supportive supervisors are a critical factor contributing to the mental health and wellbeing of new and expectant parents and carers. These behaviours support workers' family roles and include emotional support, instrumental or practical support, role-modelling behaviours, and creative work–family management. They improve perceived health and work–family balance satisfaction of carers. 176, 177 Supervisor training can focus on holding effective conversations about caring transitions, setting clear boundaries about staying in touch and deciding who is responsible for reaching out. These actions help to avoid the 'boss lottery', where parents' experiences vary based on the leader's skill in implementing policies. Managers should also be trained and alert to potential signs of compromised wellbeing and know how to link carers with suitable support.
- Make reasonable adjustments. Organise family-friendly meeting schedules that avoid drop-off and pick up times and recognise parents' need for 'life-admin' days or time to attend activities. An organisation may also consider generating term-time leave arrangements to help parents manage school and extracurricular commitments.
- Establish peer networks to help individuals connect with and learn from others.
- **Provide education to the whole organisation** about emotional and mental health at this life stage to increase capacity to identify and respond to distress in themselves or others.
- Provide support material to carers. Eldercare kits can contain information about aged care
  facilities, fees, government assistance and rebates. Childcare kits can provide information about
  childcare facilities and fees, government assistance and rebates and childcare options (i.e., a
  childcare directory).
- **Provide transition coaching and mentoring** to help individuals better manage their transitions and personal circumstances. Parental leave can be a time where parents and carers experience a loss in confidence, and experience challenges in balancing parenting and professional roles. Intentional support can help individuals negotiate their own journey and establish their needs.
- Provide access to carer-related support and direct services, including Employee Assistance
  Programs (EAPs) and dependent care assistance programs for mental health support. EAP
  wellness programs and dependent care assistance programs may also improve carer mental
  health and lighten the burden on family carers. 178, 179 Caring assistance programs also benefit
  carers, but organisations usually have more childcare assistance programs than elder-care
  assistance programs. 174

- **Do not 'set and forget'.** Consider what support is needed for all types of family carers, and how those needs change over time. For example, parenthood involves ongoing transition points as children grow from babies and toddlers to school-aged children and adolescents.
- If possible, provide on-site childcare managed by an external childcare provider, or a Family Room that parents can use after school or when a child cannot go to childcare or school.

#### Individual level strategies

- Learn the supports available for carers, such as government funded carer payments and Paid Parental Leave. Encouraging men to access carers leave, whether for parenting or other caring roles, is also critical to promote gender equity and more evenly share caring responsibilities. This also has positive impacts for the wellbeing of parents, partners and children. 180
- Seek out available support, practical resources and information in the workplace to prepare for the transition (e.g., peer support groups, leave policies, COPE's free Ready to COPE App<sup>181</sup>).
- Adapt work goals to align with caring commitments. Have clearly defined and communicated personal boundaries with the workplace.
- **Connect with others through a local support group** or organisations that provide services and support for carers and parents (e.g., Carers Australia, COPE's Mama Tribe).
- Speak to other family members about sharing caring responsibilities (e.g., siblings sharing care for an elderly parent). It may help to clearly articulate the needs of the person being cared for, and to be specific about what contributions are most helpful (e.g., decision making versus financial support versus regular social visits).
- Reduce the risk of burnout by adopting self-care and wellbeing strategies. Staff may participate in skills training programs to enhance their resources and learn how to effectively manage competing roles and priorities. For instance, training programs encompassing stress-resiliency and mindfulness can enhance overall mental health, optimise coping skills and reduce stress. An individual may also balance paid and domestic work with wellbeing strategies to cope with stress and improve mental health. Balance may include adapting, adjusting or reframing work-related goals to help manage paid and caring roles. Any decisions to change working arrangements should be made, where possible, as a family unit, to prevent the burden being borne solely by women; currently, women spend 64.4% of their weekly working time in unpaid care work, compared with 36.1% for men. 180, 185
- Reach out if you need help. Discussing support options with their GP is a good first step for workers experiencing poor mental health. 186

#### Gaps in the literature

Significant research is available about the demands of early parenting and strategies for working parents, particularly women. However, other areas within this domain are less well covered. More focus on ways to support men as active parents and reduce the stigma of parenting involvement would benefit men and help mitigate gender inequity. Other research could investigate the needs and challenges of primary family carers of same sex spouses, carers of siblings, grandparent carers (particularly working grandfathers), and Sandwich and Double Sandwich generations. More research is also needed on what organisational and individual interventions best support these broader family caring subgroups.

## 4: Redundancy and career change transitions (both involuntary and self-directed)

#### About these transitions

Career changes can arise due to redundancies or workplace change (involuntary job loss), self-directed career changes, or even both. These transitions are considered separately below, given their different implications for individuals and the workplace.

#### Involuntary job losses (redundancy and job displacement)

Redundancy and job displacement involves involuntary separation from a job, often for economic reasons, such as workforce downsizing, restructuring, closures, changes to the skills required for the role or other workplace changes. Australia has a relatively dynamic labour market compared with other OECD countries. About one-fifth of employed Australians separate from their job annually, and one-fifth of those separations are displaced workers. Historically, men, older workers and less educated workers tend to be displaced more often, whether through formal redundancies or other forms of involuntary job displacement. Workers with shorter tenure and casual contracts tend to face higher redundancy rates. The COVID-19 pandemic resulted in significant job disruption in Australia, with an estimated 870,000 workers losing their jobs between February and May 2020. Rotably, gender and age patterns varied during this transition, with women, young workers and those in insecure work more likely to be stood down or made redundant.

Close to 70% of displaced workers find new jobs within one year and around 80% within 2 years. 190 However, re-employment rates are lower for displaced workers than for workers experiencing other types of job separation and certain populations have significantly lower reemployment rates following redundancy. Women, older workers and less-educated individuals tend to have lower re-employment levels post-redundancy. 187 This result is likely because of discrimination, limited opportunities and personal decisions to leave the workforce.

#### Self-directed career changes

Career changes involve moving to a new profession beyond linear career progressions. Both globally and nationally, career changes are increasingly common, with individuals seeking versatile, boundaryless careers that are flexible, dynamic and self-managed. By the time they retire, it is estimated that young Australians will have held up to 17 different jobs over fiver careers in their lifetime, which is referred to as a portfolio career. By

The COVID-19 pandemic has increased drivers for change, with ING<sup>194</sup> reporting that since COVID-19, 1 in 3 Australians were considering changing jobs and more than 3 million wanted a complete career change. More recently, there is further drive for change. A survey indicated 56% of workers were taking steps to change their employment in early 2022, <sup>195</sup> a phenomenon entitled the 'great resignation' or 'great reset'. A focus on wellbeing has been a significant trigger for this change, with 29% of respondents in a recent Australian survey<sup>196</sup> noting burnout as the key reason for resignation, while many nominate wellbeing as a reason to stay or move jobs.<sup>197</sup> Making a career change after 40 is common, with 41% of respondents to a recent Seek survey having made career changes, over half of whom moved into new work and new industry.<sup>198</sup> Often, older workers change careers to achieve a better work–life balance, with a desire for greater stability and job security. Optimistically, almost all (97%) were at least somewhat happy with their decisions.<sup>198</sup>

Several personality and demographic factors increase the likelihood of career changes: openness to experience and extraversion, high self-efficacy, being young and male.<sup>199</sup> Career change is likely the result of a mix of factors and motivations.<sup>200</sup> Reasons for career change include job dissatisfaction, poor pay, a desire to align work with values, poor relationships with bosses, health problems, wanting more flexibility and a desire for growth/challenge.<sup>201, 202</sup>

Emerging workplace trends, including the gig economy and portfolio careers, mean a 'career for life' is redundant for many. The number of careers is increasing for younger generations, with young workers 'job hopping' at 3 times the rate of older workers.<sup>203</sup> This outcome is attributed to emerging expectations of workers, emerging new jobs and industries, more freedom in career choices and a shift away from expectations of a 'career for life'. However, while patterns of careers and motivations for change are shifting and career changes are now more common than lifetime career stability, the narrative of a 'career for life' can create mismatched expectations, and potential anxiety. Given the increasing normality of career changes, it is important for organisations to shift their practices to support and respond to such a movement.

#### Risks and mental health and wellbeing challenges

When considering the impact of career changes and redundancy, it is necessary to acknowledge employment is not seen equally by all. Dr Amy Wrzesniewski, a professor at Yale School of Management identified 3 different contexts of work: people who see their employment purely as a *job*, focusing on financial rewards and the necessity of income; people who see their work as a *career*, perhaps with explicit intentions for advancement; and people who see their employment as a *calling*, and feel a sense of purpose and deeper alignment between their vocation and who they are as a person. <sup>204</sup> Even the concept of 'career' is changing. Traditionally, a 'career' was considered to refer to the work you are paid to do, but emerging definitions encompass life contributions across paid work and other activities such as hobbies and community engagement. <sup>191, 205</sup> These evolving definitions are consistent with generational shifts in attitudes towards work and the psychological contract. The impacts of career change are different depending on how individuals see their employment and its centrality to their identity.

#### *Individual impacts of involuntary job loss*

Just under one-third of displaced workers are still unemployed after 12 months and reemployment rates are even lower for certain groups, including women, older workers and those with less formal education. Physical Involuntary job loss is associated with decreased psychological wellbeing. In contrast, voluntary redundancy may have more positive outcomes. Paul and Moser suggest relationships between involuntary job loss and mental distress may be causal. An Australian study found 69.1% of Australians who lost their job during the COVID-19 pandemic reported poor mental health. In contrast, only 24.2% of respondents whose work was unaffected by the pandemic reported poor mental health.

Notably, negative psychological impacts start once a change is anticipated, and for some, resolution, even if undesired, reduces distress because individuals can start transitioning.<sup>211, 212</sup> Demographic differences moderate the impact of involuntary job loss on mental health. For example, men and people with blue-collar jobs tend to experience more distress by involuntary job loss than women and people with white-collar jobs.<sup>210, 213</sup> Long-term unemployment significantly increases an individual's chances of experiencing poor mental health.<sup>214, 215</sup> Therefore, supporting displaced workers to find suitable work can help protect their mental health.

Financial challenges are consistently one of the biggest stressors for displaced workers, <sup>210, 215</sup> with displaced workers experiencing persistent earning losses even after re-employment. Weekly

earnings for workers with new jobs are 8% lower on average than their previous job.<sup>215</sup> Both the initial income loss and the potential for a sustained reduction contributes to the financial stress associated with redundancy. Unsurprisingly, individuals with more financial resources are better protected from poor mental health following job loss.<sup>210</sup>

Psychosocial factors such as the loss of social connections, changes to routines and a sense of purpose, and stigma associated with unemployment also contribute to poor mental health following redundancy. <sup>210, 213</sup> This can also extend to negatively impacting the mental health of family members and potentially lead to marital separation. <sup>207, 216, 217</sup> Involuntary job loss is also associated with decreased physical health. <sup>218</sup> This result is unsurprising, given the mental health benefits associated with good work. <sup>219</sup>

#### Organisation impacts of involuntary job loss

Often organisations downsize for financial reasons. However, a study of 537 large firms found limited evidence that downsizing significantly improved profits. <sup>220</sup> The potential for downsizing to negatively impact organisational culture is well established, largely due to remaining workers experiencing 'survivor syndrome' and 'survivor sickness'. <sup>221</sup> 'Survivor syndrome' is associated with feelings of guilt, anxiety, apathy and disengagement. 'Survivor sickness' is associated with denial, job insecurity, feelings of unfairness, fatigue, reduced risk taking, decreased motivation and distrust. These experiences likely reflect a worker's decreased belief in job security, decreased trust in management and guilt associated with remaining in the job. <sup>221, 222</sup> Therefore, organisations considering downsizing should consider not only the impacts on displaced workers but also the potential negative impacts on remaining workers.

#### Individual and organisation impacts of self-directed career changes

The limited research on the mental health impacts of self-directed career change indicates the impacts tend to be influenced by the motivations for change. Some individuals thinking about or undergoing a career change experience fear of failure, insecurity, a fear of the unknown and concerns about making the wrong decision. <sup>193, 223</sup> Career changes triggered by external factors such as redundancy are likely to have more significant negative impacts on mental health and wellbeing.

In contrast, a career change can have positive mental health and wellbeing effects when individuals perceive they are in control and the change increases alignment with personal interests, values, personality and skills/aptitudes. While voluntary career transitions may trigger fear or uncertainty, they are less likely to negatively impact mental health due to perceptions of control and the desirability of the change. Further, staying in a career that no longer fit is likely to negatively affect mental health and wellbeing. However, 'sleeper transitions'—where a person gradually accepts slightly different roles until at some point, they realise they are in a different career—can result in less disruption and distress. Although a career change can be highly stressful in some settings, a successful career change is often associated with improved life satisfaction<sup>199, 224</sup> and can increase confidence, empowerment and perceived mastery.<sup>225, 226</sup>

## Strategies and opportunities to support successful transition Organisation level strategies

• Provide open and ongoing access to career education, mentoring programs and counselling services (e.g., external or Employee Assistance Program (EAP) services delivering career education seminars). These services can help individuals reframe their beliefs and expectations about career changes, learn skills and strategies for self-assessment, research the labour market and generate career ideas and Goals.

- Mentoring programs can also support personal reflection on career growth and normalise different career transitions, while helping individuals forge their own pathways. They are particularly effective for men.<sup>227</sup>
- **Upskill management** to understand their role in career transitions conversations. Build managers' skills and confidence to have supportive conversations, understand the holistic impacts on workers and refer them to appropriate supports.
- Offer opportunities for upskilling workers to help them be more competitive in the job market.
- During periods of organisational change:
  - Build open transparent communication and trust in the workplace to mitigate potential risks associated with change processes. Transparency and clear communication from organisational leaders about the change, the reasons for it, and how and why decisions are made can help to mitigate a sense of organisational injustice or favouritism in the redundancy processes. One option is informal 'drop-in' sessions with leaders where staff can ask questions and receive transparent answers, which are then communicated via FAQ documents.
  - Offer voluntary redundancies as a first option, to reduce the burden and need for involuntary displacement.
  - Support positive exit rituals when individuals leave, including a formal farewell so workers can say goodbye to colleagues, where possible. This is particularly impactful when a role redundancy impacts senior staff. Not being 'escorted' from the premises immediately after receiving news of role redundancies can help workers get closure, say farewell and move on more successfully. It also helps workers staying with the organisation to feel respected.
  - Providing adequate pre-notification and career transition support is also associated with lower absenteeism rates, decreased turnover and fewer termination lawsuits.<sup>228</sup> Exiting workers who are offered formal career transition support are also more likely to maintain favourable opinions of the organisation<sup>229</sup> and experience improved mental health if they regain suitable employment.<sup>210</sup> So, supporting exiting workers benefits both the worker and the organisation.
  - o **Run facilitated workshops** that normalise experiences and emotional responses to change to help individuals understand and manage their own responses.
  - o **Provide counselling.** In addition to career transition support, counselling helps to improve an individual's mental health following redundancy. Importantly, services should be holistic and flexible, to meet each worker's needs, rather than fragmented workers need to explain their story multiple times to different agencies. Services could consider the impact of organisational changes on partners and families of workers and local communities, particularly if the workplace is a significant employer in a small community and changes have large and broader impacts. For example, closing a large factory in a relatively small community may have a disproportionate impact on the viability of other community services, such as banking, healthcare and education. In these cases, organisations should consider support for community change and adaptation, such as retraining for workers.
  - Depersonalise language regarding role changes. While subtle, this strategy can help workers depersonalise and reframe their experience. For example, saying "My role was made redundant" is more helpful than saying "I was made redundant". People should also avoid phrases that imply personalisation and blame (e.g., "targeted redundancies"), which may negatively affect coping and mental health and wellbeing.

 Enable the return of 'boomerang workers' (i.e., workers who leave an organisation and later return). This is being identified as a significant and increasing trend in 2022, particularly following the 'great resignation'.<sup>230</sup> Organisational departures that are handled well can create a talent pool of former workers who return with new skills to complement existing organisational knowledge.

#### Individual level strategies

Six coping strategies that can help workers navigate redundancy and self-directed career changes can be categorised into 2 groups:<sup>231</sup>

- 'Problem-focused' strategies include searching for re-employment, retraining and relocating for better job opportunities.
- 'Symptom-focused' strategies include seeking social support, accessing financial assistance and engaging in unemployment community programs. Individuals can help mitigate stressors by using any of these 6 strategies, and strategies are often reinforcing. For example, retraining programs may also help establish new social support networks. <sup>232</sup> Seeking social support is particularly important, because it is the principal strategy individuals use to cope with unemployment. <sup>233</sup> Establishing new routines and daily structures is also associated with better mental health during unemployment. <sup>233</sup> Workers undergoing career changes may also benefit from career transition support to help better understand themselves (i.e., their values, interests and abilities) and the labour market. They can then plan and undertake a career change based on those insights. <sup>234</sup> Research on educational and occupational options and resources can help career changers plan next steps, address outdated career beliefs that create unrealistic expectations, and restore control of the transition. Career transition services can also upskill people in current job search practices, tools and technology and act as a sounding board.

As well as these strategies, 5 psychological factors can influence a worker's experience and duration of disruption:<sup>235</sup>

- **Readiness** refers to how a person appraises their career change motivation (higher motivation is correlated with a shorter change process).
- **Confidence** refers to how effective the person considers the change will be.
- **Control** is how strongly the person considers the transition is in their control.
- Perceived support is how much social support the career changer has.
- **Decision independence** refers to how much other people need to be considered when making the change (e.g., partners, dependent children or parents). Proactively addressing and boosting these 5 factors can help protect the mental health of career changers. For example, control is a primary variable associated with life satisfaction for transitioning military personnel. Many organisations also make their EAP services, which offer mental health counselling, available to impacted workers for a period to support their transition. **Counselling** may help workers to alter their perception of control.

#### Gaps in the literature

Redundancy is a fairly well researched field, but significant gaps remain. Most studies tend to use western industrial samples. More research could address how cultural factors (i.e., individualism versus collectivism) moderate the experience of job loss. Several sources highlighted how to comply with regulations and protect the organisational culture when downsizing, but little

research addressed what 'best practice' downsizing looks like to support worker mental health through redundancies.

Research is limited on the mental health risks associated with self-directed career changes. Some research suggests individuals changing careers may experience increased susceptibility to stress and fear, 193, 223 but more research is warranted. Further, the majority of career change research focuses on individual characteristics. 199 Research is needed on cultural, organisational and contextual factors that contribute to career change motivation, challenges and success. While career change is often seen as an individual decision, limited studies investigate how institutions (e.g., governments, organisations) can help individuals make successful career changes.



## 5: Health-related changes

#### About these transitions

Research on returning to work following workplace injury is extensive, but less is known about career transitions and the implications for workers with non-work-related health conditions. An estimated 40% of Australians live with a disability or long-term health conditions. <sup>237</sup> This section addresses non-work-related health conditions—illness, injuries or conditions (including physical, mental or psychological) that are not related to employment. <sup>238</sup> The range of health conditions is extensive, but this paper considers 3 health-related transitions: cancer, menopause and gender transitions. They represent different forms of transitions, with different potential responses and risks, and provide a sample of considerations for workplaces and organisations.

Depending on the nature of the transition, some workers may move through non-work-related health conditions privately, with their workplace and colleagues unaware of their condition. Generally, workers do not have to inform their workplace about their health or medical conditions, and employers may not discriminate on the grounds of health or disability, according to the Disability Discrimination Act 1992 (Cth).<sup>239</sup> However, the Fair Work Commission states it is reasonable for employers to request information about matters that could affect a worker's capacity to perform the essential (inherent) requirements of a role,<sup>240</sup> or an illness/injury could place the worker, colleagues or others at risk.<sup>241</sup> This may be challenging, but provides opportunities for individuals and organisations to collaborate on developing effective responses that support workers and enable them to be productive and effective at work throughout health-related transitions.

#### Cancer

#### About these transitions

Cancer is a major cause of illness in Australia, with 150,782 cancers diagnosed in 2021 (an incidence rate of 484 cases per 100,000 persons). While the median age of diagnosis is 68 years, a significant proportion of cancer diagnoses occur in working populations. Additionally, improvements in cancer treatment mean many more people work during and following treatment, and Australian cancer survival rates are among the highest in the world. Patients increasingly receive oral cancer treatments to minimise work disruption, and many cancer survivors are both willing and able to return to work after their treatment.

However, common symptoms of cancer treatment—such as fatigue, vomiting, nausea, diarrhea and headaches<sup>245</sup>—undoubtedly present workers with extra challenges in completing their normal tasks. Additionally, many people diagnosed with cancer also experience mental health conditions. Around one-third meet criteria for mental health conditions, <sup>246</sup> cancer survivors are at increased risk of anxiety, depression and suicide. <sup>247</sup> Issues with thinking and memory are common before, during and after cancer treatment, and can include problems paying attention, thinking quickly, concentrating, organising thoughts or tasks, and short-term memory. Individuals may report a 'mental fog', caused by the cancer itself and associated inflammation, cancer treatments including some chemotherapies, medications, sleep problems, stress/anxiety, and secondary medical conditions. <sup>248</sup> Surviving cancer can also create fertility issues for both men and women, which can have a significant emotional impact and, in some cases, require fertility treatments. <sup>249</sup> If a worker is required or chooses to disclose information about their health, employers must handle the information in compliance with the *Privacy Act 1988* and any other relevant laws.

Workers being treated for cancer have highly diverse experiences; often, return-to-work processes are non-linear and vary between individuals.<sup>250</sup> In addition to cancer and treatment type, age, gender, geography (i.e., living rurally or in a larger town or city), employment type (full-time, part-time or casual), the degree of existing financial strain and/or psychosocial disadvantage, other caring roles, sources of support and job type will impact a person's return-to-work decisions and experience.<sup>251</sup>

Provided the environment is safe and comfortable, there are documented benefits of staying at work while undergoing cancer treatment or returning soon after treatment concludes.<sup>252</sup> These benefits include routine and structure, improved financial resources, social connections and opportunities to feel 'normal'.<sup>253</sup> Employment is also a protective factor against mental illness.<sup>254</sup> For many cancer survivors, work is a central element of their identity and self-esteem, providing financial security, maintaining social connection and allowing them to exercise their abilities and talents; it is more than paid employment. However, the desirability, importance and interpretation of work depends on the relative importance of those factors to individuals.<sup>255</sup> Poor work environments, where cancer survivors lack support, resources, guidance or job security, or experience discrimination, can negatively impact their return-to-work.<sup>250</sup>

## Strategies and opportunities to support successful transition Organisation level strategies

To support cancer survivors living with and beyond cancer, a focus on cancer survivorship is valuable. Factors that support a successful return to work include a focus on the person (particularly their symptoms, work abilities, motivation and coping), their environment supports (across family, workplace and professional support), and occupational considerations of the type of work and work flexibility. Cancer Council NSW published a practical guide—Cancer, work and you—which provides useful information for workers and employers on their obligations, rights and entitlements in the workplace. Drawing on this resource, major positive factors that support effective transitions for those experiencing cancer diagnosis and treatment include the following:

- Take a person-centred approach by treating people with compassion and respect.
- Provide workplace flexibility, particularly around time and conditions of work. Examples
  include flexible start and finish times, time off to attend medical appointments and returning to
  work in stages.<sup>243, 258</sup> This is consistent with employer obligations under the Disability
  Discrimination Act to make reasonable adjustments to accommodate the effects of a worker's
  cancer diagnosis/treatment.
- Implement supports, including temporary alternative duties and provide adjustments such as ergonomic work tools. This reduces the burden on workers and supports their mental health and wellbeing.
- **Regularly evaluate any adjustments** and continue to modify them in line with the worker's needs and preferences.<sup>259</sup> The individuals should, as far as possible, be offered autonomy in what they take on and how they meet job requirements.
- Encourage communication and transparency with team members to clarify expectations and enable the team to offer support and assistance. Be clear on what information the worker wants to share (and what they do not) and how confidentiality will be respected.
- **Support co-workers.** Someone being diagnosed with cancer can trigger memories or experiences for others.

- Create and document a return-to-work plan if the worker takes time off work. A return-to-work
  plan helps with communication and expectations for all parties.<sup>260</sup> Identify who is responsible for
  monitoring the return-to-work process and/or plan, and planned follow up meetings.
- Acknowledge not everyone will want to communicate their experience with peers and other team members. This is an important consideration, especially if the person needs additional leave or temporary time off for treatment. On returning to work, people may need additional workplace adjustments due to disability or long-term physical impediments.
- Consider how to manage a terminal diagnosis. Some people experiencing cancer may receive a terminal diagnosis, which will affect them and their co-workers. These situations must be approached with utmost respect for the person, e.g., thinking through issues such as how to best manage communication and farewells.
- Promote cancer screening. The long-term effects of delayed screening and medical care during the COVID-19 pandemic will not be known for some time. Employers can promote preventative health activities, and consider offering screening programs at work through health safety and wellness initiatives.<sup>261</sup>

#### *Individual level strategies*

- Tap into the cancer care team (including their GP) to assist with return-to-work planning. They can provide referrals to occupational therapists and/or occupational physicians for additional assessment and recommendations, and can offer key emotional, psychological and physical support and monitoring. Letters from treating clinicians can help communicate needs and flexibility requirements to employers. An important consideration may be whether the workers is immune-compromised and whether this will their work arrangements.
- Use strategies to help manage challenges with thinking and memory. Strategies include using lists, setting reminders and putting clear daily structures in place, while trying to reduce distractions (e.g., noise in particular) and the need for multitasking. Having realistic expectations of oneself, and then communicating these expectations and needs to others are both key.
- **Schedule regular breaks** in the calendar as protected time to manage fatigue. This could typically be part of a gradual return to work and flexible duties.
- Work closely with employers and managers around proactive communication with team members, colleagues and clients, when needed. This includes being clear on what information the worker wants to share (and what they do not) and how confidentiality will be respected.

#### Gaps in the literature

Despite the personal and economic importance of returning to work following cancer treatment, there is relatively little evidence regarding workplace strategies to support the mental health of cancer patients, or indeed other chronic health conditions. Most Australian research focuses on occupational causes of cancer, rather than supporting cancer survivors of working age as they move through treatment and potentially return to work.<sup>243</sup>

Further, studies that do exist appear to explore return to work as an outcome, and not a process, which is both continuous and complex, and involves significant transition. <sup>262</sup>. Some preliminary findings suggest workplace-oriented interventions from multidisciplinary treating teams (e.g., work ability or ergonomic assessments, workplace empowerment training), cognitive behaviour therapies and coaching for self-management of chronic disease may help. <sup>263</sup> However, further work is required to determine what best practice may look like, and identify factors that impede or facilitate mental health and wellbeing for individuals in the workplace. <sup>243</sup>

#### Menopause

#### About this transition

Women¹ aged 45 years and over are a growing segment of Australia's workforce, <sup>37, 264, 265</sup> with over 1 million working women currently experiencing, or having already experienced, menopause. Menopause is the final cessation of a woman's menstrual cycle that usually occurs between the ages of 45 and 55, marking the end of fertility. <sup>266</sup> This is a natural life stage for anyone who menstruates, including some transgender men and non-binary people, <sup>267</sup> rather than a medical condition; it is more common than pregnancy or motherhood. A small number of women can also experience premature menopause (occurring before 40 years, impacting 1% of women) or early menopause (40–45 years, around 5% of women). <sup>268</sup>

These conditions can affect mental health and wellbeing. Premature or early menopause can happen spontaneously, or be caused by medical treatments such as chemotherapy, radiotherapy or surgical removal of both ovaries.<sup>269</sup> While the menopause itself is technically a single point in time, the process of ceasing menstruation takes years, so it is more aptly described as the menopause transition. As a topic, menopause and its impacts<sup>270</sup> suffers from ignorance and stigma and is underresearched broadly. However, the menopausal transition represents a complex life period with unpredictable timing and complex biological, psychological and social changes.<sup>271</sup>

The mental health impacts of menopause are less well-known than physical symptoms, such as hot flushes, but are almost as common. During perimenopause (the time leading up to the final cessation of periods) many women experience changes in mood and cognition, including an increased risk of anxiety, panic attacks, depression, and concentration and memory difficulties, either for the first time, or with increased severity. But, screening rates are low.<sup>272</sup> Insomnia, which is also common during the menopause transition, exacerbates these symptoms.<sup>273</sup>

The menopause transition continues on average for 4 years, <sup>266, 274</sup> although symptoms can last for 5–10 years. <sup>275</sup> The range of symptoms can affect personal, social and work lives considerably. <sup>273</sup> Notably, around 20% of people experience symptoms that are severe and long-lasting, while 20% experience no symptoms. <sup>273</sup>

Given the variance in symptoms and associated stigma, the exact prevalence of perimenopausal distress is unknown. In a recent Australian study, 83% of women reported their symptoms negatively affected their work,<sup>276</sup> while international studies report rates of 60–70%.<sup>277</sup> Symptoms that impact work performance include sleep disturbance, headaches, weakness or fatigue, anxiety, memory loss, trouble concentrating, pain in bone joints and hot flushes, with psychological changes often preceding physical changes. In 2022, 44% of women experiencing menopause reported impacted ability to work, with 10% leaving work due to menopause symptoms.<sup>278</sup>

During this transition, many women report feeling less engaged with work and a sense of secrecy and isolation. The literature describes menopause (or more correctly, perimenopause) as a 'silent issue' for most organisations; most women do not know what to expect, and it is rarely discussed or disclosed. Menopause-specific support or information is lacking, which adds to the challenge of managing symptoms at work. Women experiencing perimenopause also fear agerelated and gendered discrimination. Most literature on this topic refers to these workers as 'older workers', which may be an alienating term. Many women feel reluctant to raise menopause with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Transgender individuals and those identifying outside the gender binary may also experience menopause. However, the existing resources and language are almost exclusively focused on cisgendered women, hence this document is written with that focus in mind.

their managers due to fear it will negatively affect perceptions of their performance.<sup>278, 280</sup> Most women do not want to be 'singled out' but do want organisational policies and workplace support.<sup>279</sup> Proactively planning for women experiencing the menopausal transition can benefit workers and organisations through improved wellbeing, engagement and retention.<sup>279</sup>

Women also report being less confident, anxious about performance and reluctant to put themselves forward.<sup>272, 279</sup> Women with greater perimenopausal-related symptoms are less engaged and satisfied with their work, with greater intentions to quit their job and lower organisational commitment.<sup>266, 276</sup> One Australian study found 45% of participants considered quitting or leaving during perimenopause, while 28% retired during this transition.<sup>276</sup> Potential impacts on productivity are hard to establish. While some women report impacts, objective studies suggest no changes, and women may compensate with extra hours to make up for perceived losses.<sup>281</sup> In fact, some findings suggest menopausal women may perform better than their younger colleagues.<sup>282</sup>

It is difficult to establish clear relationships between these factors and perimenopause, because they can co-occur with other life events such as children moving out of home (the so-called 'empty nest'), caring for frail or ill parents and the potential loss of parents or partners.<sup>273</sup> This is also a time when many women are reaching career peaks and taking on more senior roles; some associate menopause with positive outcomes such as increased energy, or enhanced self-beliefs and greater perceived autonomy.<sup>281</sup>

Survey and interviews with perimenopausal women describe a lack of menopause-specific support or information at work, <sup>266, 279</sup> which can make managing symptoms challenging. In addition, many women are unsure whether line managers have training in awareness of menopause in the workplace. <sup>266</sup> There were varying views about whether organisations should or could introduce perimenopausal-specific policies, or whether that would only marginalise or problematise women aged 45+. <sup>266</sup>

Strategies and opportunities to support successful transition

Organisation level strategies

- Acknowledge menopause as a common event. One of the biggest sources of stress during
  menopause is trying to hide it. Talking about menopause in a neutral or positive manner can help
  shift the stigma. It is also important to accept the variability of experiences, and avoid implicit
  assumptions that menopause is problematic in the workplace. But remember, women's
  experience of menopause is diverse and not all women need or want workplace support.
- Using real workplace data, engaging in genuine consultation and participatory processes is important in identifying the needs of those experiencing menopausal transitions in the workplace.<sup>282</sup>
- Train managers on menopause-related symptoms to create a supportive culture. Ensure leaders are proactive in creating a supportive culture—do not leave it to women to raise their needs.
   Managers, particularly men, may need training on ways to conduct empathy-based professional conversations with women on this topic.<sup>266</sup> Indeed, high supervisor support, full-time employment and control over workplace temperature were associated with reduced reporting of menopausal symptoms in one Australian study.<sup>283</sup>
- Appoint a key contact person in the organisation, and upskill the occupational health team to respond sensitively. This will help to provide a contact point for help and advice, for workers and managers.<sup>284</sup>

- Encourage all workers to cultivate a supportive culture of acknowledging menopause as part of life and understanding the impacts of this transition. Demonstrate you are aware that this transition is a temporary life stage and that ageing presents health challenges for all genders.
- Develop a safe and supportive organisational culture where perimenopausal health is
  considered within the context of gender and ageing equity, and gendered ageism. Most women
  do not want formal management or 'intervention' for menopause, but rather organisational
  understanding and support, which sends a broader message to women aged 45+ that they are
  welcome in the workplace.
- Collaboratively develop strategies to address working conditions that exacerbate menopausal symptoms and avoid discrimination. Rather than seeing menopause as a personal weakness, treating it as a temporary life stage with specific needs can reduce risks of discrimination. Practical approaches to assist workers include specific menopausal leave entitlements (including return-to-work plans for women with severe symptoms), flexible work arrangements, and the ability to adjust conditions in their immediate environment (e.g., working from home as required, desk fans and rostered breaks from wearing PPE such as face marks, ergonomic support for those experiencing headaches, comfortable clothing, access to toilets and drinking water).<sup>285</sup>
- Recognise potential sleep disruptions and provide supports such as temporary changes to shift
  patterns or the ability to swap shifts, as well as flexible working arrangements (e.g., a later start
  and finish time). Additionally, staff can be empowered to work from home on an ad hoc basis if
  they have had a rough night.
- Use work health and safety expertise to provide risk assessments and develop a plan for
  reasonable adjustments based on symptoms such as migraines or joint pain. This may also
  require expertise (e.g., occupational physicians, who can help develop monitoring systems to
  identify and support those experiencing severe perimenopausal symptoms).<sup>282</sup> If required, the
  worker's health professionals may be able help communicate needs and guidance on
  appropriate supports.
- Address the increasingly sedentary nature of professional, office-based work<sup>266</sup> which is
  associated with increased perimenopausal symptoms. Encourage movement beyond the desk.
- More broadly, provide reliable health education and resources for women via internal websites. This would help women know what to expect, rather than experience menopause as an 'unanticipated event'; 2 in 3 women report they did not know what to expect in approaching menopause.<sup>276</sup>
- Increase social connection through workplace support groups, mentoring and coaching, all of which will reduce isolation of those experiencing menopause.
- **Provide women with access to external support** to cater for women who want to maintain their privacy.
- Notice and appreciate the qualities that older female workers bring to the organisation.
   This could include their steadiness, experience, insight or wisdom. Women are a reliable, committed and resilient segment of the workforce.
- **Embed menopause into existing policies** (e.g., flexible work or fatigue management) or list of reasonable adjustments. Some organisations opt for a menopause policy to help bring about a culture shift and to make organisational supports explicit.

# Individual level strategies<sup>280</sup>

- Educate yourself about this life transition and the steps you can take to help yourself.
- Have fans or a water spray available and dress in adjustable layers to ease hot flushes.

- Adjust diet and nutrition to help meet the needs of a changing body, boost energy levels and mitigate perimenopausal fatigue.
- **Increase active movement**, such as walking at meal breaks. Exercise can help reduce hot flushes, boost mood, reduce anxiety, promote sleep and aid concentration.
- Take regular energy breaks to help reset energy, focus and mood.
- Adopt brain-friendly work styles such as minimising multitasking, and scheduling distractionfree time for important focused work.
- **Keep the lines of communication open with management** to request flexible work arrangements or other accommodations, if needed.
- Get advice from health professionals who are knowledgeable about menopause and treatment options for symptoms. Treatment options including menopausal hormone therapy (MHT), and/or lifestyle changes, can help to manage symptoms such as hot flushes and protect heart health and bone density.
- **Keep perspective**, by remembering menopause is a temporary life stage, and the benefits of women's workplace contribution.

## Gaps in the literature

The above strategies are largely based on organisational practices and experiences, rather than on peer-reviewed literature. Literature addressing perimenopausal transitions in the workplace is scarce, and almost none considers strategies to help organisations manage such transitions more effectively. However, strategies that implement menstrual flexibility and a positive menstrual culture at work may offer some potential models. Additionally, the impact of COVID-19 on perimenopausal women is unclear. While research is investigating the impacts of additional care work during the pandemic, which was disproportionately carried by women, no research is considering perimenopausal transitions. See 282

# Gender transitions and affirmation

#### About these transitions

Another, less frequent, but significant, health-related transition is gender transition: when individuals move from presenting as their assigned sex at birth to expressing a different gender identity.<sup>287</sup> The experience for transgender individuals is diverse. It can range from personally presenting as gender-fluid and changes to preferred pronouns (e.g., they/them), changes in attire and presentation, through to hormonal and/or surgical gender affirmation interventions. However, little information has been collected on the experiences of gender transitions in the workforce.<sup>288</sup>

Gender transition can be both a legal and a physical process. In some countries, such as the UK and the USA, individuals transitioning from male to female (MtF) and from female to male (FtM) must undergo a 'real life experience' before receiving gender affirmation surgery. During this period, individuals must fully present as their affirmed gender in all areas of their life, including the workplace. Transitioning in the workplace can be a highly stressful period and renders transitioning workers vulnerable to health and safety issues, including workplace harassment and bullying by colleagues, managers and clients. 290-293

Gay, lesbian, bisexual and transgender and gender diverse workers may experience some common issues in the workplace. However, transgender individuals are typically a smaller minority than lesbian, bisexual, and gay individuals, and so face additional challenges that can make them feel

more isolated at work.<sup>294</sup> Significant challenges can include being perceived as 'deviant,' and departing from gender norms, increased prejudice and discrimination as a member of a minority group, concerns about identity management and decisions about how much personal information to share with co-workers.<sup>290, 295</sup> Those who undergo gender affirmation surgery may encounter unique social, physical, and psychological challenges.<sup>296, 297</sup> General attitudes towards transgender individuals are often more hostile than those towards gay, lesbian or bisexual individuals,<sup>294</sup> and can lead to more severe outcomes.<sup>296, 298</sup> Some social relationships will also change for the worse. Many trans people will be rejected by co-workers, friends and family members, potentially leading to depression, anxiety and suicide.<sup>295, 299</sup>

Changed perceptions of competence are also common and can have significant financial and psychological impacts. Those who transition FtM can experience no change or a slight increase in pay, and no change in views of competence. However, those who transition MtF can experience a significant decrease in pay, status and perceived competence. Notably, keeping silent on their experience due to risks of discrimination is a factor when deciding to disclose affirmed gender. Some individuals keep the matter private because the consequences of disclosure may seem greater than the benefits. Many individuals experience burnout and eventually leave their organisation if they feel they have to deviate from their authentic self to fit with organisational values.<sup>300</sup>

Strategies and opportunities to support successful transition Organisation level strategies

Transgender people who feel supported and accepted at work have a better chance of completing their transition. Organisations that develop LGBTIQA+ inclusive practices benefit from positive worker attitudes, higher quality work and staff retention. For example, healthcare and community services agencies can become a Rainbow Tick accredited provider across 6 standards. A Gender Agenda<sup>301</sup> developed *Supporting gender transition in the workplace: A toolkit for ACT employers,* which provides valuable organisational strategies:

- The 'first contact' that a worker makes with their management team to signal their intention to transition in the workplace is critical. The manager plays an essential role in helping to facilitate a smooth, discrimination-free experience for the worker by involving the individual in all steps, respecting their decisions around privacy and confidentiality especially in the early stages and providing a support team of management, colleagues, representatives and/or external parties who support the worker's wellbeing.
- Practical supports should be provided. These can include gender transition leave, access to preferred facilities (e.g., toilets), suitable uniforms that match the person's gender identity, and modifying documentation and records to reflect the person's preferred name and pronouns, acknowledging the worker's gender identity and demonstrating respect and acceptance. 302
- Be aware of and actively manage implicit bias. For example, FtM individuals are afforded greater authority and respect from others after transition.<sup>303, 304</sup> Conversely, MtF individuals report that their competence was devalued after they transitioned; trans women were assumed to be less skilled and less knowledgeable.<sup>305, 306</sup>
- Be aware of workplace discrimination. Evidence shows many trans workers are dismissed after transitioning, purportedly for competence-related reasons but more likely due to prejudice and discomfort on the part of employers.<sup>287, 307</sup> If transgender individuals 'come out' as their affirmed gender, they can reap the rewards of complete identity integration. They may also more easily navigate HR policies and workplace relationships, which are ultimately likely to produce better personal identity and psychosomatic outcomes<sup>308, 309</sup> and workplace attitudes.<sup>310</sup>

- Encourage greater organisational awareness around transgender individuals. Even a low level of background knowledge can support more positive attitudes. Failing to acknowledge and hear transgender voices demonstrates a lack of commitment by employers to support transgender workers and create a fully inclusive workplace environment. This, in turn, deprives organisations of the benefits that can arise from becoming more inclusive. For example, inclusive environments enhance worker attitudes, and are associated with higher work quality. Supportive diversity environments can also report higher sales per hour, this higher levels of sales growth and higher customer satisfaction. Not feeling safe and accepted in the workplace can have a deleterious effect on trans workers' productivity.
- Include transgender and gender diversity issues within broader diversity and inclusion training. For example, this could include information about trans identities, pronouns and gender inclusive language. However, diversity initiatives should not be compliance activities and 'box-ticking exercises', but genuine and deeper engagement. Examples include face-to-face learning, scenarios and role plays, awareness raising and a focus on issues of concern for transgender and gender diverse staff and clients. Transgender voices are worth listening to for their own sake, so that the workplace experiences of trans workers are understood and improved, and to contribute to a safe and productive workplace for all staff.
- Support lived experience groups and peer mentoring support. Look for opportunities to establish a queer or trans support group in your workplace or industry. This could involve external support, or allowing LGBT+ staff in the workplace to plan and implement such projects. Such time commitments should be acknowledged, with paid time allowed in the work plans of transgender and queer workers to attend meetings. For smaller businesses, this could also be enabled by establishing queer mentoring programs within your sector.
- Provide access to suitably skilled Employee Assistance Programs (EAPs). It is important that
  your EAP services include practitioners who have expertise in supporting transgender and gender
  diverse individuals in the workplace.<sup>318</sup> Many individuals experiencing gender transitions feel
  they have to educate the professional staff around them, such as medical practitioners and
  counsellors, about their specific health needs. An EAP provider with relevant training and
  experience can reduce this burden and make the service more useful.
- Train your HR team on the health needs of transgender and gender diverse workers.
- Provide a confidential point of contact so transgender or gender-questioning workers can
  discuss plans and raise any complaints. A designated HR team member (either the same, or a
  different individual) can support managers and co-workers who have questions about how to
  best support transgender workers.

#### Individual level strategies

- Find a good healthcare team who specialise in gender affirmation and can link you to relevant support services. Services should follow guidelines regarding standards of care, such as those developed by the World Professional Association for Transgender Health (www.wpath.org). This can help to explore your options about forms of care in a safe and positive environment. While some gender-diverse individuals can find it hard to trust health professionals, it is important to find someone you feel comfortable with. If you are in a regional or rural area where services are more limited, telehealth services may be an important part of your care.
- Focus on physical and mental health. As far as possible, maintain a healthy diet and sleep routine, reduce use of drugs and alcohol, and engage in regular exercise to help improve mood and connect with your body in positive ways.

- **Build personal resources**, e.g., connect with positive family, friends and peers, take time away from social media and engage in self-care.
- **Take time** to discover what feels right for you in how you express your identity and gender. This does not have to meet others' standards or stereotypes.
- The right support is key. For many trans and gender diverse individuals, starting to present as your felt gender identity can raise mixed feelings. It can be both anxiety provoking (in relation to concerns about the reactions of others), but also build confidence (in their ability to live in their affirmed gender role), support at this time is crucial to protect mental health and wellbeing.

### Gaps in the literature

As an emerging area of research and scholarship, literature regarding gender transitions in the workplace and the impact on mental health and wellbeing is quite limited. There are gaps in longer-term evaluations of strategies and approaches. Such longitudinal work would complement existing and developing literature, and importantly, all research should include those with lived experience, rather than targeting them as an 'othered' group.

# 6: Relocation transitions

#### About this transition

Australians are highly mobile, with 40% of the population changing their residence every 5 years. According to the Australian Bureau of Statistics, in 2021, Australians relocated more than ever, largely between states and from metropolitan cities to regional areas. This has been partly attributed to the COVID-19 pandemic. But, it also reflects longer-term migration patterns between capital cities and regional areas across Australia and different push and pull factors in different regions. By 2030, an estimated 1.35 million Australians will live overseas, with one-third in Asia, although Covid-related impacts are difficult to determine.

Most decisions to relocate are associated with age and key life events, such as education, entering the labour market, career opportunities, seeking to improve personal and financial opportunities and forming relationships. Young adults are the most mobile population segment. Many individuals relocate for personal and financial opportunities. Youth also move for economic independence or advanced education. Demographic factors historically favour young people moving from regional areas to capital cities. Older adults are less likely to move, but when they do, are more likely to move from capital cities to regional areas. Workers often follow job opportunities to improve their life situation or for financial necessity. Relative access to jobs and house prices also influences decisions to move within states or territories.

In addition to event-related reasons, relocation can also be considered as either voluntary (i.e., moving for familial or personal reasons), or involuntary (i.e., triggered by external events such as workplace relocation or closure). These changes can affect workers' mental health and wellbeing, given the social impacts and potential costs and rewards.

## Risks and mental health and wellbeing challenges

Relocating is a significant life event associated with a 'high risk of uncertainty and stress' for workers<sup>325</sup> and their families.<sup>326, 327-330</sup> It often involves multiple life changes, all of which carry potential stress: new roles, finances, partner's employment and educational engagement for children, immigration, living conditions, work hours, responsibilities and conditions, residence, social activities and access to family. It involves operational and emotional stressors, culture shock and adapting to the new location, potential discrimination, workplace etiquette, family and relationship challenges, and readapting at the end of finite relocations.<sup>322</sup>

**Operational stress** includes stress involved with starting a new job: new expectations, management and practices. Some unease is unavoidable, and can be very stressful, especially initially. Although it may not be vocalised or even valid, workers relocating can perceive pressure to perform, fit in and get up to speed as quickly as possible, given the costs and prestige associated with being selected. Often companies have invested in talent and upskilling, so the relocation involves greater work responsibilities which can add to stress. However, whatever the reason for the move, operational stress usually dissipates over time, <sup>322</sup> and can be managed as an aspect of work-related stress, with reasonable job demands, good support and a level of autonomy and a healthy psychosocial work climate. <sup>331, 332</sup>

**Emotional stress**<sup>322</sup> is far less predictable, and more likely to be prolonged and place longerterm strain on the relocated person. Emotional stress presents a risk to mental health and wellbeing and is associated with being 'homesick' from a loss of existing social networks<sup>333</sup> and sense of place attachment.<sup>334</sup> Most people have a 'sense of home'—an emotionally based zone of comfort, which can support and strengthen them in difficult times.<sup>322</sup> Relocated workers may not realise their emotional bonds for 'home' have been fractured or severed. Employers, too, may lose sight of, or ignore, a person's 'sense of home' when considering relocation, whether employer or individual-initiated. A challenge with relocating can be learning how to cope with being away from normal support networks, which can result in feeling lonely. While the experience can positively push people out of their comfort zones, it can also feel isolating at times. Many relocating workers struggle with loneliness and missing home and their network of family, friends and wider community (e.g., religious, sporting, hobby, volunteer and other social groups). If the relocation is overseas, they can also find it difficult to make new connections, especially if there is a language barrier.

**Culture shock** refers to disorientation when subjected to an unfamiliar culture, environment or way of life.<sup>335</sup> This can include moving within Australia. Culture shock can lead to anxiety, excitement, loss of confidence, loneliness and uncertainty. Differences in living standards and norms may cause discomfort. Cultural issues are often overlooked when moving to seemingly similar locations. At times, these situations are assumed to be less stressful and therefore require less preparation. However, poor preparation is anecdotally associated with higher stress than a well-prepared international move with greater recognised adjustment needs.

The destination itself may also cause additional stress. For example, moving house is one of the top 5 most stressful situations individuals experience. Relocating is a significant upheaval and is associated with uncertainty and stress for workers and their families. Those moving to high-risk destinations requiring further security experience even greater anxiety associated with limited choices about where to live, restricted travel options, security personnel and contingency and emergency planning. Differences in living standards and norms may cause discomfort; some arrangements may be considered of a lower standard or perhaps more expensive, with challenges around obtaining standard goods and local restrictions (e.g., bans on public alcohol consumption). Destinations where residents have live-in staff can be challenging for people who find it disruptive or intrusive. Remote or harsh conditions such as mine sites and deserts can compound isolation pressures and weather disparities can impact lifestyle choices. 337

Relocating workers and their families can experience discrimination. Sexual orientation, religion or gender can prompt discrimination within Australia and particularly overseas. Someone with a disability or a family member with a medical condition relocating to a less-resourced location may experience discrimination.<sup>338</sup> Relocations to improve diversity can be challenging for both the individual and the organisation. For example, increasing numbers of women in mining locations must be managed to avoid risks of gender-based harassment.

Workplace etiquette can be a significant issue for relocated workers. Within workplaces, even in the same organisation, communication differences can be significant, particularly manager/team relationships, the degree of formality, modes of giving and receiving feedback, accountability and humour. Those who previously deployed such tools well in their home environment may struggle in a new location, which may affect confidence and effectiveness.

Family and relationship pressures can be profound, affecting the worker and their family.<sup>322</sup> As well as work pressures, workers are usually concerned about ensuring partners or family members are comfortable and confident with the relocation. This can include extended family or elderly parents, who may experience reduced support. A partner or spouse may need to leave their own job and have limited work options due to immigration laws in some destinations, placing additional pressure on the relationship and family.<sup>339</sup> Relocating can impact a worker's engagement at work;

research shows spousal/partner adjustment to a job transfer affected the worker's performance and job satisfaction.<sup>340</sup> Adolescent children can experience increased distress, partly due to problems in establishing social relationships.<sup>341</sup> Some research suggests workers whose families have well-established social networks in their community are perhaps less well equipped to effectively manage relocation transitions.<sup>342</sup> Further, sociological and epidemiological studies suggest higher rates of suicide among relocated workers than non-movers, especially younger movers.<sup>343</sup>

Lastly, **repatriation and the end of finite placements** can be challenging. Some international relocations may result in workers no longer being suitable to return to roles in Australia due to seniority or specialisation. Workers may choose to continue their career internationally, with associated considerations for themselves and family, or return to redundancy.

For relocations for defined and finite periods, returning home can present its own challenges: re-integrating children into old schools or finding new schools, re-establishing old social and personal networks, and re-integrating with the company, but potentially at a higher level than previous colleagues. Attention to attrition and retention post-relocation is critical, particularly when a worker now has more marketable skillsets, or is unhappy on return.

### The potential impacts at individual, team and organisation levels

Relocation is a significant life event, potentially affecting people's mental health and wellbeing in both the short and long term. For the individual, relocation costs money, takes time, and can be aggravating, stressful, and potentially damaging to the family structure. Home and, perhaps more accurately, one's 'sense of home', is left behind for work, career and financial or other opportunities, whether temporarily (e.g. fixed-term secondments) or permanently. A 'home' near friends and relatives and a life grounded in valued memories and experiences is exchanged for a house, or apartment, in a new place, among strangers.

Stress, adjustment problems and loneliness are potential risks, and in the case of relocation failure, loss of self-esteem. Relocation failures can occur for a range of reasons, both organisational and personal. Workers may terminate the relocation due to unsustainable impacts and compromises for them, their partner or children, or due to changes in circumstances (e.g., parent illness). This can trigger clauses that involve significant financial repayments. While self-initiated moves (i.e., applications for transfer and/or promotion by the individual, rather than requests by the organisation) may receive less formal and organisational support, they are typically characterised by similar issues. A worker's perceived level of control over the relocation (i.e., voluntary or involuntary) can have varying impacts on their personal mental health and wellbeing.

Gender and age may also be important factors in adjustment to relocation.<sup>344</sup> Because geographic moves are most often initiated to further men's careers, men tend to evaluate relocation experiences more favourably than their partners. The impact on families is also significant. Partners of men transferred for job related reasons report high levels of depression, with boredom, loneliness and feelings of loss, sadness and vulnerability.<sup>344</sup> Partners may have to take on many of the logistical responsibilities associated with moving, as the worker adjusts to their new role. This often includes being the main contact for relocation companies and services, and organising visas, vaccines, flights, schooling, medical, housing, utilities, freight, selling and buying property, cleaning and inspections, packing and unpacking household goods and insurance. Partners may feel pressure to find work for financial reasons, or may experience resentment if immigration restrictions inhibit their ability to work. Partners can experience additional isolation or added responsibilities if the worker relocates to a remote worksite, or is engaged in fly in fly out (FIFO) work.

Dependent children may be worried about fitting into new peer groups, while maintaining ties to old friends, especially if there are plans to return to the original destination. They may also enter the school year out of schedule, or be presented with curriculum at different levels. For this reason, some expatriate children enrol in International Baccalaureate programs, which are scholastically demanding, and may not be a good fit for all.

Lastly, relocating pets can bring significant pressures. Australia has one of the highest rates of pet ownership per capita,<sup>345</sup> and surveys of Australian pet owners suggest the vast majority view animals as family members.<sup>346</sup> Relocations are stressful for pets, which can in turn impact the wellbeing of their owners. In particular, international relocations often require extensive quarantine periods, and may not be feasible for some pets, especially older animals. It can involve difficult decisions around whether to leave them behind or subject them to quarantine.

Relocations also impact teams and organisations: a single relocating worker may have many touchpoints, including internally with senior management, old and new business managers, human resources, talent and recruitment management, and with external suppliers, clients and stakeholders. All may be impacted positively or negatively. Relocations of entire teams or workplaces involve significant team and organisational impacts given the scale of change for all involved.<sup>347</sup>

There is sparse research about the team or organisational impacts of individual-level relocations. However, expatriate success and corresponding psychological capital offers positive organisational benefits, while relocation failures are financially costly and can negatively impact corporate reputations.<sup>348</sup>

Strategies and opportunities to support successful transition Organisation level strategies

Teams and organisations play an important role in supporting relocation preparation and successful integration:

- Assess the worker's readiness for relocation,<sup>349</sup> and their familial attachments, ties and requirements. Cross cultural training may be appropriate for international moves.<sup>350</sup>
- Ensure the worker has well-documented copies of their relocation terms and conditions and has been guided through them, providing the opportunity for any questions.
- Offer practical support and resources to help workers, especially those with families, to find and access their support needs. Support could include information about childcare, schools and colleges, community and sporting groups, spiritual groups, healthcare services and other forms of social and emotional support. Practical short-term measures such as assistance with transport on arrival, and a local buddy, can help with integration. A relocation handbook (online or printed) for relevant destinations could assist, including contact information about local activities, events and happenings to give workers opportunities to get to know their local community. Organisations may consider offering a paid 'familiarisation visit' so the worker and their partner (plus accompanying children if beneficial) can build awareness and insights into the proposed relocation and any challenges.
- **Provide information about local cultural, professional and working practices,** such as changes in working hours, communication styles or other nuances. Information about local taxation and governmental requirements, banking and other financial matters is also valuable.
- Encourage managers to meet more regularly with the new worker, particularly in the first few months to provide support and guidance. Organise a 'welcome' to introduce the worker to the

- team. Resourcing inclusive team building activities and events can also be helpful, as well as providing any additional training.
- Provide financial support for the physical relocation, such as assistance with transport and
  housing costs, packing and shipping personal belongings, and helping a partner or children settle
  into their new home, and visas and taxation assistance for international relocates. Other financial
  supports could include vouchers or payments so workers can try out new local facilities (e.g.,
  gyms, social and community groups or local restaurants). Practical and instrumental supports
  help workers and their families adjust and find their new normal.
- Provide organisational and financial support for the partner or family. Extended support is critical for a successful transition. Family support is one of the strongest predictors of psychological adjustment of expatriate partners to relocation,<sup>351</sup> and employer-provided spousal support is critical to enhance spousal adjustment and reduce expatriate failure rates.<sup>351</sup> The most common reason for assignment failure is inadequate organisational support for the worker and their family, leading to inconsistencies between workers' expectations of organisational support and their perceptions or lived realities.<sup>352</sup> Support may include paying for school or childcare fees; this support positively influences adjustment in a new location.<sup>353</sup> An organisation may also allow the worker and family members to return home, often annually, to help maintain both workplace and social connections. Family support can reduce the worker's relocation stress by managing expectations of difficulties and offering ways to solve problems.<sup>354</sup> This is particularly important for vulnerable groups, such as migrant or refugee workers, who may have fewer personal resources.<sup>355</sup>
- **Provide financial support for workers in 'hardship locations'**, such as remote areas or relocations with a high degree of adjustment between old and new destination.
- Consider temporary placements in relocation policies. Workers who 'fly in fly out' (FIFO) of remote or dangerous locations are vulnerable to relocation impacts and mental health issues, especially when they are away for long periods from any family members, social networks or pets. They can be particularly vulnerable to loneliness, because they are less likely to invest in establishing relationships in the new location.<sup>356</sup>
- **Consider 'peer-to-peer' support.** Introduce relocating workers to work colleagues who can provide further guidance in the initial weeks/months. Encourage partners to develop a social network to support themselves and any children.
- **Provide cross cultural training for international moves** including explicit information about local cultural, professional and working practices.
- Consider providing mental health resources. This could be sessions with a trained counsellor or internal human resources, or documented ideas on how to build social networks (e.g., business networks, volunteering, hobby groups, sporting or music clubs, school or community groups) and where to reach out for further support.
- Consider an end-of-relocation interview to gain further insights and to manage any issues.
- Some companies offer flexibility in policies and procedures, which is desirable, but should not compromise issues of health and safety. For example, rather than flights being booked centrally, workers may receive a cash allowance to organise their own flights. However, it is still important to encourage safety, (e.g., business class for long-haul flights, which are more appropriate from a health and safety perspective, especially when people work immediately after the flight). Managing exception requests is common and must be handled promptly, consistently and sensitively to promote equity and minimise anxiety.

### Individual level strategies

The better the **pre-move relocation preparation**, the better the person's post-move mental health and job-related contentment and enthusiasm.<sup>357</sup> Some key recommendations for workers include the following:

- **Seek out information** about the relocation, and speak with others, especially those with experience of a similar relocation to set realistic expectations.
- If possible, spend time in the new location before making a permanent commitment to increase confidence in the decision to move.
- Arrange to speak regularly with the new manager and any human resource specialists who can
  provide ongoing support and guidance, and clarify terms and conditions to reduce
  misunderstandings about costs and challenges.
- **Find out about local services, cultural norms and nuances** (even if moving from metropolitan to rural areas) and if relevant, learn local languages and customs.
- Engage with the local community to help build a sense of belonging. Consider joining business
  networks, hobby groups, sporting or music clubs, school or community groups to expand your
  social networks and support. Develop friendships with like-minded work colleagues and
  neighbours. If a dog owner, visit local known pet parks to meet other pet owners. Actively
  engage with local activities and events to meet others living nearby.
- **Enable children to maintain existing support groups** whether online or in person, especially if you expect to home and their old school.
- Recognise a relocation can have a high degree of uncertainty or stress and seek support for mental health as needed. Organisations often provide these resources or speak with your local GP.

#### Gaps in the literature

Australian research about outcomes and strategies to support intra-country relocations is limited. The available literature largely focuses on organisations where relocation is normalised, such as the military, diplomatic services or multinational organisations. However, additional and deliberate strategies are required for less common relocations. Future research could also investigate work and non-work domains, particularly assessing the psychosocial processes underlying perceptions of stress, and coping mechanisms used by those that move without serious difficulty.

Employers need information on the broader implications of relocation stress, especially at the family level. More can be done at the organisation level in reducing relocation stress among expatriates and families. Investigating cost-effective means of supporting relocating workers and their families should be considered a priority,<sup>354, 355</sup> particularly when extended family members might be impacted, such as older parents.

# 7: Crises and career shocks

#### About these transitions

Some life changes are predictable, planned for and occur as and when desired; other events such as separation, bereavement or a pandemic, come 'out of the blue'. These events can be termed *chance events*—unexpected, and perhaps unwanted events, that can cause significant distress and involve loss, including a loss of personal control.<sup>358</sup> They cannot be proactively prepared for, and even when known, the effects or impacts are unanticipated.<sup>358</sup>

Chance events can act as 'career shocks': "...disruptive and extraordinary events that are, at least to some degree, caused by factors outside the individual's control and trigger a deliberate thought process concerning one's career". Negative career shocks are "...events that have a potential negative impact on the individual's career".

Chance events can be both positive and negative, and in fact positive chance events may be more common for career transitions. Research demonstrates we tend to remember events with high impact and low personal control. However, serendipitous positive chance events are also common—seen as being in 'the right place at the right time'—and can trigger self-directed career changes. The Chaos Theory of careers he seplores this concept. Chance events require people to be flexible, aware of potential opportunities, adaptable and able to plan for contingencies, so that they, and organisations, can take advantage of unexpected events. There is also the potential for positive re-adaption. For example, studies of the COVID-19 lockdowns are finding workers have embraced the required changes, and are experiencing better working conditions (i.e., greater flexible work) and greater work—life balance. He seems to see the second s

However, many chance and unanticipated events (and non-events) are unwanted and can bring with them significant distress—bereavement, divorce or separation, work or personal crises. And even when anticipated, these events are still unwanted and distressing, with some loss of control.

Career shocks disrupt and reshape our assumptions of the world and our identity (e.g., divorce means loss of a relationship, social support and perhaps increased financial vulnerability) with impacts on career choices and trajectories. These events or 'career shocks' can trigger people to reassess their career and seek a new path (e.g., change employment or undertake further education). Some people become disengaged. Factors relating to the event can also affect a person's career path. For example, they can be associated with location changes (e.g., moving office) or major changes in routine (e.g., becoming a primary carer).

Many Australian workers are affected by unexpected events. Between 2020 and 2021, 49,510 divorces were granted (i.e., an increase of 8% over 12 months). <sup>366</sup> Separation and divorce are consistently associated with negative mental health experiences, particularly when high conflict is involved. Studies show an increased risk for depression and suicide in men after divorce: they experience a 6-fold increase in risk for depression, and are 8 times more likely to die by suicide than women. <sup>367, 368</sup>

The loss of a loved one is one of the most common traumatic experience. A high proportion of an organisation's workforce is directly affected by bereavements each year. Some bereavements will be expected, but others will be unexpected: around 9 lives are lost daily to suicide in 2020<sup>369</sup> and road deaths increased by 2.3% in 2022 (ie., 1,134 road deaths).<sup>370</sup>

People can also experience *non-events:* events that are expected, wanted and often normative, but do not happen, involving dissapointment and loss of 'what could have been'.<sup>371</sup> For example, miscarriages are not unusual; up to 25% of confirmed pregnancies end in miscarriage before 20 weeks.<sup>372</sup> On average, 6 babies are stillborn and 2 die within 28 days of birth every day in Australia.<sup>372</sup> While non-events sound benign, they can be particularly challenging to overcome.

Lastly, broader extreme events (e.g., such as fires, floods, droughts, pandemics or even terrorist incidents) can create large-scale disruption, with impacts for individuals, communities and organisations. They must be considered within business risk planning.<sup>373, 374</sup>

# Risks and mental health and wellbeing challenges

Career shocks and unanticipated events can create major and/or chronic life stressors that negatively affect a person's mental health.<sup>375</sup> People facing loss experience a great sense of burden, shock and confusion,<sup>376</sup> and may report grief; this process affects their sense of self, emotions, relationships with others and life more generally.<sup>377, 378</sup> This disruption can result in psychological distress and psychological or emotional trauma.<sup>379</sup>

Unexpected loss of a loved one through death<sup>380</sup> is one of the most frequently reported traumatic experiences, an is associated with developing mental health disorders.<sup>381</sup> Separation and divorce are also consistently associated with adverse mental and physical outcomes.<sup>382, 383</sup> Nonevents can be equally challenging, such as the impact of infertility.<sup>384</sup>

For an individual, the impact of loss may not disappear after the immediate event is over or when they return to work.<sup>378</sup> Workers who experience major loss tend to take increased sick leave, reduce their work hours, show increased redundancy rates, and are more likely to change jobs.<sup>376</sup> Their economic wellbeing may also suffer, from reduced work and especially if they lost their partner (i.e., household income may be reduced by half or even more).<sup>385</sup>

Major unexpected events can also trigger career deliberations and lead to new career path, 386 via further education or a new job. 358 Work motivation and career goals can also change. 559 For example, some people may be less engaged with work, and so do not take career opportunities when they arise. 587 Factors relating to the event can also affect a person's career path. For example, some events (e.g., marriage or elder care) can lead to geographical career transitions, such as moving office or locations.

#### The potential impacts at team and organisation levels

At the organisation level, loss and grief are associated with increased absenteeism, increased disengagement from work and presenteeism when staff return to work.<sup>378</sup> Workplace cultures may be impacted if the worker's colleagues have to pick up additional work. Colleagues may also adopt the behaviours and feelings of those around them (i.e., called emotional contagion), which can impact team engagement and attitudes at work.<sup>378</sup> Organisations can also face financial costs from unresolved grief.<sup>388</sup> Career shocks starting in the workplace, such as a fall-out with a manager or colleagues, are associated with organisational exits and higher turnover rates.<sup>389,390</sup>

# Strategies and opportunities to support successful transition Organisation level strategies

• Encourage leaders and colleagues to acknowledge workers' losses and career shocks and offer kindness and practical help to promote a supportive workplace culture.<sup>391</sup>

- Develop and promote guidelines and policies (e.g., **bereavement policies**) to support bereaved or grieving workers and ensure they receive the right guidance from managers.<sup>392</sup> Policies to support workers who are experiencing separation, divorce, and suicide are also beneficial.
- As with all transitions, position the person in the centre of their decisions. Provide an open door
  for conversation if they would like to discuss what they are experiencing and supporting them to
  lead negotiations on support arrangements. Significantly, separation and divorce can take years
  to finalise, so support may be required over an extended period.
- Increase leave entitlements, such as compassionate and bereavement leave. 385, 391 Consider offering options for workers to negotiate additional leave entitlements to manage divorce and separation (e.g., extended leave of absence or purchasing additional annual leave to manage school holidays).
- Be aware of cultural norms related to bereavement. For example, certain cultural or religious
  practices require people to engage in formalised rituals, such as returning with the body to a
  particular region, and observing anniversaries. Asking the person about such practices
  demonstrates sensitivity.
- Provide training or group workshops and guidelines on how to offer information and practical skills on preparing for and responding to a loss. Topics could include how to identify impacted workers, what support they need and how to continually monitor for declining mental health,<sup>378</sup> and leader/manager training around supportive leadership behaviours and resources. Staff may benefit from access to career coaching and support, where they learn behavioural strategies to develop a growth mindset, reframe career goals, build strong career networks and seek out training and development opportunities.<sup>393</sup>
- If individuals are experiencing domestic or intimate partner violence, provide family and domestic violence leave (including as required by law). Have a policy to help people access and plan for their safety, attend court and use police services. Unpaid family and domestic leave is already included in the National Employment Standards.<sup>394</sup> However, the recent provisional decision of the Fair Work Commission (May 2022) includes paid family and domestic violence leave for all permanent award workers.<sup>395</sup> The organisation can also offer flexible working arrangements, ensure privacy, implement safety measures and promote access to support services internally and externally.

# Individual level strategies

- Engage the support of colleagues, friends and families, especially those who are empathetic listeners. If possible, leaders should encourage staff to access external mental health support, whether through Employee Assistance Programs (EAPs) or other services via a GP or primary health care provider.
- Engage with the local community to help build a new sense of belonging.
- Maintain a regular routine, structure and self-care activities as much as possible.<sup>378</sup>
- Change work designs and shift arrangements if possible. Examples include flexible work options
  and a phased return to work if leave is taken with initial reduced duties.<sup>391</sup> Temporary reductions
  in workloads and setting realistic expectations can help to mitigate against staff presenteeism.<sup>378</sup>

# Gaps in the literature

The individual, team and organisation level impacts of unexpected and non-events, and strategies to support workers remain largely unexplored. There is a significant lack of research addressing the impacts of unanticipated events at team and/or organisation levels. While some research examines the role of significant life events in determining people's work adjustment, <sup>396</sup> and work engagement and performance, <sup>397</sup> studies examining the longer-term career consequences of

life events seem virtually non-existent. Most research examining individual and organisation interventions focuses on how to support individual workers experiencing personal grief, rather than addressing the organisation level strategies to address career consequences of unexpected events and non-events more broadly.



# 8: Late career and transition to retirement

#### About this transition

Globally, the population is ageing; the proportion of older adults is estimated to almost double from 12% to 22% by 2050. The Australian population aged over 65 is expected to increase from 15% in 2017 to 20% by 2037. Further, more older Australians (e.g. 50 years or over) participate in the labour force, rising from 47% in early 2000 to 67% today. Several factors are driving this demographic change, including increased cost of living, longer lifespans, low fertility rates and longer working lives. The ageing workforce is 1 of 6 megatrends affecting work health and safety over the next 20 years. A significant portion of working Australians fall into the 'late career' category, many of whom are planning for and approaching retirement. In 2018-19, there were 3.9 million retirees with an average intended retirement age of 65.5 years.

'Late career' refers to the life stage when people adjust to the prospect of retirement. Work-related goals, decisions and experiences are reconsidered, under the influence of personal, social, economic and organisational factors. Traditionally, older workers were those aged 50–70 years (although the World Health Organization defines older workers as those over 45 years). However, 2 significant social changes are disrupting the traditional late career and retirement phase of life. Tirst, medical improvements mean people live longer and healthier lives, and can work well past previous retirement ages. Second, not everyone is financially able to spend these extra years of healthy living without an income. Changes to pension entitlements and the practicalities of saving sufficient superannuation can limit retirement.

Individual experiences of late-career vary greatly. 404 For some people, it is a period of growth, moving into leadership and more responsibility. Others experience a period of maintenance where they continue to work as they previously have. Some people ramp-down work hours, while others pivot into new roles or industries. Sadly, some people find late career decisions are outside their control due to redundancy or personal circumstances.

For many Australians, late career ends with some form of retirement from paid work. The top 3 reasons Australians retire are:

- they reach retirement age or become eligible for superannuation (46%)
- they retire due to sickness injury or disability (21%)
- they are retrenched, dismissed or unable to find work (11%).<sup>402</sup>

Financial security is the main factor influencing Australians' retirement decisions. 402 Further, 56% of Australians not yet retired worry about not having enough savings to live comfortably once retired 405 Historically, retirement looked uniform, typically an abrupt and permanent exit from full-time work at 65 years. However, this is changing, with many working longer either by choice or necessity. 406 This trend has been further impacted by COVID-19, with many people having to work longer or re-enter the workforce due to negative financial impacts of the pandemic. 405 Many Australians are also seeking alternative forms of retirement, including phased retirement, transitioning into unpaid work, entering an entirely new field or starting a business.

Another growing trend is the proportion of people 'unretiring', or returning to the workforce after retiring, often driven by financial need or boredom. 407, 408 Of the 70% of Australians who plan to take some form of retirement, only 23% plan to retire fully. 409 Further, 169,000 Australians who had previously retired were planning to look for or take up work in the future. 407, 408

The growing proportion of older workers coupled with the changing nature of late career and retirement means organisations and governments must better understand and support people as they navigate this life phase. Improving employment prospects for older Australians offers benefits beyond the financial, with better employment prospects improving workers' mental health and wellbeing, personal identity, self-esteem and social connections.<sup>1</sup>

## Risks and mental health and wellbeing challenges

People can experience a range of challenges in this late-career stage, which can significantly affect their sense of identity:

- Increased psychological distress. Transition to retirement often comes with significant change and loss (e.g., of identity, tasks, meaning, relationships and structure), which can create psychological distress. 410 Large Australian studies found retirement was associated with increased psychological distress for women and men aged 45–64, and for men aged 65–74 years. 411, 412 Planning for retirement and late-career is complex with people simultaneously looking forward to endless leisure time, worrying about finances, needing direction and purpose, having new and perhaps difficult conversations with loved ones, as well as facing their mortality. Many aspects of this transition feel outside people's control, a key factor making this a difficult and stressful transition. 411, 412 Often retirees can feel overwhelmed by the adjustments and choices that come with this transition, although this can be largely mitigated by proactive, effective and supportive retirement planning. 413, 414 Notably, people who retire involuntarily due to illness, disability or redundancy face higher risks of poor mental health in retirement. 415 highlighting the importance of supporting older workers to plan their retirement.
- A meaningful legacy, which goes beyond money or property. When people talk of their legacy, it
  is about leaving a mark on the world or knowing friends, colleagues or clients have benefitted
  from their efforts. Late-career planning involves being intentional about legacy, and this may
  involve changing jobs or ramping down paid work so people can find greater fulfilment in
  volunteer or family activities.
- **Fear of the unknown.** People are often not equipped to manage unstructured leisure time. Work provides identity, clear roles and routines, as well as social interactions and a sense of purpose and value. Retirement can be associated with a fear of the unknown which can lead people avoiding planning altogether. They suddenly find they have worked full-time right up to retirement without creating new identities and connections in their personal lives.
- Work adjustments. Many age-related stereotypes are myths, but most people experience some age-related decline (i.e., strength, sight, hearing, short-term memory), which may or may not affect their capacity to work. However, fear of being stereotyped or discriminated against leads people to hide physical and mental changes. In some circumstances, avoidable injury occurs at work with detrimental impacts on people's lives and retirement.
- Making decisions. For some people, this is the first time they have been 'free' to follow their own path. Previously influenced by the needs and priorities of families and loved ones, they may not be aware of or know what they want post-retirement. Guidance from professionals and friends can help them explore post-retirement options.
- Age-based discrimination in the workplace. Over a quarter (27%) of Australians aged 50+ years' experience age discrimination in the workplace. An older worker may experience 'stereotype threat'; that is, the older worker feels others see them as confirming an age-related stereotype. 'Stereotype threat' can be triggered by various situations such as comparisons with younger workers, managers making assumptions about career or retirement plans, and being overlooked for training. It can make work more stressful for older workers, eventually resulting in lower work

engagement and performance.<sup>418</sup> Discrimination and 'stereotype threat' are often driven by myths about the skills, motivations, and capabilities of older workers, and can happen from recruitment onwards. This discrimination is linked to decreased wellbeing and increased mental distress.<sup>412</sup> Adults who experience workplace discrimination are also likely to retire earlier than anticipated.<sup>413</sup>

• Ageism in recruitment. This common experience can affect a person's mental health and wellbeing, resulting in adverse workplace outcomes. For example, 1 in 10 Australian organisations report they are unlikely to hire someone who is over 50 years old. <sup>419</sup> This has not changed significantly; a recent study found 46.7% of respondents from the HR community reported an age above which their organisation would be reluctant to recruit. As such, many older jobseekers report being 'shut out' and unable to gain employment. <sup>419</sup> Late career unemployment is associated with lower levels of mental health and has lasting negative effects on satisfaction with life. <sup>415</sup> Further, a 1% increase in unemployment rates at 58 years is associated with a 10% increase in death rates by 79 years. <sup>421</sup> Even if older Australians can secure work, they often face workplace discrimination including ageist jokes, exclusion from training and denial of career-progression. <sup>419</sup>

#### The potential impacts at team and organisation levels

An ageing population presents several unique risks and opportunities for organisations. Organisations that are unprepared for an ageing workforce may face skill shortages, loss of knowledge and experience, person—job fit mismatches, discrimination claims and premature exits. Further, workers who hide age-related decline may prevent necessary work adjustments being made, which in turn, can result in physical or mental injury along with compensation claims.

By contrast, organisations that effectively support older workers may reap benefits including more positive attitudes, higher motivation, better attendance and punctuality, and lower turnover. Moreover, these tangible benefits can continue beyond retirement due to the positive relationship that is established between employers and their alumni. Additionally, mature-aged workers contribute to greater innovation, increased productivity, access to a larger talent pool, and improved customer engagement. Also

On a broader societal level, employing more older workers could deliver around \$78 billion in economic gains, which represents 4.7 % of Australia's GDP.<sup>423</sup> There is a common misconception that hiring and retaining older workers takes jobs away from younger people. However, research does not support this idea. Rather, encouraging later retirement has no adverse effect on youth employment.<sup>424</sup> Indeed, some research suggests increased rates of older employment are associated with increased youth employment.<sup>425</sup> Therefore, supporting people during their late career and retirement can positively impact individuals, organisations and society.

# Strategies to support successful transition Organisation level strategies

Raise awareness and listen to workers. Raise awareness of the value and benefits of an ageing
workforce by educating senior leaders about ageism, 'stereotype threat' and implicit bias.
 Examine the assumptions made about age at each stage of the worker life cycle from recruitment
to retirement and integrate ageing workforce considerations into strategic planning.

- Educate staff about older workers to dispel myths and stereotypes about ageing. Older workers are a heterogenous group that span at least 2 generations. People's needs change from late career through to retirement, and differ between individuals.
- Assess the supports available to older workers. Listen to older workers to understand their needs and concerns, analyse workforce data, and review existing policies and practices. Use feedback and data to identify specific risks and opportunities relating to late-career and transition to retirement.
- Ensure recruitment processes are free from discrimination and bias, by applying fair and evidence-based assessment and selection procedures. Incorporate 'blind recruitment' where possible (i.e., do not require applicants to disclose their age, remove identifying information from documentation, and judge only against inherent job requirements).
- Create an environment that retains older workers and enables them to contribute productively. 426 This can be achieved by building an age-inclusive climate, equipping people leaders to provide specific supports for older workers, providing good flexible work and reasonable adjustment options, and ensuring older workers are given fair development opportunities. 427 Reverse mentoring may also be a valuable strategy. Moreover, high performance cultures more generally benefit older workers.
- Enable knowledge transfer through formal and informal mechanisms. 421 Introduce mentoring or buddy systems that facilitate 2-way learning across different age groups.
- Provide succession planning to help individuals feel comfortable and prepared to retire.
   Organisations can help with retirement transitions by supporting workers to plan effectively, giving people phased retirement options and providing opportunities for retired workers to remain connected to the organisation as professional alumni.
- Actively gather and monitor organisational data regarding trends and issues within the
  workforce. Data can then be used to educate senior leaders about implicit bias and their role in
  stereotyping older workers, raise awareness of the value and benefits presented with an ageing
  workforce and make adjustments in the workplace.
- Introduce a structured transition to retirement approach, training managers on how to initiate timely and constructive retirement conversations. Managers also need to be able to direct people to relevant programs and support, and feel confident checking in with retired workers.
- Upskill managers and supervisors. Train managers in proactively managing fitness for work.
   Managers benefit from a thorough understanding of compliance and legal considerations relating to age discrimination and fitness for work. They need to be equipped to have supportive conversations about adjustments that enable inherent work requirements.
- **Encourage flexible work conversations.** Ensure managers understand best practice flexible working arrangements and have the skills to discuss options with people wanting to ramp down to retirement. Using trial periods can be an effective mechanism to test assumptions around flexible work limitations.
- **Normalise late-career conversations.** Do not wait until pre-retirement to talk about the retirement transition. Integrate career conversations into the worker management framework, and train managers on how to have the conversations across all life stages.
- Deliver age-specific support programs about topics such as health promotion, financial
  management, community engagement and volunteer work, elder care and mental health. These
  programs could be offered specifically to older workers or integrated into an age-inclusive
  wellbeing program. Additionally, an organisation may provide retirement coaching and
  workshops. Workshops can help participants identify their own transition plans, including both
  financial and personal wellbeing and take a more holistic and planned approach to wellbeing as

- they approach retirement.<sup>428</sup> Individualised coaching can help with negotiating specific needs and circumstances.
- Maintain connection with retired workers through initiatives such as annual gatherings, newsletters or social media groups. Alumni groups provide mutual support and social connections, and give employers access to the knowledge and capabilities of retirees if necessary.

#### Individual level strategies

- Good planning is one of the most effective ways people can support their late-career and
  retirement. Taking control over how you transition into retirement is associated with increased
  satisfaction and wellbeing, 413, 414 enabling people to maintain and create the supports needed to
  ensure a successful transition. Further, the sense of agency that comes from planning has the
  largest positive impact. 416, 417
- **Set personal goals.** Planning should go beyond just the financials and consider other aspects of wellbeing such as social connections, family, relationships, health, learning and work (including volunteer work and hobbies). Use values or personal drivers as a framework for setting goals and talk about them with a significant other.
- Late career conversations. Initiating conversations with managers about work is important for older workers' mental health and wellbeing. This may be around flexible work options, mentoring younger workers and/or learning and development opportunities.
- Seek professional support. Often people seek professional advice for financial planning, but equally, many people benefit from coaching to set personal goals and to prepare more thoroughly for late career and retirement conversations at work.

#### Gaps in the literature

Although retirement planning has positive impacts on retiree's mental health, effect are highly dependent on several factors, including personal circumstances, agency over decisions, current health and relationships. 413, 429 One key challenge is that the specific form of retirement planning required can differ significantly between workers. This poses a challenge for organisations and governments wanting to support worker's retirement planning. More research could be done into how best to tailor and deliver retirement planning support in an individualised but scalable way.

Findings are also inconsistent on the impacts of retirement on mental health. Previous research found a multitude of factors can impact retiree wellbeing: psychosocial stressors in late career, financial stability, physical health, voluntary/involuntary retirement and late career unemployment. Further research would help us better identify how some of these variables, as well as other considerations not yet explored, impact retirement wellbeing.

# Conclusions and recommendations

This report highlights a range of career transitions across the lifespan that can impact workers' mental health and wellbeing, and by extension, the culture, functioning and effectiveness of teams and organisations when poorly handled. Supporting workers as they navigate life transitions, promoting and supporting their mental health and wellbeing and creating a mentally healthy workplaces, will enable more Australians to reap the benefits of *Good Work*, as set out in the *Consensus Statement on the Health Benefits of Good Work*. Greater support will also help to avoid the negative impacts of long-term absences from work and unemployment.

Some general themes from this paper are relevant for all organisations:

- 1. Transitions are a natural and normal part of the career journey and must be actively considered in organisational planning, and inform initiatives focused on protecting and promoting worker mental health and wellbeing.
- 2. While organisations and individuals may not have control over the timing or nature of some transitions, most are still likely to occur at some time in most workplaces.
- 3. Proactive planning ensures organisations have resources when such transitions arise. This can include access to information, instrumental support and social support.
- 4. The role of managers and supervisors in supporting workers is critical. As those in the most immediate position of responsibility, they can be a conduit to support, or a barrier. As such, managers and supervisors need training to build confidence and consistency in sensitively supporting workers to manage these various career transitions.
- 5. Key strategies for all transitions are promoting autonomy, providing access to flexible working arrangements, and supporting individuals to remain engaged and connected to the workplace in ways that are meaningful for them. These strategies reduce barriers to return to work particularly after extended leave.
- The literature has significant gaps about organisational strategies to address many of the identified transitions. Investment in applied research and evaluation that reviews the effectiveness of system-level interventions is a significant area for future work.
- 7. Intersectionality is poorly reflected in the existing organisational literature. In particular, complexities experienced by those with multiple minority identities are rarely, if ever, considered, but are important to promote more diverse and equitable organisations.

Arising from these themes are key recommendations that organisations can adopt to support people experiencing all forms of career transitions:

- Understand the demographics of your organisation. Understanding your organisation's unique
  demographics enables identification of the relevant career transitions for your workforce, for
  example, transitions linked to age, life stage and family situation.
- Take a person-centred approach. Placing the individual at the centre of decisions impacting them ensures they can communicate their needs, establish desired boundaries and make changes at their own pace. Ask, do not assume. Everyone's experience and personal circumstances are unique.
- Normalise experiences of change and transition. We all experience various seasons in our
  working lives and will undergo at least some of these transitions. Acknowledgement helps
  workers feel that their experiences are normal, and that they may have a range of responses. It
  also encourages access to support.

- **Enable flexible work arrangements**. By supporting and maximising opportunities for flexible work arrangements, individuals are empowered to make decisions that are best for them in work and life.
- Tailor approaches for individuals and teams by local managers or supervisors. This includes
  maximising personal autonomy in how to meet work requirements, reviewing the demands of
  work and ensuring individuals are informed about, and empowered to access, relevant supports.
- **Be inclusive.** Be intentional in organisational practices that include, rather than exclude, team members experiencing changes. For example, avoid meeting times that may be challenging for those with caring roles or health conditions and adopting language that destignatises changes.
- **Create a learning culture**. Promote and support a learning culture, celebrating learning as an ongoing process, rather than idealising perfection.
- Provide supportive management. This includes managing with sensitivity to the different needs
  of staff, providing clarity in work direction and creating an environment where reasonable work
  demands are balanced with autonomy and support.
- **Provide a range of supports.** This includes practical, emotional and social support, and access to relevant procedures and processes:
  - Practical information can be tailored to individual transitions. This could be presented as a change pack, tip sheets and/or links, and resources to support those navigating change.
     It is important to ensure resources cater for all staff, including those in operational and office-based roles.
  - Emotional support includes access to wellbeing programs, coaching and Employee Assistance Programs (EAPs) from professional providers. It can also include specialist transition support and clear referral pathways for those who are struggling personally. Access to career coaching, training and resources can also help individuals self-manage their own career journeys. However, in some cases, workers are reluctant to access EAPs, potentially due to concerns about limits to confidentiality, or stigma attached to helpseeking, hence a range of other strategies is important.
  - Social support offers connection and advice in times of need and helps reframe identity.
     Peer-support groups can be established in the workplace, (e.g., parent groups, new leadership circles). Mentorship and buddy systems can also be valuable ways to facilitate social support.
  - Access to relevant procedures and processes including workplace entitlements for specific transitions should be easy and open. Individuals contemplating change may feel uncomfortable having to announce this to their manager to seek information. They should be able to access information about entitlement and support independently.

# References

- 1. Royal Australasian College of Physicians, Australasian Faculty of Occupational and Environmental Medicine. Position Statement on Realising the Health Benefits Work Sydney, Australia: Royal Australasian College of Physicians, Australasian Faculty of Occupational and Environmental Medicine,; 2011 [Available from: <a href="https://www.racp.edu.au/advocacy/division-faculty-and-chapter-priorities/faculty-of-occupational-environmental-medicine/health-benefits-of-goodwork">https://www.racp.edu.au/advocacy/division-faculty-and-chapter-priorities/faculty-of-occupational-environmental-medicine/health-benefits-of-goodwork</a>.
- 2. ILO. Work for a brighter future. Geneva, Switzerland: International Labour Organisation; 2019.
- 3. Goodman J, Schlossberg NK, Anderson ML. Counseling adults in transition: Linking practice with theory, 3rd ed. New York, NY, US: Springer Publishing Co; 2006. xvii, 334-xvii, p.
- 4. Bridges W, Bridges S. Transitions: Making Sense of Life's Changes. Revised 40th Anniversary Edition ed. Cambridge: USA: Da Capo Press; 2019.
- 5. Bridges W. Managing transitions: making the most of change. Cambridge, USA: Da Capo Press; 2009.
- 6. Merriam SB. How adult life transitions foster learning and development. New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education. 2005;2005(108):3-13.
- 7. Anderson ML, Goodman J, Schlossberg NK. Counseling adults in transition: Linking Schlossberg's theory with practice in a diverse world. 5th ed. New York, USA: Springer Publishing; 2021.
- 8. MHC. Blueprint for Mentally Healthy Workplaces. National Mental Health Commission (MHC); 2021.
- 9. Kossek EE. Managing work-life boundaries in the digital age. Organizational Dynamics. 2016;45(3):258-70.
- 10. Kossek EE, Lewis S, Hammer LB. Work-life initiatives and organizational change: Overcoming mixed messages to move from the margin to the mainstream. Hum Relat. 2010;63(1):3-19.
- 11. Milner A, Law P, Reavley N. Young workers and mental health: A systematic review of the effect of employment and transition into employment on mental health. Melbourne, Australia: VicHealth; 2019.
- 12. Vuolo M, Staff J, Mortimer JT. Weathering the great recession: Psychological and behavioral trajectories in the transition from school to work. Developmental Psychology. 2012;48(6):1759-73.
- 13. Curtis Breslin F, Polzer J, MacEachen E, Morrongiello B, Shannon H. Workplace injury or "part of the job"?: Towards a gendered understanding of injuries and complaints among young workers. Social Science & Medicine. 2007;64(4):782-93.
- 14. Klug K. Young and at risk? Consequences of job insecurity for mental health and satisfaction among labor market entrants with different levels of education. Economic & Industrial Democracy. 2020;41(3):562-85.
- 15. Einboden R, Choi I, Ryan R, Petrie K, Johnston D, Harvey SB, et al. 'Having a thick skin is essential': mental health challenges for young apprentices in Australia. Journal of Youth Studies. 2021;24(3):355-71.
- 16. Fair Work Ombudsman. Inquiry into the wages and conditions of people working under the 417 Working Holiday Visa Program Canberra, Australia: Fair Work Ombudsman,; 2016.
- 17. Jarden RJ, Jarden A, Weiland TJ, Taylor G, Bujalka H, Brockenshire N, et al. New graduate nurse wellbeing, work wellbeing and mental health: A quantitative systematic review. International Journal of Nursing Studies. 2021;121:103997.
- 18. Feldman DC, Turnley WH. Contingent employment in academic careers: Relative deprivation among adjunct faculty. Journal of Vocational Behavior. 2004;64(2):284-307.
- 19. Graham JR, Shier ML, Eisenstat M. Misalignment between post-secondary education demand and labour market supply: Preliminary insight from young adults on the evolving school to work transition. International Journal for Educational and Vocational Guidance. 2014;14(2):199-219.

- 20. Sessions H, Nahrgang JD, Vaulont MJ, Williams R, Bartels AL. Do the Hustle! Empowerment from Side-Hustles and Its Effects on Full-Time Work Performance. Academy of Management Journal. 2021;64(1):235-64.
- 21. AIHW. Australia's youth: COVID-19 and the impact on young people. Canberra, Australia: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2021.
- 22. Schwedel A, Root J, Allen J, Hazan J, Almquist E, Devlin T, et al. The working future: More human, not less. USA: Bain & Company; 2022.
- 23. Kessler RC, Amminger GP, Aguilar-Gaxiola S, Alonso J, Lee S, Ustün TB. Age of onset of mental disorders: a review of recent literature. Curr Opin Psychiatry. 2007;20(4):359-64.
- 24. Achdut N, Refaeli T. Unemployment and Psychological Distress among Young People during the COVID-19 Pandemic: Psychological Resources and Risk Factors. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2020;17(19):7163.
- 25. Mortimer JT, Vuolo M, Staff J, Wakefield S, Xie W. Tracing the timing of career acquisition in a contemporary youth cohort. Work Occup. 2008;35(1):44-84.
- 26. Kalleberg AL, Reskin BF, Hudson K. Bad Jobs in America: Standard and Nonstandard Employment Relations and Job Quality in the United States. American Sociological Review. 2000;65(2):256-78.
- 27. Heinz W, R. . Youth transitions in an age of uncertainty. Handbook of Youth and Young Adulthood: Routledge; 2009.
- 28. Law PCF, Too LS, Butterworth P, Witt K, Reavley N, Milner A. A systematic review on the effect of work-related stressors on mental health of young workers. International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health. 2020;93(5):611-22.
- 29. LaMontagne A, Keegel T. Reducing stress in the workplace: An evidence review Full report. Melbourne, Australia: The McCaughey Centre, Melbourne School of Population Health, University of Melbourne; 2012.
- 30. LaMontagne A, Smith P, Louie A, Quinlan M, Shoveller J, Ostry A. Unwanted sexual advances at work: Variations by employment arrangement in a sample of working Australians. Australian and New Zealand journal of public health. 2009;33:173-9.
- 31. Louie A, Ostry A, Keegel T, Shoveller J, LaMontagne A, Quinlan M. Empirical Study of Employment Arrangements and Precariousness in Australia. Relations Industrielles/Industrial Relations. 2006;61.
- 32. ABS. Australia's youth: Engagement in education or employment. Canberra, Australia: Australian Bureau of Statistics; 2021 June 2021.
- 33. Shields M, Dimov S, Kavanagh A, Milner A, Spittal MJ, King TL. How do employment conditions and psychosocial workplace exposures impact the mental health of young workers? A systematic review. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology. 2021;56(7):1147-60.
- 34. Number of jobs, labor market experience, marital status and health: Results from a national longitudinal survey [press release]. Bureau of Labor Statistics: US Department of Labour2021.
- 35. ABS. Job mobility. Canberra, Australia: Australian Bureau of Statistics; 2022.
- 36. FYA. Our Reports: The New Work Order Series. Melbourne, Australia: Foundation for Youth Australia; 2020.
- 37. ABS. Labour Force, Australia, Detailed. Canberra, Australia: Australian Bureau of Statistics; 2022.
- 38. Laberge M, MacEachen E, Calvet B. Why are occupational health and safety training approaches not effective? Understanding young worker learning processes using an ergonomic lens. Safety Science. 2014;68:250-7.
- 39. Safe Work NSW. Young Workers eToolkit. Sydney, NSW: Safe Work NSW,; 2019.
- 40. Atlassian, PaperGiant. Reworking work: Understanding the rise of work anywhere. Global research into the impacts of COVID-19 on the nature of work and collaboration.; 2020.
- 41. Milner A, Allisey A, LaMontagne A, Krnjacki L. Entry into work and changes in life satisfaction among young workers: A VicHealth scoping study. Melbourne, Australia: VicHealth; 2019.

- 42. Lijster JMd, Dierckx B, Utens EMWJ, Verhulst FC, Zieldorff C, Dieleman GC, et al. The Age of Onset of Anxiety Disorders. Can J Psychiatry. 2017;62(4):237-46.
- 43. Okun AH, Guerin RJ, Schulte PA. Foundational workplace safety and health competencies for the emerging workforce. J Safety Res. 2016;59:43-51.
- 44. Guerin RJ, Castillo D, Hendricks KJ, Howard J, Piacentino J, Okun AH. Preparing the Future Workforce for Safe and Healthy Employment. American Journal of Public Health. 2020;110(1):69-71.
- 45. Safe Work Australia. Work-related injury fatalities: Key WHS statistics Australia 2021. Canberra, Australia: Safe Work Australia; 2021.
- 46. Kyaw-Myint S, Smith A, Beales D, Job J, Straker L. Work productivity loss in young workers. Canberra, Australia: Safe Work Australia; 2015.
- 47. Manglicmot M, Cotton O, Chen S, Crawford J. Exploring factors contributing to young workers' vulnerability to work-related harm. New Zealand Journal of Employment Relations. 2021;46(2):52-63.
- 48. Frone MR. Interpersonal conflict at work and psychological outcomes: Testing a model among young workers. Journal of Occupational Health Psychology. 2000;5(2):246-55.
- 49. van der Toorn J, Gaitho W. LGBTIQ+ workplace inclusion: a global issue requiring a transdisciplinary and intersectional approach. Tijdschrift voor Genderstudies. 2021;24(3/4):376-87.
- 50. Pidd K, Duraisingam V, Roche A, Trifonoff A. Young construction workers: substance use, mental health, and workplace psychosocial factors. Advances in Dual Diagnosis. 2017;10(4):155-68.
- 51. Roche A, Pidd K, Bywood P, Freeman T. Methamphetamine use among Australian workers and its implications for prevention. Drug and alcohol review. 2008;27:334-41.
- 52. Pidd K, Roche A, Fischer J. A recipe for good mental health: A pilot randomised controlled trial of a psychological wellbeing and substance use intervention targeting young chefs. Drugs: education, prevention, and policy. 2015;22.
- 53. Roche A, Lee N, Battams S, Fischer J, Cameron J, McEntee A. Alcohol use among workers in male-dominated industries: A systematic review of risk factors. Safety Science. 2015;78.
- 54. Roche A, Chapman J, Duraisingam V, Phillips B, Finnane J, Pidd K. Flying below the Radar: Psychoactive Drug Use among Young Male Construction Workers in Sydney, Australia. Substance Use & Misuse. 2021;56:1-10.
- 55. Pidd K, Roche A, Kostadinov V. Trainee chefs' experiences of alcohol, tobacco and drug use. Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management. 2014;21.
- 56. Belhassen Y, Shani A. Substance abuse and job attitude among hotel workers: Social labeling perspectives. Tourism Management. 2013;34:47-9.
- 57. Dvouletý O, Mühlböck M, Warmuth J, Kittel B. 'Scarred' young entrepreneurs. Exploring young adults' transition from former unemployment to self-employment. Journal of Youth Studies. 2018;21(9):1159-81.
- 58. Taouk Y, Spittal M, Milner A, LaMontagne A. All-cause mortality and the time-varying effects of psychosocial work stressors: A retrospective cohort study using the HILDA survey. Social Science & Medicine. 2020;266:113452.
- 59. WorkSafe Victoria. UMM ... is that safe? Helping young workers speak up. Melbourne, Australia: WorkSafe Victoria,; 2022.
- 60. Riordan C. Navigating through leadership transitions: Making it past the twists and turns. Ivey Business Journal. 2008;May/June 2008.
- 61. Barnes CM, Lucianetti L, Bhave DP, Christian MS. "You Wouldn't Like Me When I'm Sleepy": Leaders' Sleep, Daily Abusive Supervision, and Work Unit Engagement. Academy of Management Journal. 2014;58(5):1419-37.
- 62. Lin SHJ, Ma J, Johnson R. When Ethical Leader Behavior Breaks Bad: How Ethical Leader Behavior Can Turn Abusive via Ego Depletion and Moral Licensing. Journal of Applied Psychology. 2016;101.
- 63. Tepper BJ, Duffy MK, Henle CA, Lambert LS. Procedural injustice, victim precipitation, and abusive supervision. Personnel Psychology. 2006;59(1):101-23.

- 64. Roche M, Haar JM, Luthans F. The role of mindfulness and psychological capital on the wellbeing of leaders. Journal of Occupational Health Psychology. 2014;19(4):476-89.
- 65. Sy T, Côté S, Saavedra R. The contagious leader: impact of the leader's mood on the mood of group members, group affective tone, and group processes. J Appl Psychol. 2005;90(2):295-305.
- 66. Hambrick DC, Finkelstein S, Mooney AC. Executive Job Demands: New Insights for Explaining Strategic Decisions and Leader Behaviors. The Academy of Management Review. 2005;30(3):472-91.
- 67. Skakon J, Nielsen K, Borg V, Guzman J. Are leaders' well-being behaviours and style associated with the affective well-being of employees? A systematic review of three decades of research. Work and Stress WORK STRESS. 2010;24:107-39.
- 68. Bass BM, Bass R. The Bass handbook of leadership: Theory, research, and managerial applications: Simon and Schuster; 2009.
- 69. Keller S, Meaney M. Successfully transitioning to new leadership roles. McKinsey & Company; 2018.
- 70. Valcour M. Transform Your Technical Expertise into Leadership. Harvard Business Review. 2021 24th May 2021.
- 71. Harms PD, Credé M, Tynan M, Leon M, Jeung W. Leadership and stress: A meta-analytic review. The Leadership Quarterly. 2017;28(1):178-94.
- 72. Kuoppala J, Lamminpää A, Liira J, Vainio H. Leadership, job well-being, and health effects—a systematic review and a meta-analysis. Journal of occupational and environmental medicine. 2008:904-15.
- 73. Yukl G. Effective leadership behavior: What we know and what questions need more attention. Academy of Management perspectives. 2012;26(4):66-85.
- 74. Adecco Group. Burnout might be the new worker pandemic. Half of leaders struggle to see the signs. USA: The Adecco Group; 2021 6th September 2021.
- 75. Patterson F. Becoming a supervisor. The Routledge International Handbook of Social Work Supervision: Routledge; 2021. p. 229-39.
- 76. Bravata DM, Watts SA, Keefer AL, Madhusudhan DK, Taylor KT, Clark DM, et al. Prevalence, Predictors, and Treatment of Impostor Syndrome: a Systematic Review. Journal of General Internal Medicine. 2020;35(4):1252-75.
- 77. Yip J, Trainor LL, Black H, Soto-Torres L, Reichard RJ. Coaching new leaders: A relational process of integrating multiple identities. Academy of Management Learning & Education. 2020;19(4):503-20.
- 78. Harper J, Kezar A. Leadership development for racially minoritized students: An expansion of the social change model of lharpereadership. Journal of Leadership Education. 2021;20(3).
- 79. Patterson JL, Goens GA, Reed D. Resilient leadership for turbulent times: A guide to thriving in the face of adversity. Arlington, VA and New York: American Association of School Administrators, Rowman & Littlefield Education Inc; 2009.
- 80. Laker B, Pereira V, Malik A, Mariani M. What first-time managers can do to address burnout. Harvard Business Review,. 2022.
- 81. Laker B, Patel C, LMalik A, Budhwar P. What to Do When You Become Your Friend's Boss. Harvard Business Review,. 2020.
- 82. Derrick KS. Becoming the boss: Using schlossberg's transition theory to explore new supervisors' transition to supervisory roles at a federal government agency: Northeastern University; 2019.
- 83. Barling J, Cloutier A. Leaders' Mental Health at Work: Empirical, Methodological, and Policy Directions. Journal of Occupational Health Psychology. 2016;22.
- 84. Barling J. The science of leadership: Lessons from research for organizational leaders: Oxford University Press; 2014.
- 85. Shann C, Martin A, Chester A, Ruddock S. Effectiveness and application of an online leadership intervention to promote mental health and reduce depression-related stigma in organizations. J Occup Health Psychol. 2019;24(1):20-35.

- 86. Manderscheid SV, Ardichvili A. A conceptual model for leadership transition. Performance Improvement Quarterly. 2008;20(3-4):113-29.
- 87. Freedman AM. Some Implications of Validation of the Leadership Pipeline Concept: Guidelines for Assisting Managers-in-Transition. The Psychologist-Manager Journal. 2011;14(2):140-59.
- 88. Quick JC, Gavin JH, Cooper CL, Quick JD, Gilbert RE. Executive health: Building strength, managing risks. . The Acadamy of Management Executive. 2000;14(2):34-46.
- 89. Ganster D. Executive Job Demands: Suggestions from a Stress and Decision-Making Perspective. Academy of Management Review. 2005;30:492-502.
- 90. Carleton EL, Barling J. Leadership and Mental Illness. In: Kelloway EK, Nielsen K, Dimoff JK, editors. Leading to Occupational Health and Safety: How Leadership Behaviours Impact Organizational Safety and Well-Being: John Wiley & Sons Inc.; 2017. p. 307.
- 91. Li W-D, Schaubroeck JM, Xie JL, Keller AC. Is being a leader a mixed blessing? A dual-pathway model linking leadership role occupancy to well-being. Journal of Organizational Behavior. 2018;39(8):971-89.
- 92. Marmot M. Status Syndrome. London, UK: Bloomsbury; 2004.
- 93. Tetrick LE, Slack KJ, Da Silva N, Sinclair RR. A comparison of the stress–strain process for business owners and nonowners: Differences in job demands, emotional exhaustion, satisfaction, and social support. Journal of Occupational Health Psychology. 2000;5(4):464-76.
- 94. Sherman GD, Lee JJ, Cuddy AJC, Renshon J, Oveis C, Gross JJ, et al. Leadership is associated with lower levels of stress. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2012;109(44):17903-7.
- 95. Quinane E, Bardoel EA, Pervan S. CEOs, leaders and managing mental health: a tension-centered approach. The International Journal of Human Resource Management. 2021;32(15):3157-89.
- 96. Athanasopoulou A, Moss-Cowan A, Smets M, Morris T. Claiming the corner office: Female CEO careers and implications for leadership development. Human Resource Management. 2018;57(2):617-39.
- 97. Corpuz E, Due C, Augoustinos M. Caught in two worlds: A critical review of culture and gender in the leadership literature. Social and Personality Psychology Compass. 2020;14(12):e12571.
- 98. Mate SE, McDonald M, Do T. The barriers and enablers to career and leadership development. International Journal of Organizational Analysis. 2019;27(4):857-74.
- 99. Carers NSW. Who are carees? Sydney, NSW: Carers NSW; 2020 [Available from: <a href="https://www.carersnsw.org.au/aboutcaring/who-are-carers">https://www.carersnsw.org.au/aboutcaring/who-are-carers</a>.
- 100. Ciccarelli N, Van Soest A. Informal Caregiving, Employment Status and Work Hours of the 50+ Population in Europe. De Economist. 2018;166(3):363-96.
- 101. O'Sullivan A. Pulled from all sides: The sandwich generation at work. Work. 2015;50(3):491-4.
- 102. Keating N, Eales J, Funk L, Fast J, Min J. Life course trajectories of family care. International Journal of Care and Caring. 2019;3(2):147-63.
- 103. Moen P, DePasquale N. Family care work: a policy-relevant research agenda. International Journal of Care and Caring. 2017;1:45-62.
- 104. Bom J, Bakx P, Schut F, Van Doorslaer E. The impact of informal caregiving for older adults on the health of various types of caregivers: a systematic review. The Gerontologist. 2019;59(5):e629-e42.
- 105. Hutchings K, Harris N, McMillan S, Radford K, Slattery M, Spencer N, et al. Young Carers in Australia industry research report. Brisbane, Australia: Griffith University; 2021.
- 106. Perinatal Workplace Wellbeing Program. Common transition points for parents caring for children and ageing parents.: Perinatal Workplace Wellbeing Program (PWWP) and Transitioning Well,; n.d. [Available from: www.pwwp.org.au.
- 107. Manor S. Being a Working Grandmother, Mother, and Daughter at the Same Time: A "Double Sandwich" in a Four-generation Family. Journal of Family Issues. 2021;42(2):324-44.
- 108. ABS. Disability, Ageing and Carers, Australia: Summary of Findings. Canberra, Australia: Australian Bureau of Statistics; 2019.

- 109. Deloitte. The value of informal care in 2020: Caring comes at a cost. Canberra, Australia: Deloitte Access Economics; 2020.
- 110. ABS. Labour Force Status of Families. Canberra, Australia: Australian Bureau of Statistics,; 2021.
- 111. AIFS. Work and family. Melbourne, Australia: Australian Institute of Family Studies; n.d.
- 112. PWC Australia. The cost of perinatal depression and anxiety in Australia. Melbourne, Australia: Gidget Foundation Australia, Perinatal Wellbeing Centre, PANDA, Peach Tree Perinatal Wellness,; 2019.
- 113. Price-Robertson R, Reupert A, Maybery D. Fathers' experiences of mental illness stigma: scoping review and implications for prevention. Advances in Mental Health. 2015;13(2):100-12.
- 114. Gidget Foundation. Welcome to Parenthood. 2018.
- 115. Macdonald JA, Francis LM, Skouteris H, Youssef GJ, Graeme LG, Williams J, et al. Cohort profile: the Men and Parenting Pathways (MAPP) Study: a longitudinal Australian cohort study of men's mental health and well-being at the normative age for first-time fatherhood. BMJ Open. 2021;11(7):e047909.
- 116. Parents at Work, Karitane, APLEN. National Working Families Report 2019. Parents at Work, Karitane, APLEN,; 2019.
- 117. Kornfeind KR, Sipsma HL. Exploring the link between maternity leave and postpartum depression. Women's Health Issues. 2018;28(4):321-6.
- 118. Victorian Parliamentary Family and Community Development Committee. Inquiry into Perinatal services. Melbourne, Australia: Victorian Parliamentary Family and Community Development Committee,; 2018.
- 119. COPE. When becoming pregnant isn't easy Melbourne, Australia: Centre of Perinatal Excellence; n.d. [Available from: <a href="https://www.cope.org.au/planning-a-family/happening/">https://www.cope.org.au/planning-a-family/happening/</a>.
- 120. Parliament of Victoria Family and Community Development Committee. Inquiry into perinatal services: Final report. Melbourne, Australia: Parliament of Victoria Family and Community Development Committee; 2018.
- 121. Hinton L, Locock L, Knight M. Support for mothers and their families after life-threatening illness in pregnancy and childbirth: a qualitative study in primary care. British Journal of General Practice. 2015;65(638):e563-e9.
- 122. Trifu S, Vladuti A, Popescu A. The neuroendocrinological aspects of pregnancy and postpartum depression. Acta Endocrinologica (Bucharest). 2019;15(3):410.
- 123. AHRC. Results of the National Prevalence Survey. Canberra, Australia: Australia: Human Rights Commission; 2015.
- 124. Austin MP, Highet N, Expert Working Group. Mental Health Care in the Perinatal Period: Australian Clinical Practice Guideline. Melbourne, Australia: Centre of Perinatal Excellence (COPE); 2017.
- 125. Deloitte. Women @ Work: A global outlook, an Australian cut. Melbourne, Australia: Deloitte; 2021.
- 126. Cheng Z, Mendolia S, Paloyo AR, Savage DA, Tani M. Working parents, financial insecurity, and childcare: mental health in the time of COVID-19 in the UK. Review of Economics of the Household. 2021;19(1):123-44.
- 127. Ziwica K. Yes Pandemic Parental Burnout is a thing and you're not alone. Women's Agenda. 2020 10 September 2020.
- 128. McKinsey. Women in the Workplace 2021. McKinsey and Company; 2021 27th September 2021.
- 129. Deater-Deckard K, Petrill SA. Parent–child dyadic mutuality and child behavior problems: An investigation of gene–environment processes. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry. 2004;45(6):1171-9.
- 130. Fawley-King K, Trask EV, Ferrand J, Aarons GA. Caregiver strain among biological, foster, and adoptive caregivers caring for youth receiving outpatient care in a public mental health system. Children and Youth Services Review. 2020;111:104874.

- 131. Collings S, Jenkin G, Carter K, Signal L. Gender differences in the mental health of single parents: New Zealand evidence from a household panel survey. Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology. 2014;49(5):811-21.
- 132. Adams E, Hassett AR, Lumsden V. What do we know about the impact of stress on foster carers and contributing factors? Adoption & Fostering. 2018;42(4):338-53.
- 133. Anthony RE, Paine AL, Shelton KH. Depression and anxiety symptoms of British adoptive parents: a prospective four-wave longitudinal study. International journal of environmental research and public health. 2019;16(24):5153.
- 134. Condon J. What about dad? Psychosocial and mental health issues for new fathers. Australian Family Physician. 2006;35(9).
- 135. Wong O, Nguyen T, Thomas N, Thomson-Salo F, Handrinos D, Judd F. Perinatal mental health: Fathers the (mostly) forgotten parent. Asia-Pacific Psychiatry. 2016;8(4):247-55.
- 136. Petts RJ, Mize TD, Kaufman G. Organizational policies, workplace culture, and perceived job commitment of mothers and fathers who take parental leave. Social science research. 2022;103:102651.
- 137. Thébaud S, Pedulla DS. When do work-family policies work? Unpacking the effects of stigma and financial costs for men and women. Work and Occupations. 2022;49(2):229-63.
- 138. National Research Council. Working families and growing kids: Caring for children and adolescents. 2003.
- 139. Abreu ACGd, Alves MS, Zuchelo LTS, Santos SVd, Baracat EC, Soares Júnior JM, et al. Full and empty nest syndromes in women in the climacteric period. Revista da Associação Médica Brasileira. 2021;68:109-17.
- 140. Moustafa AA, Crouse JJ, Herzallah MM, Salama M, Mohamed W, Misiak B, et al. Depression following major life transitions in women: A review and theory. Psychological reports. 2020;123(5):1501-17.
- 141. Budescu M, Sisselman-Borgia A, Taylor RD. Perceptions of adequate personal time and wellbeing among African American families with adolescents. Journal of Child & Family Studies. 2018;27(6):1763-73.
- 142. Deater-Deckard K. Parenting stress: Yale University Press; 2008.
- 143. Masten AS. Resilience theory and research on children and families: Past, present, and promise. Journal of Family Theory & Review. 2018;10(1):12-31.
- 144. Shrivastava SR, Shrivastava PS, Ramasamy J. Antenatal and postnatal depression: A public health perspective. Journal of neurosciences in rural practice. 2015;6(01):116-9.
- 145. Natsuaki MN, Shaw DS, Neiderhiser JM, Ganiban JM, Harold GT, Reiss D, et al. Raised by depressed parents: is it an environmental risk? Clinical child and family psychology review. 2014;17(4):357-67.
- 146. Hussain R, Wark S, Dillon G, Ryan P. Self-reported physical and mental health of Australian carers: a cross-sectional study. BMJ open. 2016;6(9):e011417.
- 147. Idstad M, Ask H, Tambs K. Mental disorder and caregiver burden in spouses: the Nord-Trøndelag health study. BMC Public Health. 2010;10(1):1-7.
- 148. Schulz R, Sherwood PR. Physical and mental health effects of family caregiving. Journal of Social Work Education. 2008;44(sup3):105-13.
- 149. Schmitz H, Westphal M. Short-and medium-term effects of informal care provision on female caregivers' health. Journal of health economics. 2015;42:174-85.
- 150. Eriksson E, Wejåker M, Danhard A, Nilsson A, Kristofferzon M-L. Living with a spouse with chronic illness—the challenge of balancing demands and resources. BMC Public Health. 2019;19(1):1-9.
- 151. Joling KJ, Ten Have M, De Graaf R, O'Dwyer ST. Risk factors for suicidal thoughts in informal caregivers: results from the population-based Netherlands mental health survey and incidence Study-2 (NEMESIS-2). BMC psychiatry. 2019;19(1):1-9.
- 152. Krakowiak P, Wasilewska-Ostrowska K, editors. Loneliness experienced by informal caregivers of the chronically ill in their homes. Proposed solutions and practical recommendations for

local communities. Society Integration Education Proceedings of the International Scientific Conference; 2016.

- 153. Bruno K. 7 ways to keep your relationship strong despite a chronic illness2012. Available from: <a href="https://www.webmd.com/sex-relationships/features/chronic-illness-seven-relationship-tips">https://www.webmd.com/sex-relationships/features/chronic-illness-seven-relationship-tips</a>.
- 154. Keay A. Workplace costs of care. Aged Care Planners,; 2021.
- 155. Fukahori R, Sakai T, Sato K. The effects of incidence of care needs in households on employment, subjective health, and life satisfaction among middle-aged family members. Scottish Journal of Political Economy. 2015;62(5):518-45.
- 156. Gautun H, Hagen K. How do middle-aged employees combine work with caring for elderly parents? Community, Work & Family. 2010;13(4):393-409.
- 157. Hamilton M, Suthersan B. Gendered moral rationalities in later life: grandparents balancing paid work and care of grandchildren in Australia. Ageing & Society. 2021;41(7):1651-72.
- 158. Azmat G, Hensvik L, Rosenqvist O. Workplace presenteeism, job substitutability and gender inequality. 2020.
- 159. Pines AM, Neal MB, Hammer LB, Icekson T. Job burnout and couple burnout in dual-earner couples in the sandwiched generation. Social Psychology Quarterly. 2011;74(4):361-86.
- 160. Wayne JH, Randel AE, Stevens J. The role of identity and work–family support in work–family enrichment and its work-related consequences. Journal of Vocational Behavior. 2006;69(3):445-61.
- 161. Zhou N, Buehler C. Family, employment, and individual resource-based antecedents of maternal work-family enrichment from infancy through middle childhood. Journal of occupational health psychology. 2016;21(3):309-21.
- 162. COPE. Valuing Perinatal Mental Health. Melbourne, Australia: Centre of Perinatal Excellence,; 2014.
- 163. Obrenovic B, Jianguo D, Khudaykulov A, Khan MAS. Work-family conflict impact on psychological safety and psychological well-being: A job performance model. Frontiers in Psychology. 2020;11.
- 164. Baranczyk MC. Are family-friendly policies an effective recruitment strategy? International Journal of Business and Social Science. 2013;4(16).
- 165. Baranczyk MC. Family-friendly benefits, organizational culture, and applicant attraction: Colorado State University; 2009.
- 166. Transitioning Well, COPE, Pracademia. Perinatal Workplace Wellbeing Program (PWWP): Evaluation report for Worksafe Victoria. Evaluation report: Not publically released. Melbourne, Australia: Transitioning Well, COPE, & Pracademia,; 2021 Sept 2021.
- 167. Family Friendly Workplaces. Family Friendly Workplaces: Certification Program n.d. [Available from: <a href="https://familyfriendlyworkplaces.com/">https://familyfriendlyworkplaces.com/</a>.
- 168. Brown TJ, Clark C, editors. Employed parents of children with disabilities and work family life balance: A literature review. Child & Youth Care Forum; 2017: Springer.
- 169. Earle A, Heymann J. The cost of caregiving: Wage loss among caregivers of elderly and disabled adults and children with special needs. Community, Work & Family. 2012;15(3):357-75.
- 170. Matthews RA, Booth SM, Taylor CF, Martin T. A qualitative examination of the work–family interface: Parents of children with autism spectrum disorder. Journal of Vocational Behavior. 2011;79(3):625-39.
- 171. FWC. Requests for flexible working arrangements Canberra, Australia: Fair Work Commission; n.d. [Available from: <a href="https://www.fairwork.gov.au/tools-and-resources/fact-sheets/minimum-workplace-entitlements/requests-for-flexible-working-arrangements">https://www.fairwork.gov.au/tools-and-resources/fact-sheets/minimum-workplace-entitlements/requests-for-flexible-working-arrangements</a>.
- 172. Cardenas RA, Major DA. Combining Employment and Breastfeeding: Utilizing aWork-Family Conflict Framework to Understand Obstacles and Solutions. Journal of Business and Psychology. 2005;20(1):31-51.
- 173. Lott Y. Working-time flexibility and autonomy: A European perspective on time adequacy. European Journal of Industrial Relations. 2015;21(3):259-74.

- 174. Clancy RL, Fisher GG, Daigle KL, Henle CA, McCarthy J, Fruhauf CA. Eldercare and work among informal caregivers: a multidisciplinary review and recommendations for future research. Journal of Business and Psychology. 2020;35(1):9-27.
- 175. Oldenkamp M, Bültmann U, Wittek RP, Stolk RP, Hagedoorn M, Smidt N. Combining informal care and paid work: The use of work arrangements by working adult-child caregivers in the Netherlands. Health & social care in the community. 2018;26(1):e122-e31.
- 176. Lam WWY, Nielsen K, Sprigg CA, Kelly CM. The demands and resources of working informal caregivers of older people: A systematic review. Work & Stress. 2022:1-23.
- 177. Kossek E, Petty R, Bodner T, Perrigino M, Hammer L, Yragui N, et al. Lasting Impression: Transformational Leadership and Family Supportive Supervision as Resources for Well-Being and Performance. Occupational Health Science. 2018;2.
- 178. AHRC. Investing in care: Recognising and valuing those who care. Canberra, Australia: Australian Human Rights Commission; 2013.
- 179. Phillips J, Bernard M, Chittenden M. Juggling work and care: The experiences of working carers of older adults: Policy Press; 2002.
- 180. Parents at Work. Advancing Parental Leave Equality and Introducing Shared Care in Australia. Parents at Work,; 2020.
- 181. COPE. Ready to COPE Melbourne, Australia: Centre of Perinatal Excellence; n.d. [Ready to COPE app]. Available from: <a href="https://www.cope.org.au/readytocope/">https://www.cope.org.au/readytocope/</a>.
- 182. AHRC. Supporting carers in the workplace. Canberra, Australia: Australia: Human Rights Commission 2013.
- 183. Whitebird RR, Kreitzer M, Crain AL, Lewis BA, Hanson LR, Enstad CJ. Mindfulness-based stress reduction for family caregivers: a randomized controlled trial. The Gerontologist. 2013;53(4):676-86.
- 184. Håkansson C, Axmon A, Eek F. Insufficient time for leisure and perceived health and stress in working parents with small children. Work. 2016;55(2):453-61.
- 185. WGEA. Unpaid care work and the labour market. Canberra, Australia: Workplace Gender Equality Agency; 2016.
- 186. Mohanty I, Niyonsenga T. A longitudinal analysis of mental and general health status of informal carers in Australia. BMC public health. 2019;19(1):1-16.
- 187. Sila U. Job displacement in Australia. 2019.
- 188. Griffiths D, Sheehan L, van Vreden C, Petrie D, Grant G, Whiteford P, et al. The Impact of Work Loss on Mental and Physical Health During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Baseline Findings from a Prospective Cohort Study. Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation. 2021;31(3):455-62.
- 189. Wood D, Griffiths K, Crowley T. Women's work: The impact of the COVID crisis on Australian women. Grattan Institute; 2021.
- 190. OECD. Back to Work: Australia. Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD),; 2016.
- 191. Hall DT. The protean career: A quarter-century journey. Journal of vocational behavior. 2004;65(1):1-13.
- 192. Volmer J, Spurk D. Protean and boundaryless career attitudes: relationships with subjective and objective career success. Zeitschrift für ArbeitsmarktForschung. 2011;43(3):207-18.
- 193. Seek Learning. Listen to your inner calling for a career that counts. Pinterest; 2013.
- 194. ING. ING Future Focus preparing for the digital workforce of tomorrow. ING; 2020.
- 195. RMIT Online, Deloitte Access Economics. READY SET UPSKILL: Fast track growth with digital skills. Melbourne, Australia: RMIT Online & Deloitte Access Economics; 2022.
- 196. Limeade. The Great Resignation Update: Limeade Employee Care Report. London, UK: Limeade; 2021.
- 197. PWC Australia. The future of work. What workers want: winning the war for talent. PWC Australia; 2021.
- 198. Seek. Seek Employment Trends: Independent research conducted by Nature on behalf of SEEK. 2022.

- 199. Carless SA, Arnup JL. A longitudinal study of the determinants and outcomes of career change. Journal of vocational behavior. 2011;78(1):80-91.
- 200. Howes LM, Goodman-Delahunty J. Life course research design: Exploring career change experiences of former school teachers and police officers. Journal of Career Development. 2014;41(1):62-84.
- 201. Rhodes SR, Doering M. An Integrated Model of Career Change. Academy of Management Review. 1983;8(4):631-9.
- 202. Masdonati J, Fournier G, Lahrizi IZ. The Reasons behind a Career Change through Vocational Education and Training. International journal for research in vocational education and training. 2017;4(3):249-69.
- 203. Gallup. How Millenials want to work and live. Gallup Inc.; 2016.
- 204. Wrzesniewski A, McCauley C, Rozin P, Schwartz B. Jobs, Careers, and Callings: People's Relations to Their Work. Journal of Research in Personality. 1997;31(1):21-33.
- 205. Hall DT. The Career Is Dead--Long Live the Career. A Relational Approach to Careers. The Jossey-Bass Business & Management Series: ERIC; 1996.
- 206. OECD. Back to work: Reemployment, earnings and skill use after job displacement. Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD),; 2013.
- 207. Bubonya M, Cobb-Clark DA, Wooden M. A family affair: job loss and the mental health of spouses and adolescents. 2014.
- 208. Feather NT. The psychological impact of unemployment: Springer Science & Business Media; 2012.
- 209. Waters L. Experiential differences between voluntary and involuntary job redundancy on depression, job-search activity, affective employee outcomes and re-employment quality. Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology. 2007;80(2):279-99.
- 210. Paul KI, Moser K. Unemployment impairs mental health: Meta-analyses. Journal of Vocational behavior. 2009;74(3):264-82.
- 211. Dekker SW, Schaufeli WB. The effects of job insecurity on psychological health and withdrawal: A longitudinal study. Australian psychologist. 1995;30(1):57-63.
- 212. Ferrie JE, Shipley MJ, Marmot MG, Stansfeld S, Smith GD. Health effects of anticipation of job change and non-employment: longitudinal data from the Whitehall II study. BMJ. 1995;311(7015):1264-9.
- 213. Skapinakis P, Weich S, Lewis G, Singleton N, Araya R. Socio-economic position and common mental disorders: Longitudinal study in the general population in the UK. The British Journal of Psychiatry. 2006;189(2):109-17.
- 214. Mathers CD, Schofield DJ. The health consequences of unemployment: the evidence. Medical journal of Australia. 1998;168(4):178-82.
- 215. Lancaster D. The Financial Cost of Job Loss in Australia | Bulletin–September Quarter 2021. Bulletin. 2021(September).
- 216. Mervin MC, Frijters P. Is shared misery double misery? Social Science & Medicine. 2014;107:68-77.
- 217. Doiron D, Mendolia S. The impact of job loss on family dissolution. Journal of Population Economics. 2012;25(1):367-98.
- 218. Strully KW. Job loss and health in the US labor market. Demography. 2009;46(2):221-46.
- 219. Modini M, Joyce S, Mykletun A, Christensen H, Bryant RA, Mitchell PB, et al. The mental health benefits of employment: Results of a systematic meta-review. Australas Psychiatry. 2016;24(4):331-6.
- 220. Cascio WF, Young CE, Morris JR. Financial consequences of employment-change decisions in major US corporations. Academy of management Journal. 1997;40(5):1175-89.
- 221. Macky KA. Organisational downsizing and redundancies: The New Zealand workers experience. New Zealand Journal of Employment Relations. 2004;29(1).
- 222. Cascio WF. Downsizing: What do we know? What have we learned? Academy of Management Perspectives. 1993;7(1):95-104.

- 223. Newman BK. Career change for those over 40: Critical issues and insights. The Career Development Quarterly. 1995;44(1):64.
- 224. Breeden SA. Job and occupational change as a function of occupational correspondence and job satisfaction. Journal of Vocational Behavior. 1993;43(1):30-45.
- 225. Bahr TA. Midlife career change and women: A phenomenological examination of the process of change: University of Nevada, Las Vegas; 2009.
- 226. Hostetler AJ, Sweet S, Moen P. Gendered career paths: A life course perspective on returning to school. Sex Roles. 2007;56(1):85-103.
- 227. Joy E, Pond D, Cotter G. Coping with redundancy: A mentorship program for men. Australian Journal of Primary Health. 2004;10(3):124-9.
- 228. Challenger JA. Return on investment of high-quality outplacement programs. Economic Perspectives Q. 2005;2:86-93.
- 229. Hughes D, Bosley S, Bowes L, Bysshe S. The Economic Benefits of Guidance Centre for Guidance Studies, University of Derby; 2002.
- 230. Gillan K. Resignation regret? More 'boomerang employees' are returning to old jobs. Sydney Morning Herald. 2022 2nd April 2022.
- 231. Leana CR, Feldman DC, Tan GY. Predictors of coping behavior after a layoff. Journal of Organizational Behavior: The International Journal of Industrial, Occupational and Organizational Psychology and Behavior. 1998;19(1):85-97.
- 232. Caplan RD, Vinokur AD, Price RH, Van Ryn M. Job seeking, reemployment, and mental health: a randomized field experiment in coping with job loss. Journal of applied psychology. 1989;74(5):759.
- 233. Mayer D, Hollederer A. What helps the unemployed to stay healthy? A qualitative study of coping with the negative effects of job loss. Journal of Public Health Research. 2022;11(1).
- 234. Bejian DV, Salomone PR. Understanding midlife career renewal: Implications for counseling. The Career Development Quarterly. 1995;44(1):52-63.
- 235. Heppner MJ, Multon KD, Johnston JA. Assessing psychological resources during career change: Development of the Career Transitions Inventory. Journal of Vocational Behavior. 1994;44(1):55-74.
- 236. Robertson HC, Brott PE. Military Veterans' Midlife Career Transition and Life Satisfaction. Professional Counselor. 2014;4(2):139-49.
- 237. AIHW. People with disability in Australia. Canberra, Australia: Australia Institute of Health and Welfare,; 2020.
- 238. University of South Australia. Non-work related illness/injury (NWRI): Frequently asked questions for employees. Adelaide, Australia: University of South Australia; 2020.
- 239. Disability Discrimination Act, (1992).
- 240. Fair Work Commission. Capacity Canberra, Australia: Fair Work Commission,; n.d. [Available from: <a href="https://www.fwc.gov.au/capacity">https://www.fwc.gov.au/capacity</a>.
- 241. Comcare. Working Together: Promoting mental health and wellbeing at work. Canberra, Australia: Comcare,; n.d.
- 242. AIHW. Cancer Data in Australia. Canberra, Australia: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2021.
- 243. McGrath PD, Hartigan B, Holewa H, Skarparis M. Returning to work after treatment for haematological cancer: findings from Australia. Supportive Care in Cancer. 2012;20(9):1957-64.
- 244. AIHW. Cancer in Australia. Canberra, Australia: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW); 2021.
- 245. Bradley CJ, Brown KL, Haan M, Glasgow RE, Newman LS, Rabin B, et al. Cancer survivorship and employment: intersection of oral agents, changing workforce dynamics, and employers' perspectives. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 2018;110(12):1292-9.
- 246. Singer S, Das-Munshi J, Brähler E. Prevalence of mental health conditions in cancer patients in acute care—a meta-analysis. Annals of Oncology. 2010;21(5):925-30.

- 247. Carreira H, Williams R, Müller M, Harewood R, Stanway S, Bhaskaran K. Associations between breast cancer survivorship and adverse mental health outcomes: a systematic review. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 2018;110(12):1311-27.
- 248. Cancer Council. Understanding changes in thinking and memory: Information for people affected by cancer. Cancer Council of Australia; 2018.
- 249. Cancer Council. Fertility and Cancer. Cancer Council Australia; 2020.
- 250. Urquhart R, Scruton S, Kendell C. Understanding Cancer Survivors' Needs and Experiences Returning to Work Post-Treatment: A Longitudinal Qualitative Study. Current Oncology. 2022;29(5):3013-25.
- 251. Kemp E, Knott V, Ward P, Freegard S, Olver I, Fallon-Ferguson J, et al. Barriers to employment of Australian cancer survivors living with geographic or socio-economic disadvantage: A qualitative study. Health Expect. 2021;24(3):951-66.
- 252. Lieb M, Wünsch A, Schieber K, Bergelt C, Faller H, Geiser F, et al. Return to work after cancer: Improved mental health in working cancer survivors. Psycho-Oncology. 2022;n/a(n/a).
- 253. Kane D, Rajacich D, Andary C. Experiences of cancer patients' return to work. Can Oncol Nurs J. 2020;30(2):113-8.
- Wang Y, Duan Z, Mao Y, Li X, Wilson A, et al. Epidemiology of mental health problems among patients with cancer during COVID-19 pandemic. Translational psychiatry. 2020;10(1):1-10.
- 255. Wells M, Williams B, Firnigl D, Lang H, Coyle J, Kroll T, et al. Supporting 'work-related goals' rather than 'return to work' after cancer? A systematic review and meta-synthesis of 25 qualitative studies. Psychooncology. 2013;22(6):1208-19.
- 256. Australia CC. Principles of Cancer Survivorship. Cancer Council Australia; 2017.
- 257. Stergiou-Kita M, Grigorovich A, Tseung V, Milosevic E, Hebert D, Phan S, et al. Qualitative meta-synthesis of survivors' work experiences and the development of strategies to facilitate return to work. Journal of Cancer Survivorship. 2014;8(4):657-70.
- 258. Cancer Council NSW. Cancer, Work and You Sydney, Australia: Cancer Council NSW,; 2019 [Available from: <a href="https://www.cancercouncil.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Cancer-Work-you\_Dec2019.pdf">https://www.cancercouncil.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Cancer-Work-you\_Dec2019.pdf</a>.
- 259. Witt J, Murray-Edwards D. Living with Fatigue: Managing cancer-related fatigue at home and in the workplace. AJN The American Journal of Nursing. 2002;102.
- 260. Work after Cancer. Return to work plan. Adelaide, Australia: Flinders University; 2016.
- 261. AIHW. Cancer screening and COVID-19 in Australia. Canberra, Australia: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2020.
- 262. Fadhlaoui A, Mrad H, Vinette B, Bilodeau K. The post-treatment return-to-work transition experience for breast cancer survivors under 50 years of age. Canadian Oncology Nursing Journal / Revue canadienne de soins infirmiers en oncologie. 2021;31(4):6.
- 263. Nazarov S, Manuwald U, Leonardi M, Silvaggi F, Foucaud J, Lamore K, et al. Chronic Diseases and Employment: Which Interventions Support the Maintenance of Work and Return to Work among Workers with Chronic Illnesses? A Systematic Review. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2019;16(10):1864.
- 264. Australian Parliament House Library. Snapshot of women in the Australian workforce, 2021. Canberra, Australia: Australian Parliament House Library,; 2022.
- 265. Diversity Council of Australia. Older Women Matter. Canberra, Australia: Diversity Council of Australia,; 2013.
- 266. Jack G, Pitts M, Riach K, Bariola E, Schapper J, Sarrel P. Women, work and the menopause: releasing the potential of older professional women. Melbourne, Australia: La Trobe University; 2014.
- 267. Nording L. Why menopause matters in the academic workplace. Nature Reviews Endocrinology. 2022;605:381-4.
- 268. Shifren JL, Gass ML. The North American Menopause Society recommendations for clinical care of midlife women. Menopause. 2014;21(10):1038-62.

- 269. Jean Hailes Foundation for Women's Health. Premature and early menopause Melbourne, Australia: Jean Hailes Foundation for Women's Health,; n.d. [Available from:
- https://www.jeanhailes.org.au/health-a-z/menopause/premature-early-menopause.
- 270. Jaspers L, Daan NMP, van Dijk GM, Gazibara T, Muka T, Wen K-x, et al. Health in middle-aged and elderly women: A conceptual framework for healthy menopause. Maturitas. 2015;81(1):93-8.
- 271. Willi J, Süss H, Ehlert U. The Swiss Perimenopause Study study protocol of a longitudinal prospective study in perimenopausal women. Women's Midlife Health. 2020;6(1):5.
- 272. Australian Menopause Society. Depression common during perimenopause but not regularly assessed by providers. Australian Menopause Society; 2020.
- 273. Monteleone P, Mascagni G, Giannini A, Genazzani AR, Simoncini T. Symptoms of menopause—global prevalence, physiology and implications. Nature Reviews Endocrinology. 2018;14(4):199-215.
- 274. Rees M, Bitzer J, Cano A, Ceausu I, Chedraui P, Durmusoglu F, et al. Global consensus recommendations on menopause in the workplace: A European Menopause and Andropause Society (EMAS) position statement. Maturitas. 2021;151:55-62.
- 275. Australian Menopause Society. Menopause: what are the symptoms? : Australian Menopause Society; n.d.
- 276. Circle In. Driving the change: Menopause and the workplace. Melbourne, Australia: Circle In; 2021.
- 277. Opinium. Vodafone: Menopause research. 2021.
- 278. Bazeley A, Marren C, Shepherd A. Menopause and the workplace. London, United Kingdom: Fawcett Society,; 2022.
- 279. O'Connor T. Working through menopause. Menopause@work; 2018.
- 280. Jean Hailes Foundation for Women's Health. Menopause in the workplace Melbourne, Australia: Jean Hailes Foundation for Women's Health,; n.d. [Available from: <a href="https://www.jeanhailes.org.au/resources/menopause-in-the-workplace">https://www.jeanhailes.org.au/resources/menopause-in-the-workplace</a>.
- 281. Jack G, Riach K, Bariola E. Temporality and gendered agency: Menopausal subjectivities in women's work. Human Relations. 2019;72(1):122-43.
- 282. Yoeli H, Macnaughton J, McLusky S. Menopausal symptoms and work: A narrative review of women's experiences in casual, informal, or precarious jobs. Maturitas. 2021;150:14-21.
- 283. Bariola E, Jack G, Pitts M, Riach K, Sarrel P. Employment conditions and work-related stressors are associated with menopausal symptom reporting among perimenopausal and postmenopausal women. Menopause. 2017;24(3):247-51.
- 284. Hardy C. Menopause and the workplace guidance: What to consider. Post Reprod Health. 2020;26(1):43-5.
- 285. Hardy C, Griffiths A, Hunter MS. Development and evaluation of online menopause awareness training for line managers in UK organizations. Maturitas. 2019;120:83-9.
- 286. Victorian Women's Trust. Ourselves at work: Creating positive menstrual culture in your workplace. Melbourne, Australia: Victorian Women's Trust; 2021.
- 287. Budge SL, Tebbe EN, Howard KA. The work experiences of transgender individuals: Negotiating the transition and career decision-making processes. Journal of Counseling Psychology. 2010;57(4):377.
- 288. Leppel K. The labor force status of transgender men and women. International Journal of Transgenderism. 2016;17(3-4):155-64.
- 289. Collins JC, McFadden C, Rocco TS, Mathis MK. The problem of transgender marginalization and exclusion: Critical actions for human resource development. Human Resource Development Review. 2015;14(2):205-26.
- 290. Beauregard TA, Arevshatian L, Booth JE, Whittle S. Listen carefully: transgender voices in the workplace. The International Journal of Human Resource Management. 2018;29(5):857-84.
- 291. Jones J. Trans dressing in the workplace. Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: An International Journal. 2013.

- 292. Marvell R, Broughton A, Breese E, Tyler E. Supporting trans employees in the workplace. Research Paper Ref. 2017;4:17.
- 293. Baboolall Dtt, Greenberg Ssh, Obeid Mhh, Zucker Jsh. Being transgender at work. USA: McKinsey Consulting; 2021.
- 294. Perales F, Ablaza C, Tomaszewski W, Emsen-Hough D. You, Me, and Them: Understanding Employees' Use of Trans-Affirming Language within the Workplace. Sexuality Research and Social Policy. 2022;19(2):760-76.
- 295. Beauregard TA, Booth JE, Whiley LA. Transgender employees: workplace impacts on health and well-being. Aligning Perspectives in Gender Mainstreaming: Springer; 2021. p. 177-96.
- 296. Kwon P. Resilience in lesbian, gay, and bisexual individuals. Personality and Social Psychology Review. 2013;17(4):371-83.
- 297. Pepper SM, Lorah P. Career issues and workplace considerations for the transsexual community: Bridging a gap of knowledge for career counselors and mental heath care providers. The Career Development Quarterly. 2008;56(4):330-43.
- 298. Ozturk MB, Tatli A. Gender identity inclusion in the workplace: broadening diversity management research and practice through the case of transgender employees in the UK. The International Journal of Human Resource Management. 2016;27(8):781-802.
- 299. Thoroughgood CN, Sawyer KB, Webster JR. What lies beneath: How paranoid cognition explains the relations between transgender employees' perceptions of discrimination at work and their job attitudes and wellbeing. Journal of Vocational Behavior. 2017;103:99-112.
- 300. Hewlin PF. And the Award for Best Actor Goes to...: Facades of Conformity in Organizational Settings. Academy of Management Review. 2003;28(4):633-42.
- 301. A Gender Agenda. Supporting gender transition in the workplace: A toolkit for ACT employers. Canberra, Australia: A Gender Agenda,; 2019.
- 302. Dietert M, Dentice D. Gender identity issues and workplace discrimination: The transgender experience. Journal of Workplace Rights. 2009;14(1).
- 303. Levitt HM, Ippolito MR. Being transgender: The experience of transgender identity development. Journal of homosexuality. 2014;61(12):1727-58.
- 304. Schilt K, Wiswall M. Before and After: Gender Transitions, Human Capital, and Workplace Experiences. The BE Journal of Economic Analysis & Policy. 2008;8(1).
- 305. Schilt K, Connell C. Do workplace gender transitions make gender trouble? Gender, Work & Organization. 2007;14(6):596-618.
- 306. Yavorsky J. "Welcome to Womanhood!" The Impact of (Trans) Gender at Work: The Ohio State University; 2012.
- 307. Gut T, Arevshatian L, Beauregard TA. HRM and the case of transgender workers: a complex landscape of limited HRM "know how" with some pockets of good practice. Human Resource Management International Digest. 2018.
- 308. Ruggs EN, Martinez LR, Hebl MR, Law CL. Workplace "trans"-actions: How organizations, coworkers, and individual openness influence perceived gender identity discrimination. Psychology of Sexual Orientation and Gender Diversity. 2015;2(4):404.
- 309. Pringle JK. Gender in management: Theorizing gender as heterogender. British journal of management. 2008;19:S110-S9.
- 310. Law CL, Martinez LR, Ruggs EN, Hebl MR, Akers E. Trans-parency in the workplace: How the experiences of transsexual employees can be improved. Journal of Vocational Behavior. 2011;79(3):710-23.
- 311. Rudin J, Yang Y, Ruane S, Ross L, Farro A, Billing T. Transforming attitudes about transgender employee rights. Journal of Management Education. 2016;40(1):30-46.
- 312. McKay PF, Avery DR. Diversity climate in organizations: Current wisdom and domains of uncertainty. Research in personnel and human resources management: Emerald Group Publishing Limited; 2015.
- 313. Sabharwal M. Is Diversity Management Sufficient? Organizational Inclusion to Further Performance. Public Personnel Management. 2014;43(2):197-217.

- 314. McKay PF, Avery DR, Morris MA. Mean racial-ethnic differences in employee sales performance: The moderating role of diversity climate. Personnel psychology. 2008;61(2):349-74.
- 315. McKay PF, Avery DR, Liao H, Morris MA. Does diversity climate lead to customer satisfaction? It depends on the service climate and business unit demography. Organization Science. 2011;22(3):788-803.
- 316. McKay PF, Avery DR, Morris MA. A tale of two climates: Diversity climate from subordinates' and managers' perspectives and their role in store unit sales performance. Personnel Psychology. 2009;62(4):767-91.
- 317. Bender-Baird K. Transgender employment experiences: Gendered perceptions and the law: Suny Press; 2011.
- 318. Turner J. Championing Transgender and Gender Diverse People in the Workplace. Australia: The Commons Social Change Library; 2021.
- 319. Centre for Population. Net internal migration. Canberra, Australia: Australian Government Centre for Population,; 2021.
- 320. ABS. Regional internal migration estimates, provisional. Canberra, Australia: Australian Bureau of Statistics; 2021.
- 321. PWC Australia. Out of sight, out of mind? Australia's diaspora as a pathway to innovation. Melbourne, Australia: PWC Consulting; 2018.
- 322. Riemer JW. Job relocation, sources of stress, and sense of home. Community, Work & Family. 2000;3(2):205-17.
- Fuguitt GV, Heaton TB. The impact of migration on the nonmetropolitan population age structure, 1960–1990. Population research and policy review. 1995;14(2):215-32.
- 324. MUVAL. Unboxing the relocation of the nation. MUVAL; 2021.
- 325. Cho T, Hutchings K, Marchant T. Key factors influencing Korean expatriates' and spouses' perceptions of expatriation and repatriation. The International Journal of Human Resource Management. 2013;24(5):1051-75.
- 326. Lazarova M, Westman M, Shaffer M. Elucidating the positive side of the work-family interface on international assignments: A model of expatriate work and family performance. Academy of Management review. 2010;35(1):93-117.
- 327. Brookfield Global Relocation Services. 2016 Global Mobility Trends. Brookfield Global Relocation Services,; 2016.
- 328. Brookfield Global Relocation Services. 2021 Talent Mobility Trends Survey: Reinventing Mobility Beyond 2020. Brookfield Global Relocation Services,; 2021.
- 329. Trompetter D, Bussin M, Nienaber R. The relationship between family adjustment and expatriate performance. South African Journal of Business Management. 2016;47:13-21.
- 330. Copeland A, Norell S. Spousal adjustment on international assignments: The role of social support. International Journal of Intercultural Relations. 2002;26:255-72.
- 331. Karasek RA. Job demands, job decision latitude, and mental strain: implications for job design. Administrative Science Quarterly. 1979;24:285-308.
- 332. Dollard M, Bakker A. Psychosocial safety climate as a precursor to conducive work environments, psychological health problems and employee engagement. Journal of Occupational and Organisational Psychology. 2010;83:579-99.
- 333. Stroebe M, Schut H, Nauta M. Homesickness: A systematic review of the scientific literature. Review of general psychology. 2015;19(2):157-71.
- 334. Pretty GH, Chipuer HM, Bramston P. Sense of place amongst adolescents and adults in two rural Australian towns: The discriminating features of place attachment, sense of community and place dependence in relation to place identity. Journal of environmental psychology. 2003;23(3):273-87.
- 335. Furnham A. Culture Shock: A Review of the Literature for Practitioners. Psychology. 2019;Vol.10No.13:23.
- 336. Godfrey S. The emotional impact of moving. Moving Mindsets; 2022.
- 337. Inalhan G, Finch E. Place attachment and sense of belonging. Facilities. 2004;22(5/6):120-8.

- 338. Robinson S, Hill M, Fisher KR, Graham A. Belonging and exclusion in the lives of young people with intellectual disability in small town communities. Journal of Intellectual Disabilities. 2020;24(1):50-68.
- 339. Ullrich J, Pluut H, Büttgen M. Gender differences in the family-relatedness of relocation decisions. Journal of Vocational Behavior. 2015;90:1-12.
- 340. Blakely G, Hennessy C, Chung MC, Skirton H. A systematic review of the impact of foreign postings on accompanying spouses of military personnel. Nursing & Health Sciences. 2012;14(1):121-32.
- 341. Sissel AR. The Effects of International Relocation on Adolescents': Symptoms of Depression, Anxiety, Suicide Ideation and Self Esteem Development. Kenya: United States International University, Africa; 2018.
- 342. Munton AG. Job Relocation, Stress and the Family. Journal of Organizational Behavior. 1990;11(5):401-6.
- 343. Rothberg JM. Stress and Suicide in the U.S. Army: Effects of Relocation on Service Members' Mental Health. Armed Forces & Society. 1991;17(3):449-58.
- 344. Frame MW, Shehan CL. Work and well-being in the two-person career: Relocation stress and coping among clergy husbands and wives. Family relations. 1994:196-205.
- 345. Animal Medicines Australia. Pets in Australia: A national survey of pets and people. Canberra, Australia: Animal Medicines Australia; 2020.
- 346. Australian Companion Animal Council. Contribution of the Pet Care Industry to the Australian Economy. Australian Companion Animal Council,; 2010.
- 347. Tuomala E, Danivska V, Gustafsson R. Is a new office a blessing in disguise? The strategic importance of relocation. Facilities. 2022;40(1/2):118-30.
- 348. Davis SA, Fretwell CE, Schraeder M. Enhancing Expatriate Success: A Psychological Capital Perspective. Organization Development Journal. 2018;36(2):39-50.
- 349. Weisheit J. Should I stay or should I go? A systematic literature review about the conceptualization and measurement of international relocation mobility readiness. Journal of Global Mobility: The Home of Expatriate Management Research. 2018;6(2):129-57.
- 350. Kassar AN, Rouhana A, Lythreatis S. Cross-cultural training: its effects on the satisfaction and turnover of expatriate employees. SAM Advanced Management Journal. 2015 2015 Autumn:4+.
- 351. McNulty Y. 'Being Dumped in to Sink or Swim': An Empirical Study of Organizational Support for the Trailing Spouse. Human Resource Development International. 2012;15:417-34.
- 352. Cole N, Nesbeth K. Why Do International Assignments Fail? International Studies of Management & Organization. 2014;44(3):66-79.
- 353. Shah D, de Oliveira RT, Barker M, Moeller M, Nguyen T. Expatriate family adjustment: How organisational support on international assignments matters. Journal of International Management. 2021:100880.
- 354. Littrell LN, Salas E, Hess KP, Paley M, Riedel S. Expatriate Preparation: A Critical Analysis of 25 Years of Cross-Cultural Training Research. Human Resource Development Review. 2006;5(3):355-88.
- 355. Nardon L, Zhang H, Szkudlarek B, Gulanowski D. Identity work in refugee workforce integration: The role of newcomer support organizations. Human Relations. 2020;74(12):1994-2020.
- 356. Bahn S. Managing the well-being of temporary skilled migrants. The International Journal of Human Resource Management. 2015;26(16):2102-20.
- 357. Martin R. The effects of prior moves on job relocation stress. Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology. 1995;68(1):49-56.
- 358. Akkermans J, Seibert SE, Mol ST. Tales of the unexpected: Integrating career shocks in the contemporary careers literature. SA Journal of Industrial Psychology. 2018;44(1):1-10.
- 359. Seibert SE, Kraimer ML, Holtom BC, Pierotti AJ. Even the best laid plans sometimes go askew: career self-management processes, career shocks, and the decision to pursue graduate education. Journal of Applied Psychology. 2013;98(1):169.
- 360. Bright JEH, Pryor RGL, Chan EWM, Rijanto J. Chance events in career development: Influence, control and multiplicity. Journal of Vocational Behavior. 2009;75(1):14-25.

- 361. Bright JE, Pryor RG, Harpham L. The role of chance events in career decision making. Journal of Vocational Behavior. 2005;66(3):561-76.
- 362. Adekoya OD, Adisa TA, Aiyenitaju O. Going forward: remote working in the post-COVID-19 era. Employee Relations: The International Journal. 2022(ahead-of-print).
- 363. Spurk D, Straub C. Flexible employment relationships and careers in times of the COVID-19 pandemic. Elsevier; 2020. p. 103435.
- 364. Franken E, Bentley T, Shafaei A, Farr-Wharton B, Onnis L-a, Omari M. Forced flexibility and remote working: Opportunities and challenges in the new normal. Journal of Management & Organization. 2021;27(6):1131-49.
- 365. Peters SE, Dennerlein JT, Wagner GR, Sorensen G. Work and worker health in the post-pandemic world: a public health perspective. The Lancet Public Health. 2022;7(2):e188-e94.
- 366. ABS. Marriages and Divorces, Australia. Canberra, Australia: Australian Bureau of Statistics; 2021.
- 367. Kposowa AJ. Divorce and suicide risk. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health. 2003;57(12):993-.
- 368. Kposowa AJ. Marital status and suicide in the National Longitudinal Mortality Study. Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health. 2000;54(4):254-61.
- 369. ABS. Causes of Death, Australia. Canberra, Australia: Australian Bureau of Statistics; 2021.
- 370. BITRE. Road Safety Statistics. Canberra, Australia: Department of Infrastructure, Tranport, Regional Development and Communication; 2022.
- 371. Frost DM, LeBlanc AJ. Nonevent stress contributes to mental health disparities based on sexual orientation: evidence from a personal projects analysis. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry. 2014;84(5):557.
- 372. AIHW. Stillbirths and neonatal deaths in Australia. Canberra, Australia: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2020.
- 373. Schmitt LHM, Graham HM, White PCL. Economic Evaluations of the Health Impacts of Weather-Related Extreme Events: A Scoping Review. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2016;13(11):1105.
- 374. Glade T, Felgentreff C, Birkmann J. Editorial for the special issue: extreme events and vulnerability in environment and society. Natural Hazards. 2010;55(3):571-6.
- 375. Boelen PA, Lenferink LI. Symptoms of prolonged grief, posttraumatic stress, and depression in recently bereaved people: Symptom profiles, predictive value, and cognitive behavioural correlates. Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology. 2020;55(6):765-77.
- 376. Holmgren H. Returning to work following spousal loss? The experiences of widowed parents. Illness, Crisis & Loss. 2021:1054137320986750.
- 377. Kübler-Ross E, Kessler D. On grief and grieving: Finding the meaning of grief through the five stages of loss: Simon and Schuster; 2005.
- 378. Tucker J. How to support employees through griefn.d. Available from: <a href="https://altius-group.com.au/news-and-research/news/how-to-support-employees-through-grief/">https://altius-group.com.au/news-and-research/news/how-to-support-employees-through-grief/</a>.
- 379. Schuler ER, Boals A. Shattering world assumptions: A prospective view of the impact of adverse events on world assumptions. Psychological trauma: theory, research, practice, and policy. 2016;8(3):259.
- 380. Burton A, Haley W, Small B. Bereavement after caregiving or unexpected death: Effects on elderly spouses. Aging and Mental Health. 2006;10(3):319-26.
- 381. Keyes KM, Pratt C, Galea S, McLaughlin KA, Koenen KC, Shear MK. The burden of loss: unexpected death of a loved one and psychiatric disorders across the life course in a national study. American Journal of Psychiatry. 2014;171(8):864-71.
- 382. Hald GM, Ciprić A, Sander S, Strizzi JM. Anxiety, depression and associated factors among recently divorced individuals. Journal of Mental Health. 2020:1-9.
- 383. Sander S, Strizzi JM, Øverup CS, Cipric A, Hald GM. When Love Hurts Mental and Physical Health Among Recently Divorced Danes. Frontiers in Psychology. 2020;11.

- 384. Ezzell W. The Impact of Infertility on Women's Mental Health. North Carolina Medical Journal. 2016;77(6):427-8.
- 385. Blackburn P, Bulsara C. "I am tired of having to prove that my husband was dead." Dealing with practical matters in bereavement and the impact on the bereaved. Death Studies. 2018;42(10):627-35.
- 386. Hirschi A. The role of chance events in the school-to-work transition: The influence of demographic, personality and career development variables. Journal of Vocational Behavior. 2010;77(1):39-49.
- 387. Kraimer ML, Greco L, Seibert SE, Sargent LD. An investigation of academic career success: The new tempo of academic life. Academy of Management Learning & Education. 2019;18(2):128-52.
- 388. Dhanaraj C, Kohlrieser G. The hidden perils of unresolved grief. McKinsey & Company; 2020.
- 389. Holtom B, Mitchell T, Lee T, Inderrieden E. Shocks as causes of turnover: What they are and how organizations can manage them. Human Resource Management. 2005;44:337-52.
- 390. Feng J, Zhou W, Li S, Li M. Obstacles open the door Negative shocks can motivate individuals to focus on opportunities. Frontiers of Business Research in China. 2019;13(1):21.
- 391. Gibson J, Gallagher M, Tracey A. Workplace support for traumatically bereaved people. Bereavement Care. 2011;30(2):10-6.
- 392. McGuiness B, Williams S. Handling bereavement in the workplace—a guide for employers. Bereavement Care. 2014;33(3):111-2.
- 393. Seibert SE, Kraimer ML, Heslin PA. Developing career resilience and adaptability. Organizational Dynamics. 2016;45(3):245-57.
- 394. Fair Work Commission. National Employment Standards. Canberra, Australia: Fair Work Commission,; 2022.
- 395. Fair Work Commission. Family & domestic violence leave Canberra, Australia: Fair Work Commission,; 2022 [updated 19th May 2022. Available from:

https://www.fairwork.gov.au/leave/family-and-domestic-violence-leave.

- 396. Bhagat RS. Effects of stressful life events on individual performance effectiveness and work adjustment processes within organizational settings: A research model. Academy of Management Review. 1983;8(4):660-71.
- 397. Bakker AB, Du D, Derks D. Major life events in family life, work engagement, and performance: A test of the work-home resources model. International Journal of Stress Management. 2019;26(3):238.
- 398. United Nations. World Population Ageing. Geneva, Switzerland: United Nations,; 2015.
- 399. AIHW. Older Australia at a glance. Canberra, Australia: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare; 2018.
- 400. Pickering C. Australia's Ageing Workforce is Creating New Challenges for Employers. Indeed Blog. 2017.
- 401. Horton J, Cameron L, Devaraj D, Hanson R, Hajkowicz S. Workplace Safety Futures: The impact of emerging technologies and platforms on work health and safety and workers' compensation over the next 20 years. . Brisbane, Australia: CSIRO; 2018.
- 402. ABS. Retirement and Retirement Intentions, Australia: Retiree statistics and the retirement plans of people aged 45 years and over. Canberra, Australia: Australian Bureau of Statistics,; 2020.
- 403. Greller MM, Simpson P. In Search of Late Career: A Review of Contemporary Social Science Research Applicable to the Understanding of Late Career. Human Resource Management Review. 1999;9(3):309-47.
- 404. Loretto W, Vickerstaff S, White P. The Future for Older Workers: New Perspectives. Bristol, UK: The Policy Press; 2009.
- 405. Biddle N, Breunig R, Marasinghe D. Attitudes towards and experiences of retirement and social security income during the COVID-recession and initial recovery. Canberra, Australia: ANU Centre for Social Research and Methods; 2021.
- 406. Gratton L, Scott AJ. The 100-year life: Living and working in an age of longevity: Bloomsbury Publishing; 2016.

- 407. Maestas N. Back to Work: Expectations and Realizations of Work after Retirement. The Journal of Human Resources. 2010;45(3):718-48.
- 408. ABS. Retirement and Retirement Intentions, Australia, July 2016 to June 2017. Canberra, Australia: Australian Bureau of Statistics; 2017.
- 409. American Academy of Actuaries. Retirement readiness: a comparative analysis of Australia, the United Kingdom & the United States. American Academy of Actuaries,; 2017.
- 410. Osborne JW. Does retirement trigger depressive symptoms? A systematic review and metaanalysis. Canadian Journal of Counselling and Psychotherapy. 2012;46(1):45-58.
- 411. Byles JE, Vo K, Forder PM, Thomas L, Banks E, Rodgers B, et al. Gender, mental health, physical health and retirement: A prospective study of 21,608 Australians aged 55–69 years. Maturitas. 2016;87:40-8.
- 412. Vo K, Forder PM, Tavener M, Rodgers B, Banks E, Bauman A, et al. Retirement, age, gender and mental health: findings from the 45 and Up Study. Aging & Mental Health. 2015;19(7):647-57.
- 413. Topa G, Moriano JA, Depolo M, Alcover C-M, Morales JF. Antecedents and consequences of retirement planning and decision-making: A meta-analysis and model. Journal of Vocational Behavior. 2009;75(1):38-55.
- 414. Furunes T, Mykletun RJ, Solem PE, de Lange AH, Syse A, Schaufeli WB, et al. Late career decision-making: A qualitative panel study. Work, Aging and Retirement. 2015;1(3):284-95.
- 415. Voss MW, Wadsworth LL, Birmingham W, Merryman MB, Crabtree L, Subasic K, et al. Health Effects of Late-Career Unemployment. Journal of Aging and Health. 2020;32(1-2):106-16.
- 416. Donaldson T, Earl JK, Muratore AM. Extending the integrated model of retirement adjustment: Incorporating mastery and retirement planning. Journal of Vocational Behavior. 2010;77(2):279-89.
- 417. Calvo E, Haverstick K, Sass SA. Gradual retirement, sense of control, and retirees' happiness. Research on Aging. 2009;31(1):112-35.
- 418. Kulik CT. Working against type summary report. Adelaide, Australia: University of South Australia; n.d.
- 419. AHRC. Qualitative study of employment discrimination against older Australians. Canberra, Australia: Australian Human Rights Commission; 2016.
- 420. AHRI, AHRC. Employing and retaining older workers. Canberra, Australia: Australian Human Resources Institute and Australian Human Rights Commission; 2021.
- 421. Coile CC, Levine PB, McKnight R. Recessions, Older Workers, and Longevity: How Long Are Recessions Good for Your Health? American Economic Journal: Economic Policy. 2014;6(3):92-119.
- 422. Čiutienė R, Railaitė R. A development of human capital in the context of an aging population. Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences. 2015;213:753-7.
- 423. PWC Australia. PwC Golden Age Index. Price Waterhouse Coopers; 2016.
- 424. Kalwij A, Kapteyn A, De Vos K. Retirement of older workers and employment of the young. De Economist. 2010;158(4):341-59.
- 425. Taylor P, O'Leary J, Brown C. Myth busting age discrimination at work: Using evidence to debunk common myths and assumptions. Diversity Council of Australia; 2019.
- 426. Chen MK-L, Gardiner E. Supporting older workers to work: A systematic review. Personnel Review. 2019.
- 427. Kulik CT, Perera S, Cregan C. Engage me: The mature-age worker and stereotype threat. Academy of Management Journal. 2016;59(6):2132-56.
- 428. Superfriend. Retiring Well Melbourne, Australia: Superfriend; n.d. [Available from: <a href="https://superfriend.com.au/solutions/retiring-well/">https://superfriend.com.au/solutions/retiring-well/</a>.
- 429. Petkoska J, Earl JK. Understanding the influence of demographic and psychological variables on retirement planning. Psychology and aging. 2009;24(1):245.
- 430. Odone A, Gianfredi V, Vigezzi GP, Amerio A, Ardito C, d'Errico A, et al. Does retirement trigger depressive symptoms? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Epidemiology and Psychiatric Sciences. 2021;30:e77.

